# Professional Development Practices of English Language Teachers Working in Federal-Capital Universities of Pakistan: An Analytical Study



Researcher: Arshad Mehmood Raja PhD Scholar

Reg. No: 46-FLL/PHDENG/F10

Supervisor:

Dr. Munawar Iqbal Ahmad Professor, Department of English Faculty of Languages & Literature, HUI

DEPARTMENT OF ENGLISH

FACULTY OF LANGUAGES AND LITERATURE INTERNATIONAL ISLAMIC UNIVERSITY

ISLAMABAD

March 2019

PhD 428 RAP

English language - Study and teaching
I English language - usage
II English language - variation

`.

# Acceptance by the Viva Voce Committee

Title of the thesis:

Professional Development Practices of English Language Teachers

Working in Federal-Capital Universities of Pakistan: An Analytical

Study

Name of Student:

Mr. Arshad Mehmood Raja

Registration No:

46-FLL/PHDENG/F10

Accepted by the department of English, Faculty of Languages & Literature, International Islamic University, Islamabad, in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in English.

# Viva Voce Committee

External Examiner Dr. Nadeem Haider Bukhari

Professor, Department of English, AJ&K University, Muzaffarabad

External Examiner Dr. Muhammad Uzair

Associate Professor, Department of English /Director Academics NUML, Islamabad

Interval Examiner Dr. Fauzia Janjua

Associate Professor, Department of English, FC, IIUI Pfof. Dr. Ayaz Afsar

Dean

Faculty of Languages and Literature,

IIUI

Dr. Muhammad Sheeraz

Incharge

Department of English, FLL

Supervisor

Prof. Dr. Munawar Iqbal Ahmad

Professor

Department of English, FLL

#### i

THESIS SUBMISSION APPROVAL FORM

(SUPERVISOR)

The thesis titled 'Professional Development Practices of English Language Teachers Working in Federal-Capital Universities of Pakistan: An Analytical Study', written by Arshad Mehmood Raja, a candidate for Doctor of Philosophy in English language and literature, has been read by me and is found to be satisfactory regarding contents, English usage, format, citations, bibliographic style and consistency, and is ready for submission to the Department of English, Faculty of Languages and Literature (FLL), International Islamic University, Islamabad for

	Prof. Dr. Muanawar Iqbal Ahmad
Date:	(Thesis Supervisor)

internal and external evaluation.

ii

CANDIDATE DECLARATION FORM

I, Arshad Mehmood Raja,

Son of Raja Ghulam Muhammad,

Registration No: 46-FLL/PHDENG/F10,

Candidate of Doctor of Philosophy in English language and literature at the International Islamic

University, Islamabad, do hereby declare that the thesis titled 'Professional Development

Practices of English Language Teachers Working in Federal-Capital Universities of Pakistan:

An Analytical Study', submitted by me in partial fulfillment of PhD degree in the department of

English (FLL), is my original work and has not been submitted or published earlier. I also

solemnly declare that it shall not, in future, be submitted by me for obtaining any other degree

from this or any other university or institution.

I also understand that if evidence of plagiarism is found in my thesis/dissertation at any stage,

even after the award of a degree, the work may be cancelled and the degree revoked.

Arshad Mehmood Raja

### Acknowledgement

I would like to thank the following, without the help and support of whom this work could not have been completed.

First of all, my Lord, Allah, who bestowed me with the ability and skills to write this thesis.

Professor Dr. Munawar Iqbal Ahmad, my supervisor, who guided and encouraged me to complete this work. I thank him for being very caring and supportive.

Dr Jamil Asghar, and Dr Arshad Mahmood, my friends from NUML, who also guided and helped me during the course of my degree programme.

Mr Munhib Shah, my dear student, who had to proofread this thesis a number of times.

Mr Muhammad Safdar, my friend, for doing all the formatting work.

The faculty members, Department of English, International Islamic University, Islamabad, Pakistan, for their constant support and guidance.

The administrative and the library staff, International Islamic University, Islamabad, Pakistan for their cooperation and support.

Finally, I owe my gratitude to my family members (my wife and my sons) for bearing with me during the course of writing my thesis, especially my wife, who constantly encouraged me to complete this task on time.

## **Dedication**

I dedicate this work to my elder brother, Khalid Mehmood Raja, and my deceased parents who always aspired not only for me but for all my brothers and sisters a better future. Maytheir souls (my parents') rest in peace and be granted the best place in the Heaven (Amen).

## **Table of Contents**

THESIS SUBMISSION APPROVAL FORM	
CANDIDATE DECLARATION FORM	i
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	ii
DEDICATION.	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS.	v
LIST OF TABLES.	vi
ABSTRACT	xi
CHAPTER ONE: Introduction.	1
Statement of the Problem	3
Research Objectives	4
Research Questions	5
Structure of the Study	7
CHAPTER TWO: Review of the Literature	8
The English Language and its teaching in Pakistan	9
The Professional Development of Teachers	13
What is Professional Development and Why is it Important	14
Methodologies of Teacher Development	18
Some Principles for Professional Development	26
The Evaluation of Professional Development	29
What is Evaluation?	29
Why Evaluate?	31
How to Evaluate a Process?	34
Practical Guidelines, Cautions, and Standards	43
Prevailing Practices in Professional Development: Case Studies and Analyses	44
General Analyses and Studies	44
Studies Specific to Pakistan	61
Conclusion	82
CHAPTER THREE: Research Methodology	85
Design of the Research	85
Validity, reliability and trustworthiness	86
Credibility	87

Transferability8	8
Dependability8	8
Confirmability8	8
Population and Sampling89	9
Survey Study8	9
Sources of Data89	9
Questionnaire89	9
Interviews93	3
Data Collection Procedures94	4
Data Analysis95	5
Quantitative Data99	5
Qualitative Data99	5
Conclusion95	5
CHAPTER FOUR: Analysis and Discussion	6
Participants Demographics 96	6
Conclusion	19
CHAPTER FIVE: Conclusion: Findings and Recommendations	2
Professional Development Practices of English Language Teachers of the Federal Capital Universit in Pakistan	
The Effectiveness of these Activities	1
Recommendations and Suggestions	5
REFERENCES	4
Appendix A	1
Appendix B	9
Appendix C230	0

# List of Tables

Table 1. Professional developmental activities for Language Teachers	20
Table 2. Five Critical Levels of Professional Development Evaluation	92
Table 3. Participants' Demographics, Survey Study	
Table 4. Frequency, Question 1	98
Table 5. Gender Crosstab, Question 1	103
Table 6. Experience Crosstab, Question 1	103
Table 7. Frequency, Question 2	105
Table 8. Gender Crosstab, Question 2	106
Table 9. Experience Crosstab, Question 2	106
Table 10. Frequency, Question 3	107
Table 11. Gender Crosstab, Question 3	108
Table 12. Experience Crosstab, Question 3	108
Table 13. Frequency, Question 4	111
Table 14. Gender Crosstab, Question 4	111
Table 15. Experience Crosstab, Question 4	112
Table 16. Frequency, Question 5	112
Table 17. Gender Crosstab, Question 5	113
Table 18. Experience Crosstab, Question 5	114
Table 19. Frequency, Question 6	114
Table 20. Gender Crosstab, Question 6	115
Table 21. Experience Crosstab, Question 6	115
Table 22. Frequency, Question	
Table 23. Gender Crosstab, Question 7	117
Table 24. Experience Crosstab, Question 7	117
Table 25. Frequency, Question 8	
Table 26. Gender Crosstab, Question 8.	118
Table 27. Experience Crosstab, Question 8	
Table 28. Frequency, Question 9	
Table 29. Gender Crosstab, Question 9	121
Table 30. Experience Crosstab, Question 9	
Table 31. Frequency, Question 10	
Table 32. Gender Crosstab, Question 10	
Table 33. Experience Crosstab, Question 10	
Table 34. Frequency, Question 11	
Table 35. Gender Crosstab, Question 11	
Table 36. Experience Crosstab, Question 11	
Table 37. Frequency, Question 12	
Table 38. Gender Crosstab, Question 12	
Table 39. Experience Crosstab, Question 12	126
Table 40. Frequency, Question 13	
Table 41. Gender Crosstab, Question 13	127

Table	42. Experience Crosstab, Question 13	. 127
	43. Frequency, Question 14	
	44. Gender Crosstab, Question 14	
	45. Experience Crosstab, Question 14	
	<b>46.</b> Frequency, Statement 1	
Table	47. Gender Crosstab, Statement 1	.132
Table	48. Experience Crosstab, Statement 1	.132
	49. Frequency, Statement 2	
Table	50. Gender Crosstab, Statement 2	. 133
Table	51. Experience Crosstab, Statement 2	.134
Table	<b>52.</b> Frequency, Statement 3	.135
Table	53. Gender Crosstab, Statement 3	. 136
Table	54. Experience Crosstab, Statement 3	.136
Table	55. Frequency, Statement 4	.137
Table	56. Gender Crosstab, Statement 4	. 137
Table	57. Experience Crosstab, Statement 4	. 137
Table	58. Frequency, Statement 5	.138
Table	59. Gender Crosstab, Statement 5	. 139
Table	60. Experience Crosstab, Statement 5	. 139
Table	61. Frequency, Statement 6	. 140
Table	62. Gender Crosstab, Statement 6	141
Table	63. Experience Crosstab, Statement 6	.141
Table	64. Frequency, Statement 7	.142
Table	65. Gender Crosstab, Statement 7	142
Table	66. Experience Crosstab, Statement 7	142
	67. Frequency, Statement 8	
	68. Gender Crosstab, Statement 8	
	69. Experience Crosstab, Statement 8	
	70. Frequency, Statement 9	
	71. Gender Crosstab, Statement 9	
	72. Experience Crosstab, Statement 9	
	73. Frequency, Statement 10	
	74. Gender Crosstab, Statement 10	
	75. Experience Crosstab, Statement 10	
	76. Frequency, Statement 11	
	77. Gender Crosstab, Statement 11	
	78. Experience Crosstab, Statement 11	
	79. Frequency, Statement 12	
	30. Gender Crosstab, Statement 12	
	81. Experience Crosstab, Statement 12	
	32. Frequency, Statement 13	
	33. Gender Crosstab, Statement 13	
	34. Experience Crosstab, Statement 13	
Table 8	35. Frequency, Statement 14	154

Table 86. Gender Crosstab, Statement 14	154
Table 87. Experience Crosstab, Statement 14	154
Table 88. Frequency, Statement 15	155
Table 89. Gender Crosstab, Statement 15	155
Table 90. Experience Crosstab, Statement 15	155
Table 91. Frequency, Statement 16	
Table 92. Gender Crosstab, Statement 16	
Table 93. Experience Crosstab, Statement 1	
Table 94. Frequency, Statement 17	158
Table 95. Gender Crosstab, Statement 17	158
Table 96. Experience Crosstab, Statement 17	159
Table 97. Frequency, Statement 18	159
Table 98. Gender Crosstab, Statement 18	160
Table 99. Experience Crosstab, Statement 18	160
Table 100. Frequency, Statement 19	161
Table 101. Gender Crosstab, Statement 19	161
Table 102. Experience Crosstab, Statement 19	.161
Table 103. Frequency, Statement 20	162
Table 104. Gender Crosstab, Statement 20	163
Table 105. Experience Crosstab, Statement 20	.163
Table 106. Frequency, Statement 21	. 163
Table 107. Gender Crosstab, Statement 21	.164
Table 108. Experience Crosstab, Statement 21	.164
Table 109. Frequency, Statement 22	.165
Table 110. Gender Crosstab, Statement 22	. 166
Table 111. Experience Crosstab, Statement 22	. 166
Table 112. Frequency, Statement 23	. 167
Table 113. Gender Crosstab, Statement 23	
Table 114. Experience Crosstab, Statement 23	. 167
Table 115. Frequency, Statement 24	.168
Table 116. Gender Crosstab, Statement 24	
Table 117. Experience Crosstab, Statement 24	
Table 118. Frequency, Statement 25	. 169
Table 119. Gender Crosstab, Statement 25	. 170
Table 120. Experience Crosstab, Statement 25.	
Table 121. Frequency, Statement 26.	. 170
Table 122. Gender Crosstab, Statement 26	
Table 123. Experience Crosstab, Statement 26	
Table 124. Frequency, Statement 27	
Table 125. Gender Crosstab, Statement 27	
Fable 126. Experience Crosstab, Statement 27	
Table 127. Frequency, Statement 28	
Table 128. Gender Crosstab, Statement 28	
Fable 129. Experience Crosstab, Statement 28.	174

Table 130. Frequency, Statement 29	175
Table 131. Gender Crosstab, Statement 29	
Table 132. Experience Crosstab, Statement 29	
Table 133. Frequency, Statement 30	176
Table 134. Gender Crosstab, Statement 30	
Table 135. Experience Crosstab, Statement 30	
Table 136. Frequency, Statement 31	
Table 137. Gender Crosstab, Statement 31	
Table 138. Experience Crosstab, Statement 31	
r	

#### Abstract

The last one or two decades of the twentieth century saw an upsurge in the recognition of the importance of professional development (henceforth PD). Since then, almost all important educational proposals stressed PD as a primary vehicle for bringing about the needed change in the quality of education. Accompanying this recognition of the importance of PD, however, are serious concerns about the effects and effectiveness of all forms of PD practices. The literature on PD, for example, is filled with descriptions of the past failures; and reviews of modern professional development programs are often just as pessimistic. Many conventional forms of PD are seen as too top-down and too isolated from classroom realities to have any out these significant impact on practice. As a result, the improvements hoped-for are seldom realized. Keeping in mind these concerns, I decided to: i) explore the PD programmes/practices that English language teachers of the federal capital universities in Pakistan take part in, and ii) find teachers' perceptions about the effectiveness of such programmes and activities.

The study was conducted in two phases. Phase one, which was based on a questionnaire data collected from 109 teachers of 8 federal capital universities, attempted to explore not only the PD practices of English language teachers working in federal capital universities of Pakistan but also to evaluate these teachers' perceptions about the effectiveness of such programmes and activities. While in phase two, interviews of 10 people were conducted to have a representative picture of the data as well as the situation. The evaluation of the teachers' perceptions about the effectiveness of the PD activities was based on a model put forth by Guskey (2000). This model seeks to evaluate professional development through a five-level analysis. These levels can be described as the reaction (satisfaction or dissatisfaction) of participants, the learning outcomes, organisational support, use of new skills and knowledge, and the outcomes of the activity as seen in its impact on student learning.

Findings indicated that the teachers do seem to know the benefits of professional development, but they do not actively engage themselves in developmental activities. Most of the activities which they do take part in are due to institutional demands, however they lack in the area of other, more personal, efforts. The overall situation of the institutions and the teachers' awareness and interest in the matter also seem to be lacking. Furthermore, many of the teachers even take language teaching as a simple and easy task and do not consider training as a necessary prerequisite to it.

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

#### Introduction

As humans we are in a constant need of perfecting our talents and abilities in all walks of life. When it comes to teaching, this universal principle acquires added significance. Eternal vigilance is the price of teaching, and a good teacher, by definition, is the one who is constantly mindful of this necessity. This brings in the notion of professional development with reference to teaching, and, in our case, with reference to English Language Teaching (ELT). An English language teacher is in a constant need to develop his/her professional credentials through a host of available resources ranging from in-service teacher training programs such as conferences, seminars, workshops etc. to informal learning opportunities.

Language teaching, with all its social, psychological, pragmatic and applied complexities, requires a constant and systematic professional growth on the part of teachers. Of late, language teaching has been revolutionized, thanks to the technological advancement which has resulted in such tools as audio visual aids, multimedia, computer-assisted language learning (CALL), smart boards, etc. This technological revolution has further enhanced and compounded the significance of professional development. Gone are the days when teaching a language used to be a matter of mere textbooks, drilling, conjugations and homeworking. These days, language teaching/learning technology is moving so fast that any relenting in developing oneself professionally simply means being 'left out'.

Language teaching has become a science with a very elaborate state-of-the-art equipment being employed in its advancement. This scientific and technological nature of the discipline itself imposes its own necessities and requirements on English language teachers. They are obliged to ground themselves in the technicalities and specificities of the subject. Professional

development is not about trendiness or any kind of camp following. Instead, it is to be abreast with the latest innovations in the art of teaching and learning in order to make the best of one's abilities. It is about searching for new career pathways and to make the best of one's academic and professional abilities. There is no such time in our teaching career when we do not have opportunities and challenges to develop our prospects, knowledge and skills. Hence, an effective teacher is the one who is constantly developing. There is no such thing as a 'developed' teacher, thanks to the ceaseless expansion of knowledge and a relentless multiplication of ideas and pedagogic techniques.

At the same time, it is pertinent to mention that language teaching has been further complicated by such factors as multilingualism/multiculturalism, large-scale immigrations, wars, universal education programs, literacy drives, cultural racism, and globalization, to mention just a few. Different techniques and concepts have been evolved to capture the spirit of this phenomenon and then to operationalize it. Reflective teaching, action research, self-assessment and professional assessment are just a few variations on the same fundamental principle of professional development. Moreover, when teachers work in an organization, it becomes all the more important to develop professional relationships in order to optimize one's learning from the experiences of peers and colleagues and, in response, to share with them one's own ideas and approaches. This makes teaching an 'organic' concept, and as an organism is a living entity subject to the laws of growth, reproduction and survival, the same applies to teaching as well.

Professional development is, by definition, an intensive and collaborative task premised upon technological assistance, mentoring, reflective supervision, consultation and coaching. Most Professional development has certain other reasons as well, such as a sense of moral obligation and an abiding desire for lifelong learning. All over the world, schools, colleges, universities

and other centres of learning have professional development requirements for English language teachers. For example, in Arkansas, USA, an English language teacher is required to complete a sixty-hour documented professional development every year. Our present day academia places a huge importance on what is commonly known as 'autonomy'. The notion of autonomy is usually linked with learners but, with respect to professional development, it has a lot to do with teachers as well.

After going through certain phases of (self)-learning, a teacher should reach a competence level where he/she is able to operate as an autonomous professional. This by no means implies working in some kind of professional cocoon; rather, it connotes the idea of professional empowerment. This is called Initial Professional Development (IPD) and its basic goal is to bring the fresh teachers a kind of expertise and knowledge which could enable them to operate in their domain of professional responsibility successfully.

Once a teacher acquires this preliminary stage of professional empowerment, the next challenge he/she faces is that of maintaining that level. This is achieved through what is called Continuous Professional Development (CPD). During this phase, a teacher faces the challenge of maintaining the knowledge and skills he/she has acquired at the preliminary stage and holding him/herself from reverting back. CPD, of course, is not the ultimate stage as it is not enough to just maintain one's knowledge and skills. In a world of techno-industrial flux and bombardment of ideas, it is paramount to increase the level of one's professional caliber through specialized training and advanced professional learning.

#### Statement of the Problem

The notion and practice of professional development is very relevant to the successful conduct of English language teaching; however, in Pakistan the situation is far from being satisfactory.

Unfortunately, in Pakistan, professional development is marred by a large variety of factors

which are at once conceptual, psychological, professional and technological. At the conceptual level, for example, there is a lot of confusion and misunderstanding about the very notion of professional development. Most often, it is taken as just a kind of 'extra'—a burden and an uncalled for interference in the lives of the teachers. At psychological level, teachers are not favorable towards programs which aim at enhancing their professional expertise. And lastly, even when such programs are conducted and teachers are made to participate in them, the exercise does not prove to be as fruitful as it should be. The way programs and activities aimed at professional development are theorized, structured and accomplished needs a radical rethinking and input from policy makers, administrators and teachers.

It is because of this that professional development in Pakistan is not quite productive, though of late huge funding is being delivered for it. Problems can be found in the activities themselves, in the understanding that teachers and institutions have of professional development, and even in the area of policy-making, all of which can prove fatal in this case. The reasons for such a state of affairs are both qualitative and quantitative—that of degree as well as of kind. To deal with such reasons and to overcome the challenges, a comprehensive diagnostic and a workable roadmap is paramount which the present study aims at providing for. The study becomes all the more significant as it intends to investigate Pakistani teachers' understanding of their personal as well as professional experiences that are likely to have been informing their pedagogic endeavours.

#### Research Objectives

The current study aims at analysing the professional development practices of the English language teachers of the federal capital universities in Pakistan. It aims at figuring out the extent to which teachers participate in development programmes and also to evaluate these teachers' perceptions about the effectiveness of their own PD. And building upon this analysis, the study aims to provide certain concrete suggestions which could be employed to improve such

activities in the future. As such, we can summarise the objectives of our study by saying that the aims of this study are:

- To investigate the professional development programs or activities that English language teachers of the federal capital universities in Pakistan take part in.
- 2. To find out the teachers' perceptions about the effectiveness of these PD programs/activities.
- To identify the ways and means through which these PD programs/activities can be improved.

#### **Research Ouestions**

Having decided upon that, we now need to formulate certain questions which reflect our goals and which allow us to delineate our lines of inquiry. We need to translate our goals into researchable and answerable questions which would then govern our study and give it a proper direction. Our objectives are, as stated earlier, to analyse the professional development practices of the English language teachers of the federal capital universities and to suggest ways for generating a better performance. As such, we can translate our research objectives into the following study-questions:

- 1. What professional development programs or activities do English language teachers of the federal capital universities in Pakistan take part in?
- 2. To what extent do these teachers find such PD programs/activities effective?
- 3. What measures can be taken to improve future PD endeavors?

Answers to these questions will be acquired through the specific data that has been collected during the study. This data was acquired through the use of a three-part questionnaire and some interviews. The function of the interviews was to consolidate and provide greater insight into the questionnaire answers. As for the questionnaire itself, it consisted of three parts. The first dealt with participant demographics and it sought to provide the information needed for a

thorough cross tabulation analysis which would reveal how factors like gender and experience affected the teachers' development. The second section of the questionnaire asked questions related to the development activities of the teachers and it sought to find out what the nature was of the activities they took part in and their general attitude towards them. As such, this part provided us with answers to our first research question. The third and the final section of the questionnaire dealt with the evaluation of the perceptions of the teachers and it sought to find out how successful (or not) these activities had been. Thus, it provided us with answers to the second question. The third question was answered by building upon these conclusions and by deriving suggestions from the data as well as from the literature review.

The evaluative section of the questionnaire (section 2) was based on the model of PD evaluation proposed by Guskey (2000). This model seeks to analyse development processes and programmes by studying them at five distinct levels. These levels, simply put, are Participants' reactions, Participants learning, Organizational support and change, Paticipants' use of new knowledge and skills, and Student learning outcomes. The first level, Participants' reactions, measures the levels of satisfaction (or dissatisfaction) of the teachers and it aims at figuring out if the activity had a motivating or a de-motivating effect. The second level, Participants' learning, tries to find out if the participants had learnt anything or benefitted in any way. It finds out if the experience was beneficial or not. The third level, Organizational support and change, deals with how the teachers' organizations reacted to the development ideas, and whether or not they were helpful in the process. The fourth level, Participants' use of new knowledge and skills, asks whether the participants gained any practical benefit or not. It asks whether teachers had made use of the knowledge they had acquired or not. Finally, the fifth level of the analysis seeks to find out if the development had any positive (or even negative) influence of the performance of the students.

Thus, Guskey's (2000) model tries to evaluate the perceptions of English language teachers of the federal capital universities about the effectiveness of their own PD practices. Or questionnaire and interviews sought to provide us with data relating to the same five levels of analysis. And using that data, we have tried to analyse the development activities of the English language teachers of the federal capital universities in Pakistan and to evaluate their success. Based on that analysis, we have tried to figure out their weaknesses and have given suggestions for their improvement.

#### Structure of the Study

This thesis has five chapters. Chapter One is the introduction that provides an overview and the purpose of the research. Chapter Two reviews the literature pertaining to the subject of the research study. It deals with the literature in the fields of English language, English language teaching in Pakistan, professional development, professional development practices and the evaluation of professional development. Gaps in the literature have also been identified in this chapter to show where further research is needed. Chapter three describes the methodology of the study. It specifies the research design, instrumentation, sampling and data collection procedures that were adopted. It also describes the way the data were coded, analysed and interpreted. The results of the study are presented in Chapter Four. Chapter Four focuses on the data obtained from a survey questionnaire and interviews to discover teachers' professional development practices and their effectiveness. Chapter Five, the concluding chapter, discusses the answers to the research questions that were posed at the beginning of this study and thus shows how the data provides us with answers to these questions.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

## Review of the Literature

This study explores professional development practices of English language teachers working in the federal capital universities of Pakistan. It also evaluates the teachers' perceptions about the effects and effectiveness of these practices. The study thus brings together three main areas: the English language teaching, teachers' professional development practices and the evaluation of professional development practices/programs/activities. The review of the literature here will first provide a very brief account of the overall significance of English and the position English and English language teaching (ELT) holds in Pakistan. It then will discuss previously published works from the areas of professional development and its evaluation that are germane to the present study, and will draw form the research on mainstream education as well as from the field of foreign/second language education. Finally, it will attempt to situate the present study into the researches that have already been carried out in the field.

English, of late, has assumed the status of a global language in our world, thanks to the power and influence of the erstwhile British Empire and the present-day superpower—America. At present, it is being spoken by almost 2 billion people and understood in almost all parts of the world (Graddol, 2006). According to one such estimation, around half of the world population will be proficient in this 'world language' by the year 2050 (The Economist, 2001, in Johnson, 2009).

Owing to its popularity the world over, English is now taken as a language that stands for or helps in a country's sociocultural and educational development; and the teaching of English is a prerequisite to this development (Shamim, 2009). In fact, English is considered to be a means to improving life, both for the individual and the nation or society he or she is part of. Coleman (2010a, as cited in Shāmim, 2009, p. 3), for instance, points out that English brings with it a

number of benefits for its speakers i.e. employment, international collaboration, research access, international mobility, disaster control, and also an effective means for international communication.

There are, of course, people who question the supremacy of English and who ask why it has to be English that must play this role and why English—a European language—must be considered an international or global language and not some other language. Scholars have argued over the relationship between language and power and have questioned as to why a culture must be translated into English and the behaviour of its people aligned to the norms of the English speaking nations (Brock-Utne, 2000, as cited in Shamim, 2009). Chambers, (2007, as cited in Shamim, 2009), for example, voices this concern in the following words:

whose language and whose words count[?] In whose language do we—or are we—compelled or induced to co-ordinate our behaviour? And in whose language do we together bring forth our world? (p. 3)

However, despite all this criticism about this linguistic dominance, the fact still remains that English has become a major language in this world and it is being taught as an international language and being considered the language of research and development. This stands as a fact regardless of our liking or disliking for it.

## The English Language and its teaching in Pakistan

English first came to the Indian Subcontinent with the British colonisation of the region. It was the language of power, the elites and the 'educated', during the Raj. When Pakistan broke off from India and gained independence from the British, it inherited both the political machinery as well as the language from its former 'masters' (Abbas, 1993). Thus, Pakistan, as a country,

began with an English-oriented educational system and a de facto official language that had nothing to do with its culture and traditional milieu.

As a result of this colonial history, English continues in Pakistan to be the language of power, development and prestige. It continues to dominate bureaucracy, education, legal systems, trade, and commerce and is taken as a sign of distinction, privilege and intelligence (Abbas, 1993; Shamim, 2009). English, in Pakistan, is "the passport to success and upward social mobility" and it is the "key to national progress" (Shamim, 2009, p. 37). That being the case, English continues to dominate, both as a language and in the culture that it signifies, the society of Pakistan.

English, in Pakistan, is a language for the elite (Shamim, 2009) and a sign of being an educated person. People in Pakistan believe that English is necessary for technological and economic development. They also believe that learning English ensures both the individual and the national progress. One of the ministers once described it as an "urgent public requirement" (Jalal, 2004, as cited in Shamim, 2009, p. 58). He also stated that the country needs to make "the comprehension and use of English as widespread as possible" if it wants to develop and excel in the world (ibid.).

English is also a widespread medium of instruction right from schools to universities and it is taught at all levels as a compulsory subject. Moreover, it continues to dominate the national language of Pakistan, Urdu, and thanks to the younger generation's desire to join what is perceived as the "global community" and the university's goals to match the standards of "academic excellence and status", English is gaining more and more importance in the Pakistani society (Shamim, 2009; Abbas, 1993). English is the language of power and education and the situation, so far, is showing no signs of changing (Abbas, 1993). The teaching of English is always stated as one of the main goals by each successive government and political

party (Shamim, 2009), which shows just how important it is considered at national, individual, and social levels.

Considering all these factors and conditions, one might at first expect Pakistanis to be extremely fluent in English. The situation, however, is quite distinct. While the English language is taught at all levels in Pakistan (Abbas, 1993; Shamim, 2009), the actual level of teaching and the competence of its users is considerably low (Shamim, 2009). The reason, perhaps, is that no government or education plan has yet practically tried to look into the causes of this low competence and come up with a reasonable way out. Instead, each government has announced that English will be "taught" and each policy-maker has said that English is essential, but no sustained or authentic attempt has been made to understand and improve the situation (Shamim, 2009). The overall situation, so far, with which Pakistan and its people are working, is unclear and less than viable. They are simply teaching English without trying to understand how it should be done to achieve communicative goals.

English language teaching in Pakistan, first of all, is content-and grade-based. Students are not expected to gain any real communicative proficiency, but to know a list of rules and words and to do well in exams (Shamim, 2009). In other words, no one gets to actually learn English but are expected to learn a bunch of "facts" about language, often on rote basis, and to reproduce them on a piece of paper, and in many cases to forget them after the exams. Furthermore, there are not enough opportunities for the students to learn in the classroom. a lot of instruction takes place in Urdu, and no actual feedback is given to students in a systematic and consistent way. There is also a lack of resources and language learning/teaching technology is not used to an optimum level (Shamim, 2009; Dayoub & Bashiruddin, 2012). Thus, English language teaching in Pakistan is oftentimes below standards and people do not really get to learn it as a language i.e. a means of communication based upon competence. Unfortunately, students and

teachers, when asked about this situation, seem to be satisfied and are pleased with the way things are going. Thus, it seems that either they are unaware of other alternative and more effective methods or they are too focused on just getting grades. It may also be the case that they are just learning something material (i.e. "facts") to actually try and improve their teaching practices (Shamim, 2009; Dayoub & Bashiruddin, 2012).

Another problem that exists in the classroom is that teachers are, in most cases, not trained to teach English as a language in a communicative way. They are not formally qualified and the closest they get, in most cases, is to have a degree in English literature or linguistics (Shamim, 2009). That is not a substitute for having a degree in applied linguistics. Many of them do not even know the innovative teaching methods/technologies and go about teaching simply through grammar translation method, practicing of drills, and memorization. Experimentation and innovation is not a usual part of the teaching process and Urdu or other local languages are used for instruction in classes that are often crowded and under-resourced (Dayoub & Bashiruddin, 2012). Furthermore, the curricula are mostly made by the institutions and are prescriptive in nature, meaning that the flexibility inherent in a good language course is not present (Shamim, 2009). Also, we can see from this that the syllabus is given from outside and is prepared by people who usually do not have a direct relation with the actual classrooms.

This does not mean, of course, that all institutions teach English through substandard or outdated methods, but the problem is that most of the institutions where English is taught through latest language teaching techniques and methods are not affordable for the general public. The education system in Pakistan is divided between the private and the public sectors, with public education being the one that is most commonly available as well as affordable. Private sector education, or "English medium" education, is something either very elite or only for those members of the upper middle class that can afford it. Thus, the system of education

in Pakistan is rather elitist and good education and proficiency in English is mostly confined to the upper classes, which then boosts its image as a language of power and education (Shamim, 2009). English, in other words, is taught properly to people who have power while others have to go with what they can get i.e. out-dated teaching methods and poor learning conditions.

Thus, we may conclude that English in Pakistan is a language of power and is most eagerly embraced by the elite class. It is also found among the middle class and to some extent in the lower class. The teaching of English, however, is not well managed and its education is mostly focused on passing tests and gaining grades. Of course, there might be many reasons for this, but there is a strong suggestion, from research and case studies, that in Pakistan there are no specific teacher development routes and theoretical conceptions about teacher development programs. The overall concept, especially in English language teacher training, is rather blurry. Thus, this brings us to the next two topics of this literature review: professional development and evaluation of professional development.

### The Professional Development of Teachers

The second half of the twentieth century witnessed a burgeoning of new trends in the field of English Language Teaching (ELT). While the decades of 60s and 70s stressed the importance of teaching methodologies, the decade of 80s saw an explosion of activity in materials development. However, in the 1990s, there was a shift away from methodologies and materials development to teacher development. The most notable signs of the shift, according to Water (2006), were Wallace's (1991) major conceptual model of teacher learning — 'reflective practitioner' — and a number of publications on a wide range of aspects of teacher development by Richards &Nunan (1990), Freeman & Richards (1996) and Hayes (1997). These publications, Water (2006) adds, focused on both pre- and in-service levels.

To better understand this practice, however, we need to consider both the basic assumptions that underlie this process as well as the basic techniques and methods that are involved. Our discussion, thus, requires that we cover both what professional development is and why, as teachers, do we need to engage in this process. It also requires that we bring up the issue of methodology and discuss the idea of development as a way of life and as something more than just the institute's demand for standard performance.

Professional development, or Professional Teacher Development, is considered to be one of the most important aspects of a teacher's life (Richards & Farrell, 2005). Teaching, like all other professions, requires its practitioners to not to sit idly, but rather work hard to achieve the highest possible degree of success (Bailey, Curtis, &Nunan, 2001). A teacher is expected, in the words of Harmer (2001), not to just repeat the same lessons over and over, but to bring something new every time they take a class. The teacher must be creative, actively involved, and willing to try innovative and engaging activities (Harmer, 2001; Bailey et al., 2001). And by doing this, it is hoped not only that they will be able to achieve the standards that have been set by institutions and by teacher associations (Richards & Farrell, 2005), but also that they will be able to engage their students and enjoy the practice of teaching in a much more fulfilling manner (Bailey et al., 2001).

### What is Professional Development and Why is it Important

To talk about something without knowing it would be disastrous, so it is appropriate that we begin our discussion by looking at what professional development is and why it is important for us in our lives. According to one definition, professional development is the "continued intellectual, experiential, and attitudinal growth of teachers" (Dale Lange, as cited in Bailey et al., 2001, p 4). In other words, professional development is the constant revising and building up of the theoretical assumptions and practical methodologies that shape a teacher's classroom

performance. It is the process of moving with the era, incorporating new ideas, making and testing new hypotheses, and constantly modifying one's work (Harmer, 2001). It is a lifelong process that enhances one's skill and brings a sense of order and control into one's life (Guskey, 2000). It incorporates one's experience into one's work (Richards & Farrell, 2005) and transforms the practice of teaching into a personally involving activity which is not too taxing on the teacher (Bailey et al., 2001). This then, that professional development is the teacher's attempt to constantly improve him/herself and to be the best, can be used as a working definition during our discussion, and it is taken to contain all the characteristics and methodologies that have just been mentioned and which will be mentioned below.

Having said that, we may want to consider why a teacher would want to participate in this practice. One reason would be to make sure their practice is not out-dated and that they have experimented with the newest available methods. In other words, the process of professional development helps us live every new day in a new manner and bring something new into the classroom. It allows us to make teaching an activity which does not involve the repetition of the same day over and over again (Harmer, 2001) and thus reduces the chances of suffering an emotional "burnout" (Bailey et al., 2001). Furthermore, by thus avoiding the stress that comes with repetitive action, teachers are able to engage with their students in a more involving and exciting manner (Harmer, 2001; Bailey et al., 2001) and are thus able to ensure better success in their career as well as better student performance (Richards & Farrell, 2005). Consequently, they are also able to gain certain other benefits such as an increase in prestige and income or more appreciation in class, which, of course, bring with them a sense of achievement and self-respect (Bailey et al., 2001).

That being said, we need to remember that emotional and intellectual involvement is not the only reason to pursue professional development. Teaching, as a profession, demands a standard

(Bailey et al., 2001), and that standard cannot be achieved by simply sticking to what we have learnt in our pre-service trainings (Richards & Farrell, 2005). There is a lot that has to be learnt on the job and which must be implemented and tested in the class (Richards & Farrell, 2005). Furthermore, professional development allows us to resist the mechanization of our lives and this allows the teacher to be in control rather than be controlled by the gruelling repetitions of routine teaching (Bailey et al., 2001). But to do this, we also need to make sure that our practice of development itself is not a routine activity, but something intentional, personal and systematic (Guskey, 2000; Bailey et al., 2001). Guskey (2000), particularly, has stressed the need for this in the following words:

To clarify just what is meant by "professional development," we need to consider three additional defining characteristics. Professional development is a process that is (a) intentional, (b) ongoing, and (c) systematic. (Guskey, 2000, p.16.)

In other words, professional development has to be something that we do by choice, engage with continuously at a personal level, and something which we do with planning and consideration. Only then can we ensure continuous development and avoid having what Bailey et al. (2001) have called an emotional "burnout".

Finally, we need to keep in mind that professional development is not just an in-class thing. Rather, it is something that needs to be supplemented with out-of-class activities that add variation to our career (Harmer, 2001; Bailey et al., 2001). That is, we need to add some colour to our practice by supplementing it with various activities, even those that are not directly linked with teaching. Of the activities that do relate with teaching, there is the practice of trying to feel one with your learner's and trying to understand them better. This can be done by becoming learners ourselves and by taking different courses and classes so that we can relive and renew our experiences of learning and thus come to recognise what our students feel. And of course,

when we understand our students better, this will also bring a change to our own classroom practices and allow us to alter the way we think about and perform in our classrooms (Harmer, 2001).

As for the activities which do not relate directly with teaching, their purpose basically is to ensure that our job does not get mechanised and that we do not over-stress ourselves by focusing solely on teaching (Bailey et al., 2001). Teaching, by nature, is a helping job, and helping jobs tend to easily tire out their practitioners. The reason for this is that the helping jobs do not come with easy success. Also, they are more burdensome, and they make their practitioners responsible for other people as well. Furthermore, there is not much personal benefit, or immediate personal benefit, in these jobs, and this can become a source of stress and frustration for the practitioners (Bailey et al., 2001). Examples of such jobs include, for instance, police-work, doctoring, nursing, teaching, and other similar jobs.

Apart from this, there are also many other factors which add to this job stress, for instance: the mechanistic and, often, repetitive nature of this job (Bailey et al., 2001; Harmer, 2001); the criticism of other people who badmouth teachers despite the fact that they are doing their best (Maslach, 1982, as cited in Bailey et al., 2001); Not engaging in other activities and being stuck in a gruelling routine (Bailey et al., 2001); and not having contact with peers and students and living in an isolation (Bailey et al., 2001); etcetera. The main reason such a thing takes place is that teachers end up emotionally exhausted, they feel alienated from others and from their work, and they have no feeling of accomplishment (Maslach, 1982, as cited in Bailey et al., 2001). This brings to the occasional boredom a sense of frustration which eats away at the teacher and might even lead them to hate their profession.

Thus, it is recommended that people who work in such professions as teaching or nursing colour their lives by participating in other activities as well. This will help them dispel the stress which

they have accumulated at work, and it will thus allow them to feel less burdened on the job (Harmer, 2001; Bailey et al., 2001). They should also try their best to engage with others and to break their isolation and they need to avail development opportunities to be able to see their professional life as alive and constantly evolving. Not doing so can create a feeling that nothing is changing over time, which, in itself, is also a very exhausting thing. In other words, we need to set aside some time for ourselves and our families and for recreation, vacations, and development activities so that we can be fresh and active for the job. Sports, exercise, organising activities, side-jobs, and other such activities help lessen emotional stress and are thus necessary to a teacher's life (Harmer, 2001; Bailey et al., 2001).

#### Methodologies of Teacher Development

Let us now turn our attention to the practical side of this issue. The first thing we need to remember is that there are many techniques and methods involved in this process and that no discussion on this issue is exhaustive or conclusive. Our own discussion deals with just a small fraction of these techniques and it will serve only as an introduction to these methods. Also, we must remember that it is possible to mix up or to personalise these techniques and that our discussion only gives us a framework within which individual paths of development will be unique and different (Guskey, 2000; Harmer, 2001; Richards & Farrell, 2005; Bailey et al., 2001).

Another point worth emphasising is that these techniques can be used individually, in agroup, or at an institutional level (Guskey, 2000). They may be part of a teacher's personal experiments, they may be used by a group of teachers working together (Harmer, 2001; Bailey et al., 2001) or they might be employed by the institute as a means to better its performance (Guskey, 2000; Richards & Farrell, 2005). Similarly, it is also possible for a group of schools to combine their efforts and to create an interactive teacher development project (Guskey, 2000). And of course, one may produce a combination of these situations to create something

personal as well as institutional (Guskey, 2000). And in all of these cases, what is important is to be personally and actively involved in this practice, for only then will it be that we will be able to truly adapt our teaching and make our classrooms beneficial and fun (Bailey et al., 2001; Harmer, 2001).

That being said, we should know that teacher development can take on two distinct forms, formal training and self-observation. Formal training basically involves taking courses and attending workshops (Guskey, 2000). This includes pre-service training as well as workshops and lessons that an institute may ask its teachers to attend as part of the job (Richards & Farrell, 2005). It also includes online workshops and courses as well as courses taken voluntarily by the teacher (Bailey et al., 2001; Harmer, 2001). And so, by seeking further training in the teaching profession, one comes face to face with many theories, ideas, and techniques which then allow them to actively experiment in class and question their own performance. This helps the teacher in creating a flexible classroom environment that caters best to the students' needs. It also helps teachers in staying active by reminding them that the classroom should not be a repetitive experience, but something interesting and engaging (Harmer, 2001).

The other major element of teacher development is to be observant and to assess your own performance on a regular basis. This can be done in various ways and it helps teachers to know themselves, to understand their learners, and to adapt and learn through different situations (Harmer, 2001; Bailey et al., 2001; Richards & Farrell, 2005). Self-assessment can be done through videotaping, interviewing, journaling, or questionnaires. It can involve the study of professional literature, experimentation, considering case studies, observing classroom performance, or keeping a teaching portfolio (Bailey et al., 2001; Harmer, 2001). It is also possible to do this by attending courses on different topics so that the teacher can relive the learning experience and thus better understand the learners' mind (Harmer, 2001). It is also

helpful to discuss with colleagues and to have teacher support groups or peers that can analyse or discuss one's teaching methods, share observations, give suggestions, and thus make the process more intriguing, fun, and interesting (Bailey et al., 2001; Harmer, 2001).

Overall, the process of development must not become stale or mechanical. It must be a process that engages the teachers and the students in a large network of cooperation and learning (Bailey et al., 2001; Guskey, 2000). This can be achieved by making study groups, taking part in development activities, and through many other means. Richards and Farrell (2005, p. 14) summarise some of the basic activities and their realizations as follows:

 Table 1. Professional developmental activities for Language Teachers

	Individual		One-to-One		Group-Based		Institutional
•	Self-Monitoring	•	Peer Coaching	•	Case Studies	•	Workshops
•	Journal Writing	•	Peer Observation	•	Action Research	•	Action Research
•	Critical Incidents	•	Critical	•	Journal Writing	•	Teacher Support
. •	Teaching		Friendships	•	Teacher Support		Groups
	Portfolios	•	Action Research		Groups		
•	Action Research	•	Critical Incidents				
		•	Team Teaching				

A brief description of these techniques is given below:

#### 1) Self-Monitoring

Self-Monitoring, or observation, basically involves trying to judge oneself and trying to improve one's own practice. This can be done by distributing questionnaires among students, enlisting the help of a friend, recording one's class, discussing with others, keeping a journal, or any other method which allows one to critically look at their own work. Self-monitoring is

a basic and essential part of any development plan, for one cannot hope to change without first assessing where they are and whether what they are doing is right or not (Bailey et al., 2001; Guskey, 2000; Harmer, 2001; Richards & Farrell, 2005).

#### 2) Journal Writing

Journal Writing is a technique which helps one in self-observation. It basically involves writing about one's own practice in order to force oneself to critically engage with it. One can write down their reflections, observations, and questions, or they can note down problem areas or even summarise what they had done in order to be able to consider it critically. The journal can be kept as a diary, it can be used to note down observations, or it can be kept as something one writes in regularly, like after every class, at the end of the day, etcetera (Bailey et al., 2001; Harmer, 2001; Richards & Farrell, 2005).

#### 3) Critical Incidents

By critical incidents we mean those moments where the teacher has to make a critical decision—that one moment when a student refuses to cooperate or where the class is unable to make sense of the discussion or when something unusual or unexpected or difficult todeal with arises. In such situations, the teacher has to make a decision and reviewing that decision and how it affected the class is a great means for the teacher to learn. Combined with other techniques like discussion and journaling, this method of observation can help a lot in a teacher's professional development (Richards & Farrell, 2005).

#### 4) Teaching Portfolios

This technique is somewhat similar to journaling. It involves maintaining a portfolio full of notes that are based on one's readings, observations, lesson plans, comments, and other useful material. This portfolio can serve as a reference in considering previous observations and it can also serve as a narrative on how one is developing and thus serve as future reference (Bailey et al., 2001; Richards & Farrell, 2005).

#### 5) Action Research

Action Research is, in simple words, a research project aimed at self-improvement. It involves observing situations and coming up with research questions that help one to identify the issues in one's (or in the institution's) methodologies. Using various data collection methods, one can find answers to these questions and come up with suggestions and solutions for the identified problems. These can then serve as reference for future projects and thus assist in maintaining a continuous development process. This form of research can be conducted at an individual or group level and is very beneficial for practicing teachers (Bailey et al., 2001; Guskey, 2000; Harmer, 2001; Richards & Farrell, 2005).

#### 6) Peer Coaching

As the name itself suggests, peer coaching, or mentoring, is a development technique which involves peers or colleagues mentoring each other. The above mentioned list cites it under the category of "One-on-One" interaction, but it can also involve a group of teachers. The Basic idea is that a colleague who has more experience or who has recently taken part in a development programme helps his or her friends by teaching them about the various methods by which teaching can be managed. He or she can also involve the others in dialogue and discussion or discusses with them their reflections and comments. The role of the teacher-coach can vary depending on the situation, it can range from a role close to that of an instructor to that of a discussion moderator or an equal (Bailey et al., 2001; Guskey, 2000; Harmer, 2001; Richards & Farrell, 2005).

#### 7) Peer Observations

Peer observation is, in simple words, a toned-down version of peer-coaching, where the difference in the members' authority is not that wide. It is almost like a discussion between equals, where two (or more) teachers get together to help each other in their development. The basic pattern of peer observation is to have a colleague observe your class and then to discuss

it with you and give his or her comments. This could be built upon by employing joint-teaching sessions, group study-sessions, group lesson-planning, and many other collaborative ideas (Bailey et al., 2001; Guskey, 2000; Harmer, 2001; Richards & Farrell, 2005).

### 8) Critical Friendships

Critical friendship is basically just a fancy way of saying collaboration and friendship. It is when two (or perhaps more) friends get together to work on their development and they try to support each other in this task. It can involve attending courses together, engaging in critical discussion, going for mentorship or peer observation, etcetera. In simple words, it is friends working together, relying on each other, dividing responsibility, and helping each other to develop (Bailey et al., 2001; Harmer, 2001; Richards & Farrell, 2005).

## 9) Team-Teaching

Team-teaching is an interesting method in which two teachers get together to teach the same class. This can be done in a number of ways: it could be on an apprentice-expert basis, as "associates" working together, with a team-leader managing things, or even in a coordinated fashion, etcetera. What basically happens is that the teachers divide the roles between themselves or share the responsibilities. They plan the lessons in collaboration and engage in dialogue after teaching. They take turns in teaching the class, dividing it on the basis of days, hours, or maybe even teaching together. The basic requirement, of course, is that both teachers are critically involved with the process and that the class does not become disjointed and confusing but is run smoothly by them both (Bailey et al., 2001; Richards & Farrell, 2005).

## 10) Case Studies

By case study, we are referring here to two possible methods. One is to read the literature related to this issue and learn from the various cases reported there. In this case, a teacher or a group of teachers will critically engage with this literature in order to learn from the reported experience, to be able to reflect on their own practices by engaging with the opinions of others,

or even to conduct their own case studies based on what they have read (Bailey et al., 2001; Harmer, 2001).

A second method would be to conduct a case study of one's own practices or the attempts of one's colleagues. This can be done at an institutional level or in groups or by oneself, formally or informally, in order to better understand the teaching situation and its particular difficulties. A group of teachers could, for instance, study a particularly difficult to teach topic, some technique, or a class that is difficult to manage and try to implement changes. They could apply an innovative technique and study how affective it is and whether or not it needs modification. A teacher could individually have an informal study of how he or she is doing or some issue they are facing, and so on. A case study, briefly, is an in-depth study of one specific "case," and a lot of tools and techniques can be used to get detailed data which can help the teacher to critically engage with their own practice (Bailey et al., 2001; Richards & Farrell, 2005).

## 11) Teacher Support Groups

A teacher support group, basically, is a group of teachers getting together to discuss and reflect upon their practice. They can help each other in understanding development literature, share experiences and ideas, ask for help on issues, collaborate on projects, discuss problems, etc., all of which can be done in the form of a formal meeting or even in simple teacher get-togethers. This technique can also be mixed with others, such as peer observation or case studies to have a greater impact on the teachers' practices and it can also help them connect with each other and even give vent to much of the frustration they might have gathered while teaching. There can also be a mixture of formal and informal meetings in order to balance things out and remove the feeling of repetitiveness and mechanisation from creeping into these meetings. Also, it is possible for teachers to join online forums or teacher associations in order to have contact with a greater number of people (Bailey et al., 2001; Harmer, 2001; Richards & Farrell, 2005).

### 12) Workshops

Workshops are "intensive, short-term learning activit[ies] [...] designed to provide an opportunity to acquire specific knowledge and skills" (Richards & Farrell, 2005, p. 23.). The goal of a workshop is to get "hands-on" experience and also to learn from the "experts" and be able to practically engage with what you are learning. They can give a boost to your motivation, help you learn new things, assist you in forming contacts, and can lead to an overall increase in your capabilities. Of course, this does not mean that all workshops will benefit everyone, but they are, generally speaking, a good way to learn. They can help teachers learn new things and engage critically with their own practice, they can help them in forming "critical friendships," in trying out new things and engaging with the people considered to be "experts" in their field. Finally, taking part in a workshop also allows teachers to relive, for a short while, the learning experience and thus be able to better empathise with and engage with their students (Bailey et al., 2001; Guskey, 2000; Harmer, 2001; Richards & Farrell, 2005).

All in all, we can see that there are a number of techniques which can be employed by a teacher in their pursuit for professional development. However, three things should be noted here before moving forward. Firstly, this list of techniques is in no ways exhaustive, there will be other techniques and methodologies that have been listed by others. Secondly, this list, like any other, is based on some principle of selection and categorisation. It is entirely possible that someone else would list them differently. For instance, some writers might choose to include team-teaching within the scope of peer-coaching, or they might choose to split what we have listed under case studies into two separate techniques. Finally, it should be pointed out that many of these techniques overlap or interact with each other and it should not be considered that they are separate. Rather, they are to be used together, in a large variety of combinations and experiments, in order to come up with methods that are most conductive to one's own situation and classroom.

Also, it should be noted that most of the activities mentioned in this chart fall into more than one category. Teacher development always takes place at more than one level and it is a network of activities and relations that occurs inside the classroom as well as outside; it includes even such things as teacher-student interaction and the importance of vacations and other co-curricular activities (Bailey et al., 2001). Activities that take place at an individual level could be subsumed under institute level activities, and so on. Professional development includes not just the in-class life of the teacher, but is also a part of a teacher's daily life. It is the continuous process that is needed for an enjoyable and fulfilling career, and which allows the teacher to benefit the students and makes the job at least a bit less tiring than usual (Bailey et al., 2001).

### Some Principles for Professional Development

Having considered all that, we must now discuss some basic principles that have been suggested by various writers. In earlier times, development had mainly been an issue of how to teach a lot of things in a comparatively less amount of time (Guskey, 2000). However, it is now suggested that professional development should aim at creating a better and more involving classroom environment and at improving the professional life of the teacher instead of teaching more topics (Guskey, 2000). The goal of professional development is not teach more things, but to improve the overall classroom experience and also to balance it with the teacher's personal and professional life in order to bring out maximum results (Guskey, 2000; Bailey et al., 2001). It does not just want to bring us up to a standard, but also to create a teaching environment that is both engaging as well as beneficial and which can make the process of teaching much more effective (Bailey et al., 2001). In other words, it is no longer a question of simply how much you teach, but of what you teach and how.

In order to do that, it is essential that we have certain principles and parameters that can serve as our foundational assumptions. And while every teacher will and must have a unique set of principles, there are some concepts that have been suggested by writers and by teachers as the

basics which everyone should consider. In this next part of our discussion, we will briefly go over the main suggestions of some of these writers regarding what sort of mindset or general conception we should have in our minds when we aim for professional development.

The first principle that we will discuss in this matter is to know the learners and the learning process (Guskey, 2000). One of the goals of professional development is to create an environment that assists learning and which does not place too much stress on the learners' minds. Thus, it is important to base the development process not just on "expert knowledge," but also to make it an active and engaging process that involves the teachers, the students, and the institutions (Richards & Farrell, 2005; Bailey et al., 2001). The development program should aim at helping teachers understand their learners so that they can adapt themselves to the situation and thus perform better and be able to teach in a way that is less taxing for them and their students (Harmer, 2001; Bailey et al., 2001; Richards & Farrell, 2005). The goal, in other words, is to understand how the learners' minds work and how they learn, so that one can deliver the lesson in a way that is in accordance with that understanding and is much more effective.

Secondly, we need to know that there are various needs that we must cater to in our development programs. These are the needs of the teacher, the needs of learners, and the needs of the institution (Richards & Farrell, 2005; Guskey, 2000). And while it will be impossible to satisfy them all, the ideal case which we must aim for is the one in which all of these needs are considered. Thus, our development must take place in a flexible way which allows us to bend ourselves according to the situation. We need to come up with an edectic method which allows us to use various teaching methods, education theories, and development techniques in a way that best suits our situation and the needs of the people involved (Richards & Farrell, 2005; Guskey, 2000; Harmer, 2001). We need to be able to identify with the students, know ourselves,

and blend these in with the needs of the institution if we want to have positive teacher development and if we want our career to be successful and to avoid an emotional burnout (Bailey et al., 2001).

Finally, we need a development plan that embeds small procedures into a larger life-long plan. We need to have a "grand" vision that motivates us for constant improvement, and alongside that, we need to have small plans and small steps that help us deal with our issues without overburdening ourselves (Richards & Farrell, 2001; Guskey, 2000; Harmer, 2001; Bailey et al., 2001). The benefit of having such a plan is that we are not overburdened and that it helps us achieve small successes that motivate us and keep us going. This also allows us to analyse certain issues in detail and to deal with our weak points one-at-a-time, rather than trying to deal with everything at once and wearing ourselves down (Harmer, 2001; Bailey et al., 2001). And while doing that, it constantly reminds us that our development will continue beyond this simple "step" and that it is an ongoing process.

Thus, we need to remember that professional development is not something random or solely institutional, but that it is something that must involve us and our students. It is the active process of adapting and of getting to know ourselves and our learners. And the best way to do that is to be actively involved, to have an ideal to aim for, and to have small realistic steps to help us move forward without wearing us down.

Thus, we can say that professional teacher development is an essential part of a teacher's practice. It is the constant attempt to stay up-to-date and to be the best. The teacher, in the words of Harmer (2001), is not supposed to live the same year 20 times, but rather, he/she must try to live 20 separate years. That is, teachers must strive to live in a state of constant development and improvement. They must try to adapt and experiment so that their class becomes an exciting and involving experience in which they try to cater to the learners' and

their own needs and thus create an exciting and fulfilling career which allows them to benefit their students and live their job to the fullest. They need to be able to learn from each classroom and to adapt towards each situation which they face.

## The Evaluation of Professional Development

Since Professional Development is a systematic and on-going process, it is necessary for us to keep on evaluating and improving it. By doing this, we can ensure maximum performance in our job and also receive maximum benefits from the process of development itself. In other words, evaluation is a means to ensuring successful and efficient performance and development, and thus, it is an essential part of the development process and a definite means to achieving maximum results (Craft, 2000; Guskey, 2000).

### What is Evaluation?

Before we begin this part of our discussion, it would be best to clarify what we mean by "Evaluation". Evaluation, in simple words, is to make a judgement about the worth or the benefit of a thing (Craft, 2000; Guskey, 2000). This judgement, however, cannot be based on some random decision, but rather, it must be made on the basis of detailed and systematic inquiries that aim at determining the worth of an activity and which seek to recommend strategies for achieving better results in the future. Thus, the evaluation of professional development seeks to justify the practice of professional development and to suggest how the development process can be improved (Craft, 2000; Guskey, 2000). And in order to do this, it makes use of certain complex and systematic processes of data collection and analysis. In other words, evaluation is a purposeful and intentional activity that is undertaken for the improvement of professional development programmes and which uses clear evidences that are gained through careful data collection to judge the worth of the process and make decisions for its improvement (Guskey, 2000).

Having said that, we need to remember that evaluation is not the same thing as theoretical research. Research of the theoretical type and statistical measurements might be similar to this process, but they are not in themselves an evaluation. As Guskey (2000) points out, theoretical research seeks out conclusions that could be generalized to a context beyond that of the study. Evaluation, however, is limited to a specific context or situation. It cannot be applied to another situation or area. It can be used for reference or for guidelines and suggestions, but no one evaluation can be applicable to a different or to a generalised situation. Nor can it, in any way, be taken to represent the norm of a given process. Apart from that, the goal of evaluation is not to discover new knowledge, but to solve problems and to decide the merit, worth, or success of something. Thus, even though it studies a process in detail, the goal of evaluation is not to provide information, but to help in making decisions, and thus it cannot be likened to theoretical research (Guskey, 2000).

Similarly, we cannot liken evaluation to the process of assessment. When we talk about assessment, we are trying to find out the present situation or the present state of a thing or a person (Guskey, 2000). In other words, assessment only looks at the subject at a given point in time. Evaluation, on the other hand, seeks to improve a process and to judge its worth. Unlike assessment, it does not look at a single moment, but rather, it seeks to consider the entirety of a given process, and thus it involves a study that extends over a larger span of time. Also, unlike assessment, which aims to find out the current state of things, evaluation is a value judgement on the worth and need of a process (Guskey, 2000).

Another concept which might be confused with evaluation is that of accountability and standards. This, however, is also not true. Accountability is all about the imposition of standards and the demands of authorities (Guskey, 2000). In other words, it is a concept that involves values and standards that are imposed by a higher authority when they ask us to do

something. Evaluation, however, may or may not involve such an element. In other words, Evaluation might involve the imposition of a standard or it might simply be a study conducted for research. Thus, we need to remember that evaluation, though it might resemble them somewhat, is different from processes such as theoretical or action research, assessment, and the imposition of standards (Guskey, 2000). It is the process of systematically studying something to determine the worth and success of a process and to generate suggestions for the future.

## Why Evaluate?

Now that we know what evaluation is (and what it is not), let us consider some very important questions. These are: do we really need to evaluate a process in order to improve it? And do we really need to decide upon its worth? Is not the worth of professional development obvious? And given all these possible objections, does not the process of evaluation become insignificant?

To answer these questions, we need to remember a couple of oft-ignored problems. First of all, if we think a process is important, it does not mean that everyone agrees. So, for example, there are actually people who question the need of professional development programmes and who argue that the funds being spent for these activities are wasted and should be given to some other programme or institution (Guskey, 2000). In the same way, institutions and organisations, specifically schools and universities, have questioned the necessity of this activity and have demanded proofs regarding the benefit of these programmes (Guskey, 2000). Thus, it is best for one to evaluate the process systematically and come up with evidence that can satisfy their demands and thus show that professional development is indeed important to the teacher's life (Guskey, 2000).

Furthermore, while it is true that self-modification and improvement could be an integral part of the development process, it does not mean that every development programme is self-evolving. Also, it should be remembered that these modifications and improvements cannot be based on random conjecture and must be based on a thorough study, meaning that even if self-modification is an integral part of the development process, it will still require a certain, though not explicitly mentioned, process of evaluation. Evaluation is a process that ensures our decisions and modifications are based on a thorough study of the process and not just on ideas that just came along the way, and so it allows us to better achieve the goal of meeting standards (Craft, 2000; Guskey, 2000).

Also, we must not forget that the process of professional development can become stagnant and mechanic by constant repetition. We start thinking we are improving when in reality, we are not. Thus, we need to constantly evaluate it to keep it from rusting up and becoming dead (Guskey, 2000). Thus, evaluation is not just needed to prove the worth of a process, but it is also necessary to avoid the illusion that the job is going well when in reality, it is not. It is necessary for the smooth functioning of a process and for keeping it up-to-date.

Moreover, if we consider the many factors that are involved in professional situations, the need for a systematic evaluation would become obvious. In a profession, we have the professionals, the institutions, the federation, the state, the workers, the customers, and the products, etcetera. And all of these various factors, institutions, and individuals that are involved would affect each other one way or another. A change at any one level necessarily affects all of the other levels as well. And so, the development process needs to be systematic in order to ensure that all factors are considered, or else development would become a haphazard process that has no true benefit at all (Guskey, 2000). So, for example, in a school, we have the teachers, the administration, the parents, the students, and other institutions that might be involved Guskey,

2000). And any change in policy or method will have to be negotiated at all levels to ensure success. Thus, the process of development is a very complex one and must thus be managed with extreme care (Guskey, 2000).

Furthermore, in order to evaluate and then improve such a process, we cannot just pass off any random judgement, but rather, we need to have a systematic and detailed analysis that observes this process in detail and which considers each and every factor involved in order to provide us with proper evidences and statistics that support the suggestions given. If we just randomly start making decisions and do not consider all of the factors involved, we might unintentionally end up with our development plans backfiring on us. Thus, the evaluation process becomes crucial to the development process and cannot be ignored at any cost (Guskey, 2000).

Having said that, we need to remember that evaluation is not necessarily a large scale study that covers all aspects of a process all at once. It may at times cover a certain aspect of the development process, a certain level, a certain factor or element, a certain group of the people involved, and how they affect the other levels, or it might be a study that is conducted in steps or parts, with each part focusing on one or more factor, and so on. What is necessary in all these cases is that the process is systematic enough to ensure maximum results and to be more than a random judgement call. Evaluation is a means for improvement, even if it is a small scale project (Guskey, 2000). Furthermore, small scale studies can be of great use to later large scale studies which could be built upon their results and could combine them with observations on other related factors (Guskey, 2000). Thus, an evaluation cannot be dismissed simply because it is a small scale project. Rather, any evaluation project is valuable as long as it is systematically performed.

And so, we may conclude that evaluation is a valuable process that helps us in achieving the standards that are set for a practice and which allows us to judge the worth of a process or

practice and to improve it as we go. It might be one large scale project, or else it might be a smaller or a series of interconnected smaller ones. Overall, the process must be systematic and detailed in order for it to be considered valid.

#### How to Evaluate a Process?

Having developed a basic idea of what evaluation is, let us now consider how exactly we can evaluate a process. The very first thing in this matter would be to determine our purpose or goal in this practice. In other words, we must begin by consulting the people involved and coming up with a list of objectives or points that we will be studying. This can be done by reflection, by consulting professional literature, looking up official standards, and by interviewing and checking up with colleagues and the various people involved (Craft, 2000; Guskey, 2000). In other words, we need to decide what, in our opinion, is important and needs to be checked in the analysis.

Secondly, we need to decide what we hope to achieve. In other words, after having decided what to study, we need to decide what we are aiming for in our analysis. Craft (2000), in this matter, divides evaluation into two types: summative evaluation (evaluation that seeks to describe a process and judge its merit) and formative evaluation (evaluation that seeks to give suggestions for improvement). The first type, in her own words, is related to "accountability," while the second one has more to do with development and improvement. Guskey (2000), however, adds another type to this list. This type of evaluation (which he calls planning evaluation) is study which is conducted before an activity and which tries to anticipate problems beforehand and tries to come up with some countermeasures. In other words, this type of analysis is a preventive practice which seeks to anticipate issues that may arise in order to avoid them.

Thus, we can divide evaluation into three types: preventive, formative, and summative, and our second goal in the evaluation process would be to decide which form of analysis we are opting for. This could either be one of the three or a combination of two or of all three. It is also possible to perform one analysis first and then build upon it in later studies by adding the other two styles (Guskey, 2000).

Once we have come up with a list of priorities and a basic purpose, we can begin deciding upon the focus and the methodology of our analysis. As far as focus is concerned, we need to decide whether we are studying the process or the outcome (Craft, 2000). Also, we need to come up with ways to ensure the credibility of our study. We need to review our resources, the people involved, the time allotted, the justifications or the basis for our study, the roles of the participants, and any other factors that might affect our study (Craft, 2000). We also need to decide how we will collect the data and how we will analyse it. This can be done in a number of ways. We can use questionnaires, interviews, observations, recordings, official documents, one-on-one meetings and discussions, and many other techniques for this (Craft, 2000). At the same time, however, we need to decide whether we will be studying the whole process or just one aspect of it. We also need to consider whether our analysis will be qualitative or quantitative and how we intend to present the result afterwards (Craft, 2000). And it is only after deciding upon these that we can begin our study for real.

Once we have decided upon all this, we are ready to execute the plan and conduct our study. However, once again, we need to remember the complexity that is involved in the process. And as it is with all complex processes, people have tried to come up with explanations, and these have led to a couple of models which can be used to structure and organise the project. Thus, it is only proper that we get to know the major models which are involved and then to decide upon the specific structure of our study (id est. by using a model or by combiningor modifying

a few). Guskey (2000), in his study, has described six major models and has then given his own seventh model by modifying the sixth model which he has described. So before continuing with our discussion, we will now take a brief overview of these models. The seven models that are described by Guskey are as follows:

# 1) Tytler's Model of Evaluation

The first model Guskey describes was proposed by Ralph W. Tytler. Tytler basically suggested that an evaluation should be conducted by comparing desired goals with what has been achieved. His model for evaluation involves clarifying the desired goals and thus coming up with an ideal situation from which we can derive some observable parameters or objectives. Having come up with these details, he suggests that we should now come up with suitable measuring techniques, collect data, and compare the actual situation with the desired ideal. Having done that, we should come up with a decision or a suggestion on how to improve the actual performance. Once the suggestion has been applied, we should repeat the process and evaluate the new situation, and so on, in this process of constant development and evaluation (Guskey, 2000).

## 2) Metfessel and Michael's Model for Evaluation

This second model of evaluation was made by adapting or extending Tytler's model. What this model does, basically, is to include more factors and more data collection methods in the original. It involves not just the immediate situation, but the entire school community that is involved. Thus, the ideal situation or the standards which it compares to the actual includes in it the wider context and thus, other factors are also involved. Thus, the final interpretation has wider implications in this case and it suggests improvements on a wider level than what could be done through Tytler's basic model (Guskey, 2000).

## 3) Hammond's Model of Evaluation

The third model of evaluation is also based upon Tytler's. This model, however, attempts not only to include the wider context, but also questions of why the actual situation differs from the ideal. Thus, it analyses not just the actual and ideal situations, but also all the things that could hinder or stimulate the development process. In order to do this, Hammond suggests that we study the situation at three different levels: instruction, institution, and behaviour (Hammond's model is specifically made for teaching situations, hence the use of education related terminology) (Guskey, 2000).

The first level of analysis, in this case, is that of "instruction." This level studies the actual activity that was performed, the organizations involved, the content, methodologies, facilities, costs, and other related factors. It considers whether the actual activity went according to plan, and if not, then why (Guskey, 2000).

The second level of analysis is that of the "institution." This level deals with the individuals and the groups that are involved in or affected by the activity and how they add to, affect, and hinder or support the activity (Guskey, 2000).

Finally, the last level of analysis deals with "behaviour," that is, the objectives, and the cognitive, affective, and psychological changes or observations that can be seen. And by involving all three levels, this model attempts to study how and why the actual situation differs from the ideal one, and based on this it tries to give suggestions for improvement and betterment (Guskey, 2000).

### 4) Scriven's Goal-Free Model of Evaluation

The fourth model of evaluation tries to shift the focus away from ideal situations and it looks at other unintended outcomes. In other words, what Scriven suggested was to look at the actual

outcomes of the process, and not just on what was desired and not achieved. The earlier three models compared an ideal situation with what was actually done. However, their ideal is based mainly on the objectives that have been identified by the evaluator. That is, they ignore any possible (but unexpected) benefit or loss that might have been achieved but was ignored in the analysis since it was never considered by the evaluator when he or she was formulating their list of objectives (Guskey, 2000).

Guskey (2000) explains this model through the example of a school. He creates a situation in which the teachers are trying to improve the students' writing skill. Apart from the immediate results that would have to do with writing, however, there would also be other results—both good and bad—that might have been achieved (for instance, less attention being given to other subjects which results in bad performance in those subjects, or the improved writing abilities leading to better performance in other subjects because students are now better able to express themselves, etcetera). Thus, it is important to consider what is actually achieved, gained, or lost and not just on what the evaluator saw as the desired ideal (Guskey, 2000).

### 5) Stufflebeam and the CIPP Model.

The model suggested by Stufflebeam focuses primarily on the decision making processes that underlie any activity or development programme. Thus, the basic aim of this model is to provide policy makers with the information they need in order to make sound judgements and decisions (Guskey, 2000).

In order to do that, Stufflebeam suggests that we focus on the Context, Input, Process, and Product (CIPP) of a situation. The Context, in this case, involves the planning decisions that were made for the programme. That is, the goals that were desired or the ideal situation and how the programme attempted to achieve these goals. In other words, the study of context deals

with a comparison of the ideal and the actual situation as well as the methodologies adopted to achieve the given ideal (Guskey, 2000).

Input, on the other hand, mainly deals with the structure of the activity. It deals with the resources and the strategies that were used and the current capabilities of the programme. That is, it deals with those elements of the process that are external or else can be observed, planned, and altered before the actual process (Guskey, 2000).

The Process, on the other hand, deals with the implementation of this plan and the problems faced therein. Thus, it identifies the practical application and implementation of the programme as well as the areas where it went fine and where it went wrong. And based on the overall analysis, it then tries to figure out where and why things went wrong and how they could've been dealt with or the problems avoided or lessened (Guskey, 2000).

Finally, we have Product, which is the study of the outcomes. It interprets the outcomes of the activity in light of the Context, Input, and Process analyses, and thus it decides whether or not the project was successful. And on the basis of this analysis, then, the evaluator is able to come up with decisions which are then implemented before the process is repeated. Thus, this evaluation model helps us come up with better development policies and it helps us in planning for future activities and also in deciding whether the activity should be continued, modified, or abandoned completely (Guskey, 2000).

## 6) Kirkpatrick's Model for Evaluation

The sixth model Guskey describes is that of Kirkpatrick. This model is basically aimed at businesses and supervisory training situations. However, various people have modified it to come up with versions that could be applied to other situations as well (Guskey, 2000).

Kirkpatrick's method analyses an activity or process by focusing on Reaction, Learning, Behaviour, and Result. The first level of analysis, in this case, deals with the Participant Reactions. It analyses how the participants felt during the programme: Were they satisfied or did they feel bored? Did they find the activity interesting or did it feel imposed or forced? And so on. By asking these questions, the evaluator seeks to understand whether the development activity was designed in a way that is attractive to the participants or did it feel forced and de motivating. By analysing the data thus attained, the activity can be made more involving and enjoyable in the future (Guskey, 2000).

The second level of analysis deals with Participant Learning. It is concerned with the skills, knowledge, and the attitudes acquired by the participants over the course of the programme; it asks whether or not any form of improvement or development was observed in the participants as the activity progressed. It considers what was acquired by the participants and whether or not it was beneficial and how could things have been different in an alternative situation. Thus, it is able to give us information regarding how the activity could be designed in the future to make it more beneficial in terms of what was gained by considering the delivery methods and other factors that might affect Participant Learning (Guskey, 2000).

The third level of analysis deals with Participant Behaviour and how it has changed over time. It considers how the overall attitude of the participants changed over time and whether or not it changed for the better. It also seeks to know the reasons behind these changes and how or not things could've been better. If the participants became more distanced from their work of if their motivation dropped, then this would require further analysis in order to improve the situation in future programmes. Alternatively, if the programme was able to pump-up the participants and make them more willing to do their jobs, then one could try to analyse what

exactly went well and whether or not (and also how) it could be reproduced or improved further (Guskey, 2000).

And lastly, the evaluator must look at the Results from an organizational point of view; that is, he or she must analyse the outcomes in terms of products and industry gains. They must see what was achieved and whether or not it benefitted the institution and how (or whether or not) this gain can be improved (Guskey, 2000). And by thus analysing all of these situations, the evaluator may decide how successful the development process was (and what factors contributed to the success or failure, whichever the case is) and based on that give suggestions for improvements and modifications (Guskey, 2000).

# 7) Guskey's Model of Evaluation

Guskey prepared his model by modifying and building upon Kirkpatrick's model. He modified it to suit other situations (especially schools) and then added to it questions relating to context and other factors (such as policy makers, institutions, the causes of failure, unintended goals, and so on). Furthermore, he divided the process into five levels of analysis, out of which, one may perform at one, two, or more in a given study. Thus, one may focus on one aspect, more than one aspect, or focus on some and then build upon them later on (Guskey, 2000).

The levels of analysis that Guskey introduced are Participant Reaction, Participant Learning, Organization Support and Change, Use of Knowledge and Skills, and Student Learning Outcomes. The first level is the simplest and most basic. It focuses on how valued the participants felt and whether they found the process interesting. The purpose of this analysis is to help improve the activity design (the activity in this case being professional development) by finding out if it interested and motivated the participants and what factors contributed to making it so (or, if it was not that way, what factors caused it to be uninteresting). This data is

then used to determine how the process can be improved to make it more engaging for the people involved (in this case, teachers) (Guskey, 2000).

The second level gauges what the participants (in this case, the teachers) learnt during the process. It also asks how the participants benefitted from the process and what intended and unintended skills were gained by them. This analysis allows us to evaluate the activities involved in the development process and to use this analysis as future reference, thus allowing us to decide whether or not the participants were able to benefit from the process and how to improve the situation in future attempts (Guskey, 2000).

The third level of analysis looks at the policies and the organizational situation in which the participants worked. The goal of this analysis is to come up with institutional and policy changes that will benefit the overall process and which will help to create a better overall environment. It analyses the situation in which the participants (in this case, teachers) work and whether or not the overall atmosphere of their institutions are conducive to the developmental process. Thus, it allows us to evaluate and suggest improvements at this institutional level (Guskey, 2000).

The fourth level of analysis deals with the question of how the skills gained by the participants were used and whether or not they were beneficial to them in their practice. The goal of this analysis is to determine whether or not the skills gained were worth the time and the effort if how the programme can be made more beneficial and affective in the future. Thus, it allows us to come up with a better plan for future programmes and studies and it helps set up targets and goals for future development programmes (Guskey, 2000).

Finally, the last level of analysis looks at the outcomes or the impact of the activity and whether it has led to any improvement in performance. In this way, it seeks to analyse whether or not the process was successful, and, based on the previous four levels, to determine what factors had a positive or negative effect. It sees whether there was any overall improvement in the product of the job (in this case, teaching) and whether or not the customers (here, the students) are receiving benefit as well. Thus, this model seeks to provide a comprehensive analysis that could provide solid evidence for future reference (Guskey, 2000).

### Practical Guidelines, Cautions, and Standards

Now that we have looked at what evaluation is and what is the basic procedure for this process, let us have a quick look at certain practical and social elements related to this process. Evaluation, first of all, is not limited to one or two people, it has very wide implications and it involves entire communities. Thus, before we begin, we need to know that others may or may not agree with our views and they may not feel comfortable being analysed (Craft, 2000; Guskey, 2000). Thus, to ensure maximum results, we need to be cautious and we need to negotiate our standards and our roles with the persons involved. We need to be clear in what we are doing, in who gets to see the final report, and how we will ensure that no one get harmed in any way (Craft, 2000; Guskey, 2000). In other words, we need to be careful during the evaluation process and observe all recommended measures that are needed in order to ensure our study is ethically sound and meets the standards of the institutions and committees designed to observe these issues.

To do this, we must, before we begin, consult the people involved and come up with methods that will ensure that they do not get into uncomfortable situations. Such happenings would not only hinder the evaluation but they could also harm the people involved in some cases. Thus, it is necessary to be clear about what we are doing, and to ensure the rights and the confidentiality of the participants (Craft, 2000; Guskey, 2000). Thus, we need to be prepared, and we need to decide upon the whole process and negotiate and then clearly state the roles and make agreements with the people involved so that our study is justifiable and according to the standards of evaluation (Craft, 2000; Guskey, 2000). Guskey, in this regard, mentions a list of

ethical and practical standards that have been set by the Joint Committee on Standards for Educational Evaluation. It would benefit the evaluator to know of these standards and to follow them as much as is possible so that the evaluation is practically sound and ethically justifiable and clear (Guskey, 2000).

### Prevailing Practices in Professional Development: Case Studies and Analyses

As can be seen from the above discussion, the importance of constant self-reflection and development cannot be under-stressed. It is vital both to practitioners as well as those who are receiving from the professional experience. Both teachers and students benefit from this process and it leads to a lot of betterment inside the classroom. It is thus, an essential part of the classroom experience and is essential to the teacher's life.

That being said, there is no one perfect model for development and each person's development must and will be individual and unique. To mechanise this process is to render it useless and to make it unsystematic and unplanned would lead to disaster. To develop and improve one's own practices and to evaluate them, one needs to be familiar with the various practices and techniques that are being used by others and to have an individualised and well-planned path which is neither too mechanistic nor to random and which is also constantly being modified and improved. In this brief overview, we will consider some of the development techniques and methodologies that have been used by various teachers and some studies that have been made of these attempts.

#### **General Analyses and Studies**

We begin our study with the work of Driel, Beijaard, and Verloop (2001). Their study deals primarily with Science students but has a lot to offer to other fields as well. They believe that the main problem with development projects is that they are often decontextualised. In other words, most development programmes are based on what the developers believe is necessary and teachers are simply expected to make the "change". And if someone fails to make that change, he or she is deemed inept. The problem with this is that the teachers' experience and

beliefs are not considered. In an education reform in the Netherlands cited by the authors, a more practical approach to Science was attempted, one which could link Scientific study to everyday life and skill building and which introduced concepts like the Philosophy of Science to the teachers. However, the problem still remained that the teachers, in most such science classroom reforms, were treated as robots, like something which, with the change of some underlying algorithm, would automatically be reprogrammed (Driel et al., 2001).

The truth, however is that teachers are also individuals, and as individuals, they will trust their practical knowledge—which is experiential, contextual, "action-oriented," and which has by now become the basis of their practice (Driel et al., 2001). Thus, what is most reflective of the teachers' beliefs is not what they hear in a workshop, but that which they have been doing all their lives. They have built a framework of action and that cannot be changed so easily. Thus, what a teacher requires is not a change of focus, but a long-termed, supportive view to change which allows them to reconsider the basic philosophy of their field of study (in this case, Science) and to critically look over classroom roles, thus allowing them to develop a vision of this change motivating enough to push them to try integrating new activities in their class. Practical knowledge can only be replaced by new practical knowledge, and that is what is needed in the classroom, and for that, support, time, and a multi-strategy vision of professional development is required which is less based on workshop lectures and more on practical effort (Driel et al., 2001).

A similar idea can be found in many other studies, but none reflects it as completely as the one by Ono and Ferreira (2010). This study is essentially about a reform attempt that was made in Africa, but it also deals with the issue of involving the teachers in the process. The problem in Africa, it would seem, was that development plans were decontextualised and the teachers were not included the way they should have been. What they needed was along-term, constructivist

plan which was set in a specific context. And they found such an approach in the Japanese concept of the lesson study (Ono and Ferreira, 2010).

The lesson study, basically, is a kind of teacher study group in which some teachers investigate an actual class to assist their development (Ono and Ferreira, 2010). They observe some of their colleagues' teaching and then they discuss it, turning it into a collaborative action research which involves everyone. Furthermore, the lesson study is given a boost by setting times in the year when everyone is actively involved in such practices. Also, the production of textbooks takes in the results of these studies, allowing these studies to have practical affects in the education system and on institutions. Thus, the lesson plan not just involves the teachers in the development process but it also makes them feel that their views and activities are important at a greater level, leading to greater motivation and a sense of responsibility (Ono and Ferreira, 2010).

This lesson study plan was imported to some South African schools in 1999 and tried out. It failed initially, but some schools continued it and eventually came up with positive results (Ono and Ferreira, 2010). Of the benefits gained was improved teaching and learner focus, and it also improved the overall quality of the development process by taking it beyond the traditional developer-centred workshop and involving the teachers. Another conclusion which Ono and Ferreira derive from this study is that the change must be introduced slowly and in measured steps in order to get proper results and that we should allow time for positive changes to occur. It also shows that involving teachers in the development process is essential to success (Ono and Ferreira, 2010).

Another study that takes the lesson plan (called Lesson Study in this case) was conducted by Fernandez (2002). This study follows the implementation of the Lesson Study in an American context. It discusses the various issues faced during its implementation and the implications of

these findings. As we have already discussed when discussing the previous study, the Lesson Study provides a great way to ground professional development in the school context. It thus enables the teachers' development to be more effective and it nurtures reflective practice and encourages discussion and development within the faculty. This activity can then be built upon by adding to it and taking help from other sources (Fernandez, 2002).

Two schools attempted to localise this practice in the USA. One of these learnt this development method from a group of Japanese teachers, while the other learnt about it from the author of the study. From the outset, issues started sprouting up as something that was new for the American teachers was brought into their class. For example, the teachers were reluctant to discuss and share their lessons and observations in the newly started joint-planning sessions. The very act of developing a reflective practice is difficult, as one has to be critical of oneself and of others, to ask questions, experiment, and learn. The teachers in the case observed tried to come up with questions and observation protocols, but in one of these cases, they ended up abandoning the Lesson Study for a simple self-reflection practice (Fernandez, 2002).

From these observations, Fernandez (2002) suggests that the problems these teachers faced reveal a lot about the Lesson Study and teaching practices in general. She suggests that teachers need to be made aware about how much benefit they can gain from critically observing their own practice, and they need proper guidance in order to successfully pull off a Lesson Study session that is properly managed and systematic enough to enable constant learning and development. She mentions that Lesson Studies can help organise and better manage education institutions and that it can help in transforming the teachers into "reflective practitioners." Finally, she suggests that the Lesson Study should be further studied and the disposition of teachers to feel daunted at the prospect needs to be dealt with so that better results can be achieved in the future (Fernandez, 2002).

Another study on what makes development effective was done by Lester (2003). His research question was basically about what makes development good. The results of his study resulted in certain observations. First of all, he discovered that teachers that were more anxious to change and who wanted to improve were more prone to accepting change. Thus, the first thing in good development programmes is that they should be able to make their teachers realise the need and the importance of change. And also, they should make them want to change and motivate them to participate in this process.

Secondly, he found that smaller groups are better for such practices. The reason for this was that it enabled more participation, reflection, and discussion. Professional development demands decision making experience and a cooperative tackling of problems. Smaller groups enabled teachers to cooperate more easily, to reflect and discuss, and to deal with their problems in a way that was integrative to the lesson plan. Another benefit was that it allowed better reviewing of the development process and allowed teachers to evaluate each other's progress more effectively. Furthermore, having a smaller, more intimate group allowed teachers to open up and discuss things more easily and feel more comfortable in the process (Lester, 2003).

Another observation which Lester found in his study was that well-planned, practically applicable programmes which held teachers accountable had more benefit than others (Lester, 2003). Also, he noticed that small groups involved in intensive long-term programmes were more successful and more open to innovation than larger groups or "quick" development programmes. He also mentioned that teachers perform well in such programmes only when they are motivated, when their voice is heard, when they perceive success, when the study seems well-planned, and when the accountability standards are realistic and appropriate. And this undoubtedly requires that the teachers are involved and that it is a small-group based study which allows the teachers to navigate their way in the programme and participate and

and test these ideas. In other words, the practical nature of the programme and what that entails is essential to the success of the development process (Lester, 2003).

Zimmerman and May (2003) have done a similar analysis in which they studied various development programmes and how they have affected the practitioners. They observe, once again, that the staff is often not considered and that most studies are highly decontextualised. Most of what we call professional development is isolated, under researched, and unrealistic. It does too little and it expects too much. What we need, instead, is a collective, long-term programme which aims at helping students and which embeds or incorporates activities into practice—that is, we need something practical and active, not the traditional "sit and reflect" methodology.

Other impediments which their study revealed were time and money. Teachers are either unwilling to work in times not included in their contracts, or else there are not enough funds. Since this study was mainly concerned with principals, most of the advice given deals with being good leaders, and also a little bit with how school districts and other stakeholders should look at this practice. Mostly, what Zimmerman and May suggest has to do with having a vision, attaining resources, overcoming the resistance to change, and convincing and motivating teachers to take part in applied work which is based on action research by being a good leader and by making the programmes more involving and motivating (Zimmerman and May, 2003).

The studies we have looked at so far analysed various cases and attempts in order to draw general conclusions about the development process. Let us now move on to works that consider specific needs and cases. The first, which was conducted by Doolittle, Sudeck, and Rattigan (2008), deals with the question of professional learning communities. One issue in developmental processes is the lack of unity and leadership found in the school structure. There

is a lack of clarity and no coherent plan is made before the programme. Consequently, implementation and problems of time and support become central in the process. No planning and isolation mean that a lot of time will be wasted in just getting the programme together and then the required team-support that is meant to extend the process beyond a few workshops will not be available (Doolittle et al., 2008).

To deal with this, the authors suggest involving teachers and working in real-world situations which bring context into the picture and involve all stakeholders. They also recommend activities such as co-teaching and discussion which are meant to engender learning communities (Doolittle et al., 2008). The benefit of doing so will be to create a sense of common purpose and to increase inter and intra-group connections, thus allowing collaborative work and communal reflection (which will allow better progress). By working together, teachers will be able to actively involve each other and thus do better by creating professional and supportive communities of practice. Three cases of such supportive structures are examined by the authors, the results of which help to show how theory can be imported into practice to create better development situations (Doolittle et al., 2008).

Another similar study was conducted by Peterson and Comeaux (1990). Their work is primarily concerned with models for evaluating performance. The problem they identify is that most evaluation systems ignore teachers and are based on the ideas of behaviourism and "perfect teachers". In other words, they talk about good and bad teaching habits without considering the context, content, and the individual factors involved. For example, the four main methods which they analyse are the Florida Performance Measurement System, the Teacher Assessment and Development System, Individual Teacher Evaluation System, and the Alternative Evaluation Procedure. Out of these, the first involves a large amount of observers looking at and then judging the performance of a teacher, the second involves one person evaluating their

performance, the third involves the teacher using a checklist to mark him or herself off, and the last one involves recording a lesson and then discussing it with the teacher (Peterson and Comeaux, 1990).

Out of these, only the last two involve the teacher, while the first two only *judge* them. And even among these last two, only one (the Alternative Evaluation Procedure) leads to actual reflective participation (Peterson and Comeaux, 1990). Also in the first two methods, only the Florida Performance Measurement System was appreciated somewhat by teachers, because it involved more than one person in the observation, thus giving better results than when a single observer is involved. The Alternative Procedure, however, was given most precedence because it allowed the teacher to participate, reflect, watch an accurate representation of his or her teaching (a recording), discuss, and then work for improvement. The only danger it could have was if the teacher felt threatened or if he or she was warned beforehand to stage a perfect class or if he or she was influenced too much by the coach. Other than that, it seems to be the better of the four (Peterson and Comeaux, 1990).

However, the authors note that the results show no clear cut preference in terms of which methods benefits the teachers most (Peterson and Comeaux, 1990). This would tell us that even the other procedures have their uses and that we should consider the context and the situation to come up with the best possible combination. Also, every method seems to have its own benefits and problems, and none of them can be presented as some sort of an all-encompassing, wholistic method. Thus, it could be argued, and has been done, that we need to involve teachers, consider the context, the content, and the need that is being addressed before evaluating performance, and we need to use these methods in various creative combinations in order to achieve maximum results (Peterson and Comeaux, 1990).

Graham (2007) conducted a study on Professional Learning Communities. He studied one such community in order to see how it affected the teachers and their practice. The study looked at one school that had implemented the idea of the Professional Learning Community to see how it had affected the teachers' performance. It focused on the sixth, seventh, and eighth grades, and made use of surveys and interviews to gather data. The nature of the Learning Communities was such that teachers who taught the same subjects at the same grade level were more often paired together. Other groupings, such as teachers having the same students, teachers teaching the same subject, interdisciplinary meeting groups, and whole faculty meetings also existed but were less common (Graham, 2007).

On the basis of the survey results, Graham (2007) then proceeds to evaluate the employed development strategy (Professional Communities). He observes that teachers groups that were more content focused, that aimed for active learning and participation, and which had a coherent meeting and development plan showed better results. He also noticed that certain groups (for example, lower grade teachers) seem to have gotten better results from their group discussions than have others. This difference was seen mainly across grades, but also across subjects in a few cases. Overall, the teachers seemed to think that they had improved their classroom performance and had also gained some valuable skills from the experience (Graham, 2007).

From the interviews, Graham (2007) learnt that the teachers had developed better coordination and connections through this practice, but also that the discussions were too teacher-centred. Teachers rarely discussed the issues and the concerns of the students and focused mostly on issues related to teaching and teaching practice. They all agreed, however, that the activity increased collaboration and it also was a source of improvement and discussion. Teacher teaching the eighth grade differed, however, and considered personal efforts to be more

spirit that this activity created. At an organisational level, too, the teachers seemed to think the activity led to better leadership practices and greater achievement (Graham, 2007).

Graham (2007) also discusses the various factors that led to this successful implementation of a development plan. He points out that the development of a team-spirit within the teachers and successful management at an organisational level were all necessary for this endeavour, and this was just what the school had achieved (though it did face some issues along the way). Other factors that contributed included the nature of the discussions, the team sizes, etc. Graham (2007) notes that a successful collaboration as was achieved in this case requires a lot of work at multiple levels and it is only then that it is successful. Nevertheless, he sees this school as a positive example and one which represents a shift in perspectives on teacher training. Still, he points out, the method under consideration has its own risks and flaws as well (Graham, 2007).

Hennissen, Crasborn, Brouwer, Korthagen, and Bergen (2010) report a case related to mentoring and mentor teachers. The studied dealt with the development of these teachers' supervisory skills through discussions. In other words, the paper focuses on both how these teachers help others develop as well as how they themselves develop through the process. The function of the mentor teacher, obviously, is to guide their juniors and also to help them engage in creative and critical reflection. It also allows the development process to be based on and to involve the actual school experience. The goal of the study was to look at the type of interaction and cognition that the practice involved and whether or not it was affected by the training of the mentors' supervisory skills. The tools used by the researchers included video-taping, recall-interviews, and so on (Hennissen, Crasborn, Brouwer, Korthagen, and Bergen, 2010).

Based on the data gathered, Hennissen, Crasborn, Brouwer, Korthagen, and Bergen (2010) have tried to analyse the content of these discussions and the way they spark a participants' thought process. By comparing the results with the data collected after the supervisory skill training, it was seen that the mentors' discussions changed significantly after the training. It was seen, for example, that topic discussions became less frequent and that the mentors' showed better awareness of and made better use of supervisory skills and dialogue strategies during the discussion. From this, the authors conclude that after the training, mentors learn to focus not just on classroom practices and student progress, but also on their own supervisory methodology. This enables them to improve their own supervisory skills and practices alongside engaging in reflective dialogue. In this way, it might be said that, in the case under observation, the training of mentor teachers was successful and it enabled them to perform better in their supervisory activities by making use of the skills they had learnt (Hennissen, Crasborn, Brouwer, Korthagen, and Bergen, 2010).

Koc, Peker, and Osmanoglu (2009) report a case of online video case discussions and the way they were used in professional development. They analysed the discussions that took place on the forum as well as its effectiveness. The idea was to use a video case in order to generate discussion and to allow teachers to discover the link between theory and practice. The idea of using cases is that they can lead to critical discussion and reflection and thus can lead to better development for teachers. The aim of the study was to see if video cases could be used for the same purpose and whether online forums were effective means for discussion and reflection (Koc, Peker, &Osmanoglu, 2009).

Koc, Peker, and Osmanoglu (2009) observed that the teachers discussed a large amount of ideas when discussing the case. They talked about, for instance, teacher roles and teaching practices. These discussions also dealt with questions of student achievement and techniques and

methodologies. They also observed that the forums were able to stay on topic and the discussions were all interconnected and contained depth. In this way, they suggest that the forum discussions fulfilled the basic criteria that the authors had se, in their literature review, for evaluating their effectiveness (Koc, Peker, &Osmanoglu, 2009).

The authors also observe that teachers, by using a video case example in their discussions, are able to develop complex discussions that indicate their understanding of what they have already studied in theory at a practical level. They conclude that such online forums and case studies can help teachers in their development, especially in cases where the forums are led by an online instructor or facilitator who can add to or prompt a discussion if needed. It was feared that the presence of an instructor might make the teachers more cautious, but the case being observed gave some possible evidence for it being otherwise. Also, since the instructor in this case was the teacher whose video was being displayed, she could also add extra information at times. Overall, the authors seem to find the method valid and beneficial, though they do point out that their study looks at only one case from a limited angle and also that they did not conduct any interviews, thus making the results both subjective as well as tentative (Koc, Peker, & Osmanoglu, 2009).

A study dealing specifically with the implementation of reforms in English Language Teaching was reported by Kirkgoz (2008). This specific study reports a two-year observation on an attempt to introduce a communicative curriculum in Turkey. What the study showed was that the background of the teacher as well as his or her understanding has strong effects on the implementation of a new strategy. The case under observation involved the COC (Communicative Oriented Curriculum) which was introduced officially into Turkey's education system. This curriculum sought to develop communicative competence in students by creating communicative situations in class and it aimed at creating a student-centred

environment in language teaching classes. Furthermore, the COC came with a revision of the training teachers received in their ELT training. This revision included newer courses and the integration of new knowledge, as well as an increased dose of support for seminars and training programmes (Kirkgoz, 2008).

Naturally, when these changes were introduced, a host of problems and issues emerged. These issues involved awareness, Turkey's teaching culture, the individual teachers' attitudes, etc. Furthermore, the policy makers had not taken the time to gradually introduce change and reform education. Rather, they had simply flung in the plan and expected everything to somehow turn out alright. To better understand these issues and what factors were involved, the author conducted a two-year long case study in which she observed classes and conducted interviews. Kirkgoz (2008), by doing so, tried to see the extent to which these changes were successfully implemented, as well as the understanding of the teachers and the effect their past trainings had on their practice.

Kirkgoz (2008) observed in her analysis that teachers tended to have mixed responses to this change. Most of them, it seemed, were still using the transmission methodology of teaching, whereas a few had accepted the new interpretationary method and a large amount was using a mixed sort of method. The majority, in other words, maintained a teacher-centred class and taught in the usual lecture style that existed before these changes were made. Their justification, it would seem, was that students did better that way, probably because they had not seen the transition phase through and had given up as the first sign of failure. The interpretation-oriented teachers had a more flexible classroom with a greater focus on students, and their activities were less predictable and fixed. Others seemed to combine both methods (Kirkgoz, 2008).

Kirkgoz (2008) discovered, through her interviews and observations, that most of the teachers who did not make this change either had a faulty or a non-existent knowledge of the

communicative methodology, which is why they were not willing to make the change. Teachers with a better understanding were better able to cope with this change and made a successful transition, though most of them faced some issues because they had been trained with adults and were now being made to teach children. It seemed that, in addition to knowledge about the process, having a wide variety of activities and an understanding of the difference between teaching adults and children further aided the process. The teachers who made the transition successfully were also better qualified and had better training, whereas those who did not accept these changes were lacking in or did not have any proper prior training. Thus, based on these observations, Kirkgoz (2008) concludes that knowledge and training are essential for implementing such changes and recommends that teachers be given continuous training, especially during the early days of such policy innovations.

Edwards and Li (2014), likewise, report a case of education reforms in China. They analysed a new UK based development programme which could be an alternative to the native development methodologies. The authors made use of interviews, questionnaires, and focus groups to ascertain how successful this programme was. Classical models, they observe, are criticised for being too narrow and static in nature, and thus not that beneficial to the teachers' continued development. They do not change and focus on about the same things overall, the model of learning they are based on is too narrow. Newer methods, on the other hand, stress the teachers' own development and innovation. These new methodologies and programmes look at development as a long-term and continued activity and thus try to be innovative and flexible. The model of learning and innovation they are based on is also different. In their study, the authors analyse one such new development programme and the model of learning which it uses. This programme was a part of a larger reform plan dealing with education and was based in the United Kingdom (Li & Edwards, 2014).

The authors study this programme and its methodology through a model dealing with the knowledge-base of practitioners. This model differentiates between explicit (or clearly codified) knowledge and the internal or tacit knowledge of people, and it suggests that both of them work together in order to achieve innovative results in an organisation. In other words, it deals with the "practical" knowledge of teachers which we discussed in some earlier case studies. This tacit knowledge, unlike external knowledge, is produced through the internalisation of what is learnt and through experience and socialisation. External knowledge, on the other hand, comes through the externalisation of tacit knowledge or through the combination of various other forms of explicit knowledge. The basic idea is that new knowledge and innovation results from the interaction of these two types of knowledge and that is how we learn and organisations improve (Li & Edwards, 2014).

Using this basic model, the authors tried to gauge the effectiveness and the results of the concerned development programme. What they wanted to know was how this knowledge was being managed and benefitted from within and between organisations. The observed, first of all, that teachers were involved in "knowledge creation" in class. They would apply the various methodologies they had learnt and experiment on the basis of the various theories they had studied. Thus, they would try different activities and even use their experiences to come up with their own strategies. In this way, by both drawing on and building upon their development experience in the programme, the teachers were able to improve and to develop, thus engaging in the process of continuous professional development (Li & Edwards. 2014).

Furthermore, it was seen that the teachers also engaged in discussion with or made reports for their local colleagues, and their cooperation and reflections also resulted in the creation of explicit knowledge, or the externalisation of their experiences, which lead to greater innovation in the organisation. The environment of joint research and teaching maintained by Chinese schools also contributed to this end. This knowledge was then transferred further through publications, networking, and other means and experimented with in other institutions and organisations as well (Li & Edwards, 2014).

On the basis of these observations and also of how the networking, publishing, etcetera of these observations and works benefitted the overall knowledge-base of teachers, Li and Edwards (2014) conclude that knowledge creation took place on the individual, organisational, and interorganisational levels. They conclude that the UK based programme as well as the model of knowledge being employed in this case (of explicit and tacit knowledge) is more effective than the narrower focused and "trickle-down effect" based methodologies of development which otherwise dominate the development front. They present the description of knowledge generation being used as more effective and an effective alternative to classical visions of development and the methodologies based on those views. At the same time, they are conscious of the limitations of their own study and mention that further studies ought to be conducted to come up with a final decision.

Chowdhury (2003) reports a case of CLT (Communicative Language Teaching) implementation from Bangladesh. The main goal of the article was to point out the contradictions and problems that arise when a method from a western context is applied, unadapted and without warning, in a completely different context. The issue, basically, is that the TESOL discipline considers the fact that they will have students from various communities, but it does not consider the various contexts and backgrounds of the teachers and the classes themselves. They are designed purely for a western class (Chowdhury, 2003).

This difference is the reason why, in author's own words, "[t]he student-teacher abroad, who is either deliberately or subconsciously moving away from a teacher-centred style more suited to his own country, is seen as disappointing the expectation of students back home for whom

the centrality of the teacher is the culturally and socially sanctioned basis of his teaching" (Chowdhury, 2003, p. 283). The local context, in other words, is teacher-centred, and the very fact that a teacher can use a student-centred method such as the CLT is a sign of weakness in the teacher. The model of language teaching is basically grammar translation or rote-based, highlighting the knowledge of the teacher instead of communication and interaction. And if the teacher does stress the element of communication, there is a chance-the students might complain against their teacher (Chowdhury, 2003).

The specific case being studied by the author is the Foundation Course (FC) in English of the University of Dhaka, a skill-based course which makes use of a notional syllabus that is constantly revised. By examining this programme and the views and experiences of the teachers, many of whom took part in short training programmes from abroad, to see how foreign ideas can or cannot be imported into the local. The interview and questionnaire responses reflected these problems as seen by the now disillusioned teachers of this Foundation Course (Chowdhury, 2003).

It was observed, for example, that teachers are seen as "father-figures," nurturing but also authoritative. Thus, student-centred classes, which are an ideal of the CLT method, cannot be imported easily. One teacher complained that students do not feel they are being taught or encouraged properly if the teacher does not assume this traditional role. Thus, the teachers either had to assume the traditional role as given by their communities, or else they have to negotiate between the two views to find one that is both involving but also something of an authoritative and knowledgeable figure (Chowdhury, 2003).

Similarly, it was seen that the learners, in the opinion of some, ought to be punctual and disciplined, and their participation was seen as detrimental to learning by the institutions and also by the learners themselves. In the same way, various other contextual and individual issues

made it difficult to implement the western model of CLT in the classrooms. The students themselves were not willing to make the transition, thus making the western model inapplicable in many ways. Thus, many of the teachers who received this training had to renegotiate their ideas and get rid of their initially idealistic view of the CLT method. It was noticed, however, that the teachers did not give up on the CLT, but rather adapted it and adjusted it by appropriating their training to local contexts (Chowdhury, 2003).

Thus, the author concludes, there are certain facts that must be considered to ensure successful implementation of such professional development attempts and educational reforms. It was noted, for example, that each of the teachers assumed a different role in their attempts to appropriate the method to local contexts. Thus, there is a need for teachers to sit together and consult each other so they ean come up with a concrete view of teacher and student roles. Similarly, texts and curricula have to be worked on, and learner-autonomy must be added in a step-by-step process. Thus, he suggests that further professional development needs to be pursued, but at a personal and interpersonal level as well, not just in the institutional way. That is how the newer methodologies will be better imported and adapted in a way that suits the local context (Chowdhury, 2003).

#### **Studies Specific to Pakistan**

Let us now consider some studies that are specific to Pakistan. The first project we will consider is that of Davies and Iqbal (1997). The object of their study was a specific teacher training programme, and they hoped to assess, in this study, whether training programmes were incorporating new ideas and research into their methods. They observed the process as well as got the opinions of the students being trained and their trainers (Davies and Iqbal, 1997).

The image they came up with, however, was rather bleak and it showed that there is a huge theory-practice gap in the field of teacher training (Davies and Iqbal, 1997). They noticed, for

example, that there is very less practical or inter-disciplinary work, and that most of the teacher training is based on dictating notes and cramming textbooks for exams. They also noted that the trainings made very less difference and that the selection of trainers was also not done properly. At least half of the students, when they finished the training, felt unprepared and many of them thought that the syllabus was out-dated and that the trainers were not addressing their needs as students and as future-teachers. Most trainers, in fact, simply followed old textbooks and dictated notes, prescribing methods and "model lessons" which the students could replicate. There was no thought given to reflective teaching or to innovation and creativity and one could easily see that the training programme did not incorporate new concepts and findings at all (Davies and Iqbal, 1997).

This does not mean, of course, that all teacher training programmes are a sham and that Pakistan is a hopeless case, for the researchers themselves point out that this was just a small-scale study. What it does show, however, is that teacher training programmes do not seem to incorporate new ideas so easily and that there seems to be an inertia that keeps them stuck in the past. And if we are to deal with this issue, we will, first of all, have to overcome this inertia that is making our programmes stale and out-dated (Davies and Igbal, 1997).

Another study dealing with classroom and training was conducted by Dayoub and Bashiruddin (2012). In their analysis, these two researchers took two teachers, one from Syria and one from Pakistan, and they analysed the methods they used in their professional development. The overall finding was that there was no sustained and structured approach in teacher development. Rather, most of the time teachers either learnt by self-study or else through in- and pre-service trainings that were either self-selected or, in the case of the Pakistani teacher, facilitated by a helpful principal. They also learnt that environment is crucial, with the Syrian teacher facing a

less helpful environment in this case, and they also mentioned how support at home was very beneficial to them both (Dayoub and Bashiruddin, 2012).

Overall, however, the schools and authorities had no special interest or plan, and the development of the teachers was mainly self-directed and based on personal motivation (Dayoub and Bashiruddin, 2012). There was no structured plan and each teacher had to work everything out herself. Based on this, Dayoub and Bashiruddin (2012) suggested that schools ought to consider becoming professional learning communities where teachers collaborate in development processes and lesson planning and evaluation. They point out that development is not a one-time thing, but a long-term and sustained effort which ought to be flexible and involving. In other words, they believe that development efforts in Pakistan are unstructured and personal, and the sustained community effect that is required is lacking and needs to be considered (Dayoub and Bashiruddin, 2012).

Westbrook, Shah, Durrani, Tikly, Khan, & Dunne (2009) conducted a joint study in which they assessed two schools for how they support and welcome in new teachers. The purpose of the study was to analyse pre-service trainings and see how such trainings relate to class. They observe that a lot of studies have indicated the irrelevancy of most training programmes and how they do not really benefit the teacher. They also mention that pre- and even in-service training is mostly exam focused and has not got much to help the teacher in matters of actual classroom practice. To evaluate the problem in its fullness, the researchers conducted a study with some Newly Qualified Teachers (NQTs) in the NWFP (now Khyber Pakhtunkhwa and Gilgit-Baltistan) province of Pakistan. The aim of the study is to analyse the experience of these new teachers and see how the school influences and is influenced by their transition into the teaching field (Westbrook et al., 2009).

In their discussions with the teachers, the researchers learnt that, first of all, the training is rather outdated and that it is based solely on western sources (Westbrook et al., 2009). In other words, not only is the latest research ignored, but no effort is made to study the local situation. The training considers mostly of discussions about "ideal classes" and practices without any regard for what exactly is present at the moment. It was noticed, also, that even though the new teachers were eager to try and import their training into the workplæe, the older teachers were hostile to this approach and were more comfortable with the older methods and procedures. In fact, even the head-teacher did not appreciate the attempts of the new teachers to add something new or even the fact that they were trying out a different approach. For the school, the new teacher's were simply energetic new folks who would calm down eventually and settle into the same hierarchical method that was used by their older peers (Westbrook et al., 2009).

Westbrook et al. also observed how lack of support and bad teaching conditions made it difficult to teach effectively, and the results were then used by older teachers to justify their reliance on older methodologies (Westbrook et al., 2009). The same issues faced by teachers after in-service training also added to the problem so that people who wanted to try out new styles and help in school-improvement could do nothing but be quelled by the opposition of both societal norms and views and the prevailing practices of the schools. Some of them tried, no doubt, to still push on, but not without a sever backlash from both society and the institution. It was also seen that while head-teachers and staff-members did have B.Ed degrees and boasted of knowing the latest models and methods, they themselves rarely implemented anything and their attitude was rather derogatory towards those who did try to change. In fact, of the teachers involved in the study said in no uncertain terms that the other teachers, despite all their claims to knowing, simply opposed progressive methods. When asked for a justification, they claimed that newer methodologies would disrupt discipline (Westbrook et al., 2009).

From this, we can see that even if a teacher is trained or does participate in development activities, he or she faces a considerable amount of resistance and has to navigate through a multitude of difficulties just to be able to implement what they have learnt. It shows that schools oftentimes do not make use of the latest research and that teachers who do try are often resisted and criticised by their seniors, thus making teacher development a rather difficult practice (Westbrook et al., 2009).

In an interesting study on the effectiveness of this process, Dilshad (2010) has tried to probe into what students perceive of teacher development and its benefits for the classroom. In his study, he points out that Pakistan has dealt with teacher education only at a quantitative level. That is, Pakistan is enrolling more and more teachers in various training programmes but no attention is being paid to the quality of these programmes. Thus, there are more teachers being trained but the quality of education is still low. Dilshad attempted to see whether the students agree with this, and for this he created a questionnaire asking the students of three schools and four university departments about the quality of five in-class factors: the learners (their health, ability, etcetra), the environment (including resources), the content, the process, and the outcomes. Based on the results, he tried to come up with an understanding of the teacher education programmes (Dilshad, 2010).

On the basis of the results, Dilshad concludes that while there is not much dissatisfaction regarding the learners (the average being above the satisfied mark), the other factors are not seen as satisfying. Students believe that the curricula are outdated, that the needs of students are not met, that teachers are unable to solve problems effectively and that their lectures are not clear. They also complained that most teacher training programmes are mechanical and ineffective. In other words, the overall situation in Pakistan is still one where the development

of teachers is not up to mark. And to top it all, this is something that is also felt by the students (Dilshad, 2010).

An interesting and informative case is discussed by Halai (2001) who participated in the professional development programme of the Aga Khan University. He recounts his experience as a "Professional Development Teacher" and shares the lessons which he learnt from one specific case. In the case being discussed, Halai worked as a sort of mentor with a mathematics teacher in a local school. His work consisted of co-teaching, planning discussions, lesson critiques, as well as critical discussions and journal-keeping (Halai, 2001).

While working with his colleague, Halai discovered that, first of all, Professional Development Teachers (or coaches) are seen mainly as "a problem solver, evaluator and supervisor" (Halai, 2001, p. 34). The problem with this view is that it engenders either mistrust (of evaluators) or else dependency on what is seen as a solution-giver. And the only way to successfully mentor a teacher is to move beyond that into the zone of friendship and mentoring (Halai, 2001). Thus, the first problem is to break the barrier and develop a feeling of trust and to avoid taking on the traditional stereotype.

Another problem which Halai noticed was that the syllabi come from external sources, and the need to interpret them in a personal, contextualised realisation has not been met. The lesson planning meetings also revealed that the teachers, though they had potential, were not motivated. In one specific situation, he learnt that the teacher he was working with was too dependent on the meetings and failed to interpret the syllabus without consultation. It was only after developing independency that she was able to do better. He also noticed that teachers who participated became friendlier with each other and looked to cooperation from colleagues and also that what truly made the programme successful was that it was school-based, meaning it was grounded in a context and that it sought to join research and experience together. This,

once again, points out that successful development programmes must be practical, long-term, and contextually driven programmes and not simply cases of theoretical discussion (Halai, 2001).

Not all studies, however, paint a negative image of the development programmes in Pakistan. Khamis and Sammons (2004) have conducted a study that is also based on the Agha Khan University's PDTs (Professional Development Teachers). They have studied how these "Professional Development Teachers," or teachers who are both teachers and teacher coaches, influence and bring about change. The study was made on the basis of surveys and questionnaires in order to judge the effectiveness of this programme and it paints an overall positive picture for the readers (Khamis& Sammons, 2004).

The specialty of the programme which they study is that the Agha Khan University is trying to produce a teacher training that is context friendly, which is also why they are preparing PDTs (Professional Development Teachers) that can operate inside the school (Khamis& Sammons, 2004). Thus, the idea is that the development process would no longer be decontextualised and would thus become more effective. Another reason this was done was to make Development more than a workshop, to bring it inside the school. In other words, it was an attempt at "practical" development which was to replace the old practice of theoretical discussion. And so, by studying the PDTs and their influence, the study concludes that there has been an overall improvement in the teaching situation and that PDTs are managing to bring positive changes to their schools (Khamis& Sammons, 2004).

It was noted, for example, that schools where PDTs remained for a long time would implement more innovative techniques and would be more receptive to new research as compared to schools where the PDTs did not stay for long (Khamis& Sammons, 2004). In one case, it was observed that the early leaving of a PDT actually caused a head-teacher to revert to the old

methods because "she had no one with whom to generate ideas" (Khamis& Sammons, 2004, p. 259). This would indicate that even in a situation where a PDT is working in a school, the developmental process is actually a long-term thing wherein one or more teachers have to take on the responsibility of assisting the school in its transition. But as long as there are people to keep the process going, the influence of the developmental process can be seen in the school as well (Khamis& Sammons, 2004).

Of course, the PDTs also faced some initial difficulties, but the overall conclusion would be that a project such as that initiated by the Agha Khan University, which involves both active participation and long-term interaction and participation, had an overall good effect. The idea of the PDT, employed successfully, can become a good source of change and improvement. Thus, we can see that this study shows a shift from the comparatively bleak view to a more positive approach to development (Khamis& Sammons, 2004).

Following up on this study, Khamis and Sammons (2007) conducted another study of the same developmental programme organised by the Agha Khan University. The focus, however, has shifted from the impact of Professional Development Teachers to the importance and effect of the development programme itself. The study analyses the situation by studying nine schools and their developmental activities. It looks at how, by building on the initiatives highlighted in the earlier study, the Agha Khan University has planned for improving schools through professional development and how this plan can and is further effecting the situation.

The Agha Khan Foundation's project being studied here is somewhat different from other isolated development programmes. This project (Khamis& Sammons, 2007) deals with individual schools, that is, with the entire staff and institution and not just with individual teachers. Secondly, it deals with teacher in their own classes, using what can be called a "clinical" method. Thirdly, it emphasises the importance of the role played by head teachers.

And finally, it seeks to implement student-centred strategies and to show that they do not hinder their progress in any way. In order to do this, they set up research-based partnerships with various schools and work in the schools in a context specific manner.

In order to observe this programme and its effects, Khamis and Sammons (2007) studied some schools and how their partnership with the Agha Khan institution fostered and whether they appreciated their PDTs or not. An ideal situation, they observe, would involve a cooperative and critically aware school as well as a systematic and constant updating within the school institution itself. But in the specific cases studied, neither the school not the PDTs were able to choose appropriate roles. In fact, this lack of prioritisation actually allowed some PDTs to flee from any classroom responsibility, which, in the end, would defeat the whole purpose of inclass "clinical" development. Furthermore, the PDTs' clashes with the heads often tend to make them more idealistic in their thinking and result in their leaving the schools, and the specific context as well as the non-availability of resources has to be considered. As a result, the Agha Khan Foundation is itself now changing the nature of its programme. It would seem, however, that such an idealistic programme and school-based development plan could not work in every situation, especially one where roles are still confused, resources are low, and authority and cooperation are still major issues.

Khamis and Sammons (2007), as they make these observations, also mention that most of the literature on Teacher Education is based on American or English contexts. This would also explain why methods often seen as successful or new might fail, as they did in this extended plan of the Agha Khan Foundation, because of contextual differences. Based on this, they suggest that local and context-specific researches and development programmes should be developed for better results in these endeavours.

Another, older, study of the Agha Khan initiatives is that of Ali, Qasim, Jaffer, & Greenland (1993). This study looks at two separate cases and how, in these cases, the issues which we saw emerging above were dealt with by the people involved. This study looks, on the one hand, at the Agha Khan Education Service's School Improvement Plan, and, on the other hand, at the Karachi Teachers' Resource Centre.

The first case they analyse is that of the Teachers' Resource Centre (TRC). The goal of this initiative was to deal with issues of methodology, teacher knowledge and motivation, and school resources, etc. Long term change, it was noted, would require all of the schools to collectively work for betterment. There was also a need to professionalise the vision of teaching that was present among teachers and among the general public. Furthermore, there was a need for proper interaction to enable teachers to evolve properly and not live a boring and ridiculously tiring teaching life. For this, they also needed to establish a feeling of trust and comradeship between the schools and to deal with the prevailing sense of competition (Ali et al., 1993).

Thus, aided by the Agha Khan Foundation and having originally very less research-base, the TRC worked by bringing teachers together on a friendly note and having them discuss and share their experience. This not only allowed teachers to benefit from each others' knowledge, but also allowed them to get rid of the isolationist model of teaching. As time passed, the TRC developed workshops, published journals, and conducted various other activities. The overall focus on teacher interaction stayed, however, probably to bolster the teachers' confidence and to involve their practical knowledge, which is most important in a teacher's life (Ali et al., 1993).

As a result of this, many changes were observed. For instance, a school in the area usually gave teachers a list of goals and a textbook and the teacher thought of him or herself as a source of

knowledge. But schools involved in the project were more cooperative more considerate, and the teachers worked together, helped each other, enjoyed their work, and even voiced their own views. The TRC has managed to reduce the hierarchical structure of the local schools and has made the environment more cooperative and congenial to teaching and learning. It also managed to improve the teachers' view of themselves and made them more motivated. The performance of the teachers in TRC courses is, in fact, not even graded or evaluated. The overall focus has been on improvement and cooperation, and the TRC seems to be successful overall (Ali et al., 1993).

The second case Ali et al. (1993) observe is the School Improvement Plan of the Agha Khan Education service. We have already seen some of the Agha Khan Foundations' initiatives, both in cases where they were successful and where they were not, in some of the previously cited studies. In this study, the authors deal with some of the Agha Khan Education Services' developmental activities that have fostered cooperation and have led to better performances at an institutional level. The Agha Khan Education Service (AKES) began by attempting certain reorientation sessions for teachers and with staff changes, but as their consultant pointed out, this did not help because the hierarchy is too autocratic and careers are undefined. It was also pointed out that teachers lack a proper understanding of student psychology and there is little or no cooperation (Ali et al., 1993).

Hoping to improve education by creating an independent and self-managing school staff system, the AKES started to introduce workshops as well as teacher get-togethers and proper career structures in schools. This gave responsibilities and roles to teachers as well as allowed them the will and the freedom to experiment, try, and express. Oftentimes, there were objections and entire career positions had to be defined and justified. The AKES was trying to foster cooperation and that required an entire restructuring of the way schools and teachers

thought. They introduced courses for teachers, courses for staff and curricula management, as well as course for head teachers, managers, and others. Eventually, room was created for free consultation, discussion, and cooperative work, though cases remained of uncooperative management or heads disrupting or even halting development attempts. Also, teachers began to demand time—free periods—for planning, meeting, and discussing various issues and schools were forced to restructure their ridiculously over-packed routines (Ali et al., 1993).

Overall, both programmes seemed to foster cooperation and bolstered both the motivation and the performance of the teachers. Schools were restructured and the vision of teaching of teachers and other people involved was changed. Doing so, the projects had an overall positive impact, though specific cases of failure or negative results did exist. The conclusion of the authors is that both individual and collective efforts are necessary for successful and enjoyable teaching careers. Furthermore, development is not just in various centres, but is a constant presence in the school environment. Teachers can only benefit from such practices and do well in their careers if they break their isolation and create a well-planned and balanced structure in school with an appropriate system of rewards and responsibilities. This goal, though extremely idealistic and difficult, can nevertheless be striven for with positive and motivating results (Ali et al., 1993).

Retallick and Mithani (2003) observed the impact of the Agha Khan University's Advanced Diploma in School Management (ADISM) on two different schools. They conducted the study by looking at two separate cases where graduates from this diploma tried to bring changes to their schools. The method employed was that of Action Research. The goal of the ADISM programme was to engage the participants in critical reflection over their schools' management, to better understand the internal dynamics of organisations, to develop better management skills, and to develop the ability to conduct critical action research and construct on-the-spot

development ideas and plans. The goal of the study was to look at two cases in order to determine how successful the programme had been in fostering better management skills and practices (Retallick & Mithani, 2003).

The first case was of a private school which, by looks of it, seemed impressive both on the outside and within. The building was well cared-for and colourful, the teachers were involved in active discussion, and there was a professional development centre within the building. The school claimed that it wished to create critical thinkers and able learners. The person in-charge of the development process had been trying to implement what she had learnt from the ADISM programme, and was also considering development workshops for her teachers. For example, she wished to engage the teacher in critical reflection, but the teachers had no idea what reflection involved, thus the need for a workshop on this specific concept. The authors also discussed how the teachers and the principal seemed to be benefiting from the process. Over the time-span of four visits, the authors also observed how the teachers and the school had grown. There were some issues with parents who did not like the new methods, but the impressions and the journal entries of the teachers suggested they were improving (Retallick & Mithani, 2003).

The second school observed also showed some changes. The head observed, for example, that she now engaged in mentoring, syllabus reviewing, and other developmental activities. She also mentioned that assignments and assessments had become much more systematic. She also gave the parents greater access to the classrooms, allowing them to observe and assess the teaching process and gauge their children's progress. The authors also observed the mentoring lesson of the head-teacher, who, though she had no former experience of this practice, had had some informal engagement with it. However, since the head in this case was not the principal, but only the head of a small portion, and also because the areas where the school was situated

did not make it easy to attract good teachers, the job of the head in this case was perhaps more difficult than in the first case (Retallick & Mithani, 2003).

By studying both the cases, Retallick and Mithani (2003) conclude that the programme had impacted these teachers in significant ways. For example, they point out that the heads moved from an authoritarian role to a more engaging and participatory one. They now engaged freely with their teachers, considered their ideas and opinions, and even participated in the whole school-running process. The practices of reflection and mentoring have also become a major part of their schools and are helping them to improve their teaching. The schools are facing some difficulties but the faculties seem to be facing these problems with a solid resolve. Overall, it might be concluded that the programme had a positive impact on these schools, and the heads seem confident they will be able to improve (Retallick & Mithani, 2003).

Rizvi and Elliot (2005) conducted a study in which they studied how development programmes have affected teacher's perceptions of their professionalism. They conclusion derived is that professional development programmes and school reform policies do influence teacher perceptions and that they do create a sense of professionalism. This, in return, influences the teachers to keep on improving and to develop a situation of constant professional development (Rizvi& Elliot, 2005).

While conducting this research, the authors reduced the idea of teacher professionalism to four main components: efficacy, practice, collaboration, and leadership. The first they define as the ability and the confidence that enables one to act what one believes and learns. The other three, practice, collaboration and leadership, have more to do with the actual acting out and performance of the teachers in a school environment. It involves the actual process of teaching, working together as a team, and the management of professional learning communities where a body of teachers helps each other to grow and teach. Based on this concept, the authors then

prepared a questionnaire through which they tried to gauge these factors. Using the data thus acquired, they tried to see how development programmes affected the teachers involved (Rizvi& Elliot, 2005).

They noticed, for example, that in terms of efficacy, teachers who were actively involved in the process of educational reform and teacher development showed a considerable amount of confident in their abilities as well as their ability to improve the overall school system. They also showed the ability to act out what they had learnt and to perform well in class. In fact, teachers who were involved in these activities not only had good attitudes towards their given responsibilities but also were able to associate with students in a friendly way. In fact, even the dimensions of collaboration and leadership showed considerable improvement and the teachers seemed to be performing better in the overall professional situation. In other words, the professional life of teachers was influenced and affected in all four major areas and showed considerable improvement. From this, they concluded that development activities have an overall positive effect in engendering a sense of professionalism which can then lead the teachers a long way and motivate them to keep going (Rizvi& Elliot, 2005).

Rarieya (2005) came up with a study in which she engaged four teachers with reflective dialogue. Her study was intended to pass off this technique as an alternative to the theory focussed, decontextualised development methods used in Pakistan. She engaged the group through one-on-one discussions, journal writing and sharing, and group discussions and questioning (Rarieya, 2005).

When she began the project, however, the teachers were somewhat reserved and were unwilling to experiment. In order to get them to respond, the coach had to initially give off the feel of having "expert knowledge" (Rarieya, 2005). She had to begin in a sort of formal coaching manner and demonstrate through model lessons that the alternative she is suggesting does work.

Eventually, she was able to get results as the teachers began to engage actively in discussions. At the same time, she also noticed that the personal lives of the teachers also affected the development process. One of the teachers she was working with in fact dropped out because her family life made it difficult for her to cope. And among the teachers who did remain, the one with more motivation and willingness showed more improvement than the rest (Rarieya, 2005).

Also, when they began to accept the methodology, the teachers initially relied too much on the coach and it took some time and encouragement to actually get them to work on their own (Rarieya, 2005). Rarieya also noticed that before being able to engage the teachers in a dialogue, she had to teach them about what the lesson plan was because the whole idea was unclear to them. In other words, she learnt that the programme must be flexible enough to be modified according to the teachers' needs and that some teachers may need some theoretical instruction alongside practical learning. Based on the overall improvement, however, she was able to conclude that reflective dialogue is a viable alternative to traditional development methods and that its active, involving, flexible, and in-context nature makes it a good way to engage teachers in critical practice (Rarieva, 2005).

A similar study has also been reported by Ashraf and Rarieya (2008). Like the previous study, this one involved a group of teachers in discussing their performance, with or without the help of a coach, in a way that allowed them to better understand their practice and which stimulated deliberate critical thought. The study involved two English Language teachers and a reflective coach and it was situated in Karachi. It involved a pre-intervention, an intervention, and a post-intervention phase, and the basic method involved discussions based on classroom incidents and practices (Ashraf & Rarieya, 2008).

During the sessions, the authors initially observed that the teachers were not trusting them and also that they were unable to identify critical incidents and issues. Eventually, however, they began to open up and developed both the ability and the willingness to be critical of their practices, not only identifying problem areas but even trying to find out what exactly went wrong and why. They began to identify gaps in their concepts and started to restructure their knowledge, and they even began to share strategies and techniques and began researching into learning and teaching methods on their own (Ashraf & Rarieya, 2008). It was also noticed that the teaching coach needs to be flexible and fluid, probing at times, developing trust, and getting to actually know the teachers and to let them feel comfortable and accepted. It was noted that trust and attitude are extremely important for such group discussions to be successful and also that development is a gradual process that slowly takes effect. Overall, it seems, the experiment was successful and it created a sense of critical inquiry in the teachers (Ashraf & Rarieya, 2008).

In another study by Rizvi (2008), the author considers the role of the principal in the process of development. Based in Karachi, this research studied how the various roles that can be adopted by the principal play a role in the development and the lives of teachers. The author explains that even though recent studies have started to look at leadership in school communities, Pakistan is still lacking in studies related to this area. The model adopted by principals is mostly the same classical model which reproduced a factory-like hierarchy in the school; the principal was seen as a figure of authority that could not be questioned and which represented supreme control (Rizvi, 2008).

However, with recent changes in policy and newer researches that challenge this position, the role of the principal has started, though with some reluctance, to change. Also, the influence of the principal in the school community is important, and so the position is seen as central to

school change and development. Thus, the author has conducted a bunch of case studies to see how various modes of principal-ship can affect the performance and development of the teachers. The schools chosen for the study were those which the society seemed so think of as "good." By observing these cases and conducting detailed studies, the author was able to draw the following conclusions (Rizvi, 2008).

In all of these schools, seen in society as "good" schools, the principals involved their teachers in decision-making plans. In other words, they did not assume the classical position of "principal." Rather, the principal would, in this case, consult their teachers, discuss, involve, and also "distribute leadership among the staff" (Rizvi, 2008, p. 90). Due to this, teachers developed more confidence and were able to engage more actively and enthusiastically in development activities. In other words, by decentralising authority and dissolving the traditional principal role, these schools were able to create communities of learning where teachers and students participated more actively than before (Rizvi, 2008). Doing this created a situation which encouraged developmental activities and an environment where teachers could more actively try out new techniques and methodologies. And though the exact realisation of this differed in each case, it was seen to have an overall positive impact. Thus, the author concludes, the role of the principal is an important part of the development process, and the principal that is most understanding and who involves, understands, and trusts his or her teachers will get better results in such developmental activities (Rizvi, 2008).

Khattak and Abbasi (2010) conducted a study on CALL (Computer Assisted Language Learning) trainings and whether they have benefitted teachers in their professional development or not. These trainings were conducted by the Higher Education Commission (HEC) of Pakistan under the ELTR (English Language Teaching Reforms) project. In order to find out whether these were successful or not, Khattak and Abbasi (2010) conducted a series

of interviews in order to gauge the opinion of the participants and, in a subsequent interview, whether or not they had affected their teaching practices in any way. The method of teaching being taught to the teachers (CALL) is concerned seeks to use computers in order to enhance and to make more interactive the learning process. However, the implementation of this method involves both the technology and the ability and the enthusiasm of the teacher (Khattak & Abbasi, 2010).

However, when Khattak and Abbasi (2010) interviewed the teachers, they discovered that the programme had not been managed effectively. There had been no proper selection criteria when inviting teachers to the programme. Most of them had simply been sent by their districts or departments and were of the opinion that they would be unable to implement it in their own class. Despite that, however, it would seem that the teachers were excited and pleased to take part (they were highly motivated) and many of them were satisfied with the training they then received (Khattak & Abbasi, 2010).

Later on, Khattak and Abbasi (2010) conducted another interview and, based on that, commented on whether or not the study had been successful and how it could be improved. They learnt, for example, that most of the teachers had been unable to implement CALL. The reasons given were various: some of them complained that the education system did not allow it, some said that students and institutions are too fearful of the internet's drawbacks, others were held by the examination system or by the absence of required technology, still others were not free to experiment with their class. Thus, most of the teachers could not benefit from the new methodology they had learnt (Khattak & Abbasi, 2010).

Despite that, some teachers did find the training fruitful. These included those who had access to a lab or were able to discuss the training with their colleagues. Naturally, having a lab or being able to discuss with others would enable the use of the new method or, in the latter case,

to be able to critically discuss and derive new ideas from the experience. There was also an interviewee who believed that the teachers who took part had gained more confidence and felt more "up-to-date." Off course, this was not everyone, for there were teachers who were disappointed because they could not make use of the method. Based on these observations, Khattak and Abbasi (2010) suggest that a better selection criterion should be adopted and also that there is a need to ensure the availability of resources if we do not want to waste our training efforts on people who cannot use it and will thus simply forget it later on.

Another study related to the HEC's ELTR project was conducted by Khattak, Abbasi, and Ahmad (2011) in the following year. The study aimed to look at the effectiveness of the programmes as it was perceived by the participants. It made use of a questionnaire in order to gauge the situation. The programme in question was an initiative of the Testing and Evaluation Sub-committee of the ELTR project, which seeks to improve the overall situation in matters related to testing and examinations. The author's, however, do not find the programme to have been as successful as expected (Khattak, Abbasi, & Ahmad, 2011).

In their analysis, the authors point out that the teachers were not selected for the programme on the basis of a needs analysis or a merit system. In fact, in a programme designed for improving English Language Teaching, the nominated/selected participants included teachers who did *not* teach English at all. A large amount of trainees, however, were pleased with the programme and many of them gave positive comments suggesting that the syllabus was up-to-date, that the trainers were cooperative, and that they had gotten adequate theoretical and practical instruction. Despite this, however, it was also observed that the actual impact of the training was minimal. It had brought some changes, and positive ones, to the teachers' practices, but much of what they had taught could not be implemented at all (Khattak, Abbasi. & Ahmad, 2011).

In fact, when discussing the impact of this training, the authors mentioned that there were teachers who had themselves not felt any change at all. In many cases, their institutions did not allow innovations or else the resources were not present. There were also cases where the workload did not allow them to consider the prospect. As for those who did feel a change, they mostly talked about student-centredness, interaction, and being knowledgeable. In short, the authors conclude, the training programmes benefitted some teachers in some ways, but they did not achieve much in terms of their goals, nor did they achieve much in the area of testing and assessment, which was their main focus (Khattak, Abbasi, & Ahmad, 2011).

Thus, they conclude, the training programmes might have been somewhat beneficial, but they were not as successful as they could have been. The authors' suggestions, in this case, are to develop a better selection criterion, to make the programme more practical and need based, to provide resources, and to make assessment a more frequent issue in development programmes (Khattak, Abbasi, & Ahmad, 2011).

Ali (2011) conducted a study on the developmental concept of "Communities of Practice". His focus, in other words is on the informal elements of development, where teachers, though interaction, discussion, and support are able to nurture an environment which leads to betterment and improvement. No doubt, this also includes such things as leadership and cooperation in the formal realm as well, but it extends beyond that into the informal realm and does not just stick to the formal. The study is based on a project in the KPK province of Pakistan and seeks to show that such informal "Communities" are an essential part of development and improvement. These communities, he says, are a means to learn socially, and to question, discuss, and thus grow. Furthermore, they engender a sense of belonging and thus also develop a sense of identity and worth. Thus, they are a part of organisations that have and always will be present in each and every institution (Ali, 2011).

In the case being studied, the author looked at a case of teacher training where the KPK province of Pakistan trained a large number of teachers for the job. In this project, the method of training adopted (called "cluster based training" by the author) allowed the teachers to form certain informal friendships. Furthermore, these "clusters" were often based on similar subjects thus creating smaller sub-communities that circled around a subject. The overall result, because of this, was positive. Student performance was enhanced and even teachers who lacked in subject knowledge or pedagogical skill were able to benefit from their peers and thus develop into better teachers. Not to mention, since these friendships were informal and quite close, teachers did not have to worry about much when they asked their peers for help. Furthermore, such a methodology can be employed even with less resources and the formation of informal communities encourages continued development even after the programme ends. Thus, by creating such communities, we can ensure the long-term and continued involvement of teachers, which is essential if we want development to be successful (Ali, 2011).

#### Conclusion

From the quick review of our sources, we can see that the English is the language of power and of education in Pakistan and is a means to success. Unfortunately, however, language education is lacking in Pakistan and students are lacking in their language skills. Most language teaching practices focus on exams and on the rote learning of grammar and words and have nothing to do with the actual development of linguistic skill and ability.

We have also discussed the importance of teacher development programmes and why these programmes should be regularly evaluated and improved. We have considered the various methodologies for doing this and also the basic principles behind this practice. We have also considered how and why these activities might be analysed, evaluated, and then modified based on this analysis. We have also considered various models and methodologies which can be used for this evaluation.

Finally, we have looked at development processes overall and in context of Pakistan. We have seen that the Teacher Development practices in Pakistan are somewhat lacking and that there is a strong need to develop integrated methodologies that involve teachers in active and reflective teaching. We have also seen that there are some people who are trying to do exactly this and are to some extent successful in their work. We have also considered some examples of this practice, and from these examples, have been able to conclude that even if the current state of teacher training and language education is not so pleasing, there is room enough to improve and that effective measures can be taken to ensure better conditions in the future.

Overall, we have seen that an effective development programme must ensure that the developmental process will continue to be a part of the teachers' lives and that it will come to penetrate their professional life in a way that it comes to be an essential part of it. Only then, when it comes to be a long-term and involving process, can it be truly effective in improving the learning community.

Finally, having discussed all that, we might want to ask whether there is a need for us to conduct another analysis if, from our reading, we can see that there are a number of studies which the reader can benefit from? The answer to this question is yes. The need for "another" evaluation is necessitated by a number of facts. First among them is the fact that teaching is not a stable practice, no one case study or evaluation can be considered permanent or applicable to all situations. Earlier, in our analysis, we had discussed a few cases of the Agha Khan initiative dealing with development of teachers, and we saw both cases where it succeeded and where it had failed. Evaluation, though it gives us a lot of insight and develops our understanding, is always individual and unique and as such cannot be deemed unnecessary or called just "another" evaluation, for it will analyse a specific situation in trying to improve it. Also, teaching and teaching practices change over time, and as such there is a need for us to keep

analysing and to keep improving as the situation alters. If one report said that the changes are successful and gives further suggestions, then a few years later, a newer analysis will tell us what we need to do next. As such, evaluation can never be old, unnecessary, or unneeded.

Secondly, it should be mentioned that most of these studies deal with a specific area, situation, or case. Dilshad (2010) and Rarieya (2005), for example, deal with two specific elements—the opinion of students and the application of a specific technique respectively. Similarly, Halai (2001), Khamis and Sammons (2004), and others have written on the Agha Khan initiative. Also, these studies are mostly school-based and general. Only a few (Khattak & Abbasi, 2010; Khattak, Abbasi, & Ahmad, 2011) deal with English Language teaching and even then, there is little or no mention of ELT in universities. It would also be noticed in a thorough reading of these sources that most of these studies are based in areas like Karachi or, in a few cases, the NWFP province (now called Kyber Pakhtunkwa).

Thus, it cannot be said in any way that the current evaluation is repetitive. Not only is evaluation something that cannot be "old," but our analysis deals with English language teachers in the universities of the Federal Capital, and as such it is different from the others. It, first of all, deals with ELT, which was not touched upon much in these studies. Secondly, it is based in the federal capital and it focuses on university teachers. And finally, the previous studies were mainly case studies based on small incidents or particular schools or programmes, while our study aims to look at the development activities of university English language teachers, and as such it is an evaluation of a different kind. Furthermore, this analysis tries to deal with as many factors as it was possible to include, and it tries to come up with a more complete analysis which can help in the on-going practice of development and evaluation and thus help teachers and researchers in the future.

#### CHAPTER THREE

# Research Methodology

Research methodology is an essential element of any research inquiry. It helps us hypothesize and resolve a research problem. It actually supports us to plan in detail how research is steered methodically. This chapter describes in detail the complete research design that has been used to conduct this research. Having taken into consideration the research design and the research questions of the study, the chapter also expounds the conceptualization and rationalization for the research process implemented by the researcher. The chapter also puts forward a thorough description of the research tools exploited to gather data alongside their logic for the purposes of conducting this research. Furthermore, the procedures for the data analysis based on the requirements of the present study are also elaborated.

# Design of the Research

For carrying out any research, the choice of a suitable research design is very important. It is because it helps to interlace the research objectives and questions with the research design; it also helps to amass data with appropriate research tools from the required population in order to resolve a research problem in a realistic way (Creswell, 2012).

Educational research prefers to use qualitative and quantitative designs, or a blend of both. The difference between the two, according to Best & Kahn (1998), lies in numbers. While the former gives the details of events and persons without using any numerical data, the latter does so through the use of numerical data. Furthermore, whereas the quantitative research attempts to quantify and measure variables and factors, the qualitative research tries to gain an insight into the phenomenon being studied.

The qualitative research is further divided into ethnographic and descriptive research (Seliger & Shohamy, 1989). Ethnographic research adopts holistic approach and typically commences

with few preconceived ideas or assumptions about the data. On the other hand, descriptive research starts with predetermined hypotheses and a narrower scale of enquiry. Both of these research designs aim at exploring and expounding a phenomenon in naturally occurring contexts, without experimental manipulation (Mohamed, 2006: 63).

The present study employs a mixed-method approach—a blend of both qualitative and quantitative methods of research. It fits into the descriptive research design as it intends to explore and describe systematically, factually and accurately the qualities of a preconceived phenomenon (i.e. teachers' professional development practices) in a naturally occurring context (i.e. in federal capital universities of Pakistan) through questionnaire and interview-based survey data of individual teachers.

This study is *exploratory* and *evaluative* in nature. As stated earlier, it intends to explore and evaluate professional development practices of English language teachers working in federal capital universities of Pakistan. Exploration and evaluation are ubiquitous actions directed by people in all walks of life, and their significance in language teaching and learning is of greatest implication. These actions, indeed, offer data to make educated decisions for the efficacy and usefulness of any programme or course of study (Brandon & Sam, 2014). An evaluative enquiry is well-defined as a "systematic assessment of the operation and/or the outcomes of a program (of study) or policy, compared to a set of explicit or implicit standards, as a means of contributing to the improvement of the program or policy (Weiss, 1998, p. 4).

#### Validity, reliability and trustworthiness

The trustworthiness of the research, and hence its findings, is ensured by addressing the issues of validity and reliability. While reliability is the demonstration of the extent to which an instrument or data collection procedure is consistent, validity is the quality or standard of the data collection procedure that makes possible for it to measure what it aims to measure (Best

& Kahn, 1998). The issues of validity and reliability relate to the principles of truthfulness—credibility to internal validity, transferability to external validity, dependability to reliability and confirmability to objectivity (Denzin& Lincoln, 2000). I shall now discuss how each of these principles relates to the present study.

# Credibility

The principle of credibility refers to an accurate account of what happened. According to Lincoln &Guba (1985), a credible study is required to have an evidence of lengthy engagement in the field. As for this study, data was collected in about seven months. The participants from all the universities took five months to complete and return the survey questionnaire and approximately two months were spent on conducting interviews. In addition to this, I contacted a number of senior teachers during the process of designing and piloting the research instruments: questionnaire and interview guide.

The principle of triangulation is often referred to as an important means of validating aspects of a qualitative study. It not only compensates for the constraints of the sole data collection methods but also lessens the effects of possible researcher bias in analysing and interpreting qualitative data. According to Denzin& Lincoln (2000), there are three major kinds of triangulation: data triangulation, investigator triangulation and methodological triangulation. To put it more simply, if different sources of data, different investigators and different methods all produce relatively similar results, there are chances for a greater degree of credibility.

Triangulation for the study was achieved in three different ways. As the data for the study comes from a considerable number of participants (109 English language teachers of federal capital universities of Pakistan), hence it is data triangulation; collected using two different methods such as questionnaire and interviews (method triangulation) in a period of almost seven months (time triangulation).

## **Transferability**

Transferability is the application of the findings from a study to some other contexts and settings. This is made possible by providing readers with a rich, thick description to let them determine the extent to which this situation matches theirs and if the findings of this study can be transferred to their settings or contexts. In addition, diversity, and thereby generalizability, is created by collecting data from almost all federal capital universities of Pakistan, both public and private and from both male and female teachers.

## **Dependability**

Dependability is the degree of reliability and consistency the data and interpretation demonstrate. According to Mohamed (2006), dependability 'pertains to the importance of being open through reflexivity and accounting to the changes to the study that arose during the research process. This study also underwent some changes, the primary being not incorporating what was considered to be an important source of data at the beginning. This was evaluation of Higher Education Commission Pakistan's ELTR (English Language Teaching Reforms) project as it would have created far more data than was required for a study of this proportion. Some changes were also made in terms of sample sizes. Initially, the survey questionnaire was to be completed by all English language teachers of the federal capital universities and 20 teachers, out of them, were to be interviewed. As all teachers did not cooperate in completing the questionnaire, thus the sample sizes were reduced to 109 and 10 respectively.

# Confirmability

Confirmability is the extent to which research results can be confirmed or verified by others. This is realised by providing a thorough description of how data was collected and how decision were arrived at throughout the inquiry. Instances of how data is analysed and coding is done are presented in the text and interpretations are substantiated with citations from the available research.

## **Population and Sampling**

#### **Survey Study**

At the time of data collection, the population and sample for the survey questionnaire were the English language teachers working in the federal capital universities of Pakistan. The universities in the federal capital (Islamabad) include: National University of Modern Languages, International Islamic University, Air University, National University of Computer and Emerging Sciences, Shaheed Zulfiqar Ali Bhutto Institute of Science and Technology, COMSATS, Bahria University and Quaid-e-Azam University. The reason for including the entire population in the survey was to make sure that the results obtained were as generalizable as possible. Although the questionnaire was given to all English language teachers in these universities, the questionnaires completed were 109 in all. As stated earlier, the sample for interviews consisted of 20 teachers at the time of data collection. However, it was also reduced to 10 when less number of completed questionnaires were received.

## Sources of Data

Gathering dependable data for any research inquiry is, indeed, a stimulating charge. It is because all research instruments have advantages and disadvantages, which demand from the researcher to painstakingly think and rethink about them. The researcher is required to make right decisions taking into consideration the research objectives and questions (Groom & Littlemore, 2011). Thus, the researcher decided to utilize two different data collection tools to answer his research questions. These tools also helped him to triangulate the data. The research tools were:

- i. Questionnaire
- ii. Structured open-ended interviews

#### Questionnaire

A questionnaire is a research instrument used to obtain data from a large number of participants (Brown, 2001). According to MacDonald, Badger, & White (2001), questionnaires have made

regular appearances in the studies of teachers' beliefs and practices. Questionnaires are used to gather both quantitative and qualitative data. However, the questionnaire used for this study was meant to obtain quantitative data only as it contained 45 close-ended questions and statements which required teachers either to choose from the options provided (in the case of section 2 of the questionnaire) or respond to the statements on a given 5 point likert scale. The survey questionnaire designed for the study had two main objectives. Firstly, it aimed to explore professional development practices of English language teachers working in the federal capital universities. Secondly, it attempted to determine the extent to which these practices were effective. The instrument was particularly designed to obtain answers to the following research questions:

- 1. What professional development programs or activities do English language teachers of the federal capital universities take part in?
- 2. To what extent are these PD programs/activities effective?
- 3. What measures can be taken to improve future PD endeavours?

The validity for the content of this research instrument was established through a review by experts and a pilot test. The experts (5 senior teachers of International Islamic University Islamabad and National University of Modern Languages Islamabad) were requested to provide the researcher with their feedback on the clarity, suitability and validity of the instrument. Following their recommendations, the instrument was modified slightly. These modifications included the question wording, the organisation of questions and addition of some new questions.

Next, the revised questionnaire was piloted in three federal capital universities by 15 teachers.

Apart from completing the questionnaire, these teachers were also asked to highlight any complexities or ambiguities in the instrument. Some more changes were made in the instrument

based on these teachers' feedback. For example, the title of the thesis was added in the covering letter. Instructions for the second section of the questionnaire were revised and made clear. Finally, some new questions were also added in one or two subsections of the questionnaire.

The final 9 page questionnaire (see appendix A for the questionnaire) used for the study was divided into three different sections/parts. Section 1 of the questionnaire was included to obtain personal information about the participants. This information helped me carry out a cross tabulation analysis to determine if the gender and teaching experience of the teachers had any relationship with their professional development practices. Section 2 of the questionnaire, consisted of 14 questions, was designed to elicit responses that would provide information about the current professional development practices of English language teachers working in federal capital universities of Pakistan.

Section 3 of the questionnaire sought information through which we could evaluate the professional development practices of English language teachers working in the federal capital universities of Pakistan. This section comprises 5 levels, based on the evaluation model proposed by Thomas Guskey (2000) in his work *Evaluating Professional Development*.

Level 1, Participants' reaction, measures participants' initial satisfaction with the professional development experience. Level 2, Participants' learning, aims at measuring participants' learning from the professional development programs and activities they took part in. Level 3 of the model, Organizational support and change, attempts to document and improve organizational support and sheds light on the future change efforts. Level 4, Participants' use of new knowledge and skills, was meant to measure the degree and quality of implementing new knowledge and skills. Level 5, Student learning outcomes, attempts to measure the effect of teachers' professional development practices on students' learning. This section required the

respondents to rate each statement in it on a given five-point likert scale ranging from 'Strongly disagree' to 'Strongly agree'.

Table 2 Five Critical Levels of Professional Development Evaluation

Evaluation Level	Questions to be Answered	Measure	What is Measured?
1 Participant's Reactions	Did they like it? Was their time well spent? Did the material make sense? Was the leader knowledgeable and helpful? Was the room the right temperature & the refreshments tasty?	Questionnaires or surveys administered at end of session	Initial satisfaction with the experience
2 Participants' Learning	Did participants acquire the intended knowledge and skills?	Simulations. Demonstrations. Participant reflections. Participant portfolios.	New knowledge Sc skills of participants
3 Organisational Support and Change	Were sufficient resources made available? Were problems addressed quickly and efficiently? Was implementation advocated, facilitated & supported? W ere successes recognized and shared? W as the support public and overt? What was the impact on the organization? Did it affect organizational climate and procedures?	Minutes from follow-up meetings. Questionnaires. Structured interviews with participants & district or school administrators. District and school records. Participant portfolios.	To document Sc improve organizational support. To inform future change efforts.
4 Participants' Use of New Knowledge & Skills	Did participants apply the new knowledge and skills?	Questionnaires. Structured interviews Participant reflections. Participant portfolios. Direct observations/video/audiotapes	Degree and quality of implementation
5 Student Learning Outcomes	Did it affect student performance or achievement? Did it influence student's well-being? Are students more confident as learners? Is Student Attendance improving? Are dropouts decreasing?	Student/school records Questionnaires. Interviews with students, parents, teachers, and/or administrators. Participant portfolios.	Student learning Cognitive. Affective Psychomotor.

Note. Taken from Guskey (2000)

#### **Interviews**

Interviewing is another useful tool employed to elicit people's points of view, beliefs, and attitudes. Owing to its interactive nature, interviewing has many advantages over other data collection tools (Best & Kahn, 1998).

Interviews can be structured or unstructured, open-ended or close-ended. While in structured open-ended interviews the wording of the questions is predetermined, in unstructured open-ended interviews, it is thought of during the interview. Two types of questions are asked in structured open-ended interviews: basic questions and clarification questions (Best & Kahn, 1998). Whereas all interviewees are asked the basic questions, the clarification questions are asked only if some kind of clarification in the responses of the basic questions is required.

The present study chose one-to-one interviewing as one of the main methods for data collection. The method was chosen for two reasons. Firstly, as stated earlier, interviewing is envisaged as a powerful tool to explore people's beliefs and practices. By asking clarification questions to probe the responses to the questions in the questionnaire, it is anticipated that some different responses would be elicited. These responses were then compared with the responses stated in the questionnaire.

Secondly, interviewing enabled me to develop a rapport with the teachers which greatly helped me in having a healthy friendly relationship throughout the project. Such a rapport helped to explore in detail respondents' professional development practices; details that might not have been possible to access simply through questionnaires.

Ten interviews were conducted in all. While two interviewees were from International Islamic University, two others were from National University of Modern Languages. The reasons for interviewing two teachers each from these two universities were that they have bigger departments (in terms of number of teachers) and it was easier for me to access their teachers.

The remaining six interviewees were from the remaining six universities (i.e. one teachers from each university). This kind of selection was made to have representation form each university. Furthermore, in order to have their representation in the interviews, two female teachers were also interviewed.

The justification for employing two different research tools for collecting the data was to have an exhaustive representation of the entire phenomenon, i.e., exploring and evaluating professional development practices in the federal capital universities of Pakistan. Moreover, as it is well-established that these data collection tools have their own pros and cons (Bennett, 2003), two different research instruments have been manipulated to get an in-depth understanding of the context and practices instead of partial understanding of the situation. The triangulated data also puts forward a further representative picture of the data as well as of the situation. The researcher found these two research tools very useful, for they helped him to uncover the teachers' professional experiences and practices concerning development (Best & Kahn, 1998). Furthermore, the data offered him the responses of the *how* and the *why* type questions of the inquiry.

#### **Data Collection Procedures**

After getting approval to undertake the research from the International Islamic University's Board of Advanced Studies and Research (BASR), I started searching for the relevant books and articles. Once these books and articles were searched for and read, I designed the survey questionnaire and the interview grid which were then reviewed and pilot tested for content validity by experts and university teachers. The revised survey questionnaire was administered in the federal capital universities in turn. Although the participants were requested to return the questionnaire in one-month time, it took me five months to get 109 completed questionnaires from these universities. After getting these questionnaires back, I contacted the teachers, who

showed their willingness in the questionnaire, for interviews. Interviews were completed in 2 months' time. Thereafter I started analysing the data.

### **Data Analysis**

## **Quantitative Data**

The quantitative data for this study comprised the teachers' responses to the questions and statements on the university teachers survey questionnaire. A data file was created to enter and analyse these responses using the computer software program Statistical Package for Social Sciences, v.20 (SPSS). Statistical analysis carried out on the data was the calculation of descriptive statistics in terms of frequencies and cross tabulations.

#### **Qualitative Data**

The qualitative data for this study came from the teachers' responses to the interview questions.

For this data to analyse, the recorded interviews were transcribed and read many times to get some sense of the main ideas being expressed. The interview transcripts were then coded and analysed manually.

Coding is defined as the process of assigning low-inference descriptive tags to units of information. The process is carried out as a way of reducing data into easily locatable segments. "Incidents", according to Guba& Lincoln (1994), are the smallest "units of information" in a text that can stand by themselves. Such incidents were first identified and then assigned codes. Once they were assigned codes, they were analysed to discover patterns or categories between the codes.

# Conclusion

This chapter has attempted to provide information regarding the research design, research instruments and the data collection procedures employed in this study To ensure trustworthiness and transparency, descriptions of the processes of coding and analysis were also provided. The results and discussion of the data gathered from the survey questionnaire and interviews are presented in the next chapter (chapter 4).

### CHAPTER FOUR

## **Analysis and Discussion**

The main aim of this chapter is to present the results of the survey questionnaire and the results of the interviews. These results, in turn, will help contribute towards answering the following research questions:

- 1. What professional development programs or activities do English language teachers of the federal capital universities take part in?
- 2. To what extent are these PD programs/activities effective?
- 3. What measures can be taken to improve future PD endeavours?

This chapter deals with the results of quantitative and qualitative data simultaneously and it incorporates discussions/interpretations about the key findings of the study as and when required. In the forthcoming part of this chapter, I will first provide the results of the survey questionnaire along with the results of the interviews. Discussion/interpretation about these results with reference to the literature reviewed in chapter 3 will then be added at the points where required. Such a presentation of the results, I hope, will help triangulate the data.

### Results and Discussion

# Participants Demographics

As stated in chapter 4, section 1 of the questionnaire was meant to obtain demographic information about the participants. This information helped me analyse if the gender and teaching experience of the respondents had any relationship with their professional development practices. This, of course, was necessary, since any evaluation needs to consider all the possible factors that might influence a process (Guskey, 2000).

As also stated in chapter 4, the sample for the survey questionnaire comprised the entire population (estimated to be 200 teachers) of English language teachers working in the federal capital universities of Pakistan. The completed questionnaires, however, were 109 in all. The

purpose of including all teachers in the sample was to make sure that the results obtained were as generalizable as possible. The table 3 below shows the personal information of the respondents (109 teachers of the federal capital universities) of the survey questionnaire.

Table 3. Participants' Demographics, Survey Study

Category	Sub-category	Frequency	Percent
Gender	Male	73	67
	Female	36	33
	Total	109	100
Qualification	BS	0	0
	MA	22	20
	MPhil/MS	69	63
	PhD	18	17
	Total	109	100
Teaching Experience	1-5years	18	16.5
	6-10years	50	46
	11-15years	28	25.5
	16+	13	12
	Total	109	100
University	Public sector	6	75
	Private sector	2	25
	Total	8	100

Note. Qualification = BS/MA/MPhil/MS/PhD in English

As can be seen in this table, the participants of the study include both male and female language teachers of English. The ratio between them is 67:33. That is, while 67 per cent of the participants were male, 33 per cent were female. At the time of data collection, 46 per cent of the participants had a teaching experience of 6-10 years, 26 per cent 11-15 years, 17 per cent 1-5 years and only 12 per cent had more than 16 years of experience. While the majority of the participants (70%) had an MPhil degree as their highest educational qualification, there were a few participants having an MA (20%) and PhD (10%) as their highest qualifications. Except for a small number of teachers (25% only), all belonged to the public universities of the federal capital, the reason being that only the public universities of the federal capital have got English departments.

Section 2 of the questionnaire consisted of 14 questions, and was designed to elicit responses that would provide information about the professional development practices of English language teachers working in the federal capital universities of Pakistan.

Question 1 (Which of the following professional development activities do you take part in?) of the section focused on the activities which could be undertaken by teachers for their professional development. The teachers were presented with a list of fourteen common professional development activities and were asked to choose from it the activities they took part in.

Table 4. Frequency, Question 1

Level	PD Activity	No	Av. %	Yes	Av. %	Total
Individual	Self- Monitoring	69	63	40	37	109
	Teaching Journal	99	91	10	9	109
	Teaching Portfolio	97	89	12	11	109
	Analysing critical incidents	99	91	10	9	109
	Action research	7	6	22	20	109
One-to-one	Peer Coaching	84	77	25	23	109
	Peer Observation	68	62	41	38	109
	Action research	87	80	22	20	109
	Team Teaching	87	80	22	20	109
Group-based	Case Analysis	89	82	20	18	109
	Action research	87	80	22	20	109
	Teaching journal	99	91	10	9	109
	Teacher support group	87	80	22	20	109
Institutional	Workshops	14	13	95	87	109
	Action research	87	80	22	20	109
	Teacher support group	87	80	22	20	109
	Conferences	33	30	76	70	109
	Seminars	38	35	71	65	109
	Webinars	107_	98	2	2	109

*Note*. Individual/One-to-one/Group-based/Institutional = PD activities carried out at individual/one-to-one/group-based and institutional level.

As can be seen in the table 4 above, a high percentage of the respondents chose workshops (87%), conferences (70%) and seminars (65%) as the professional development activities they took part in, while a low percentage chose teaching journal (9%), teaching portfolio (11%),

analysing critical incidents (9%), and webinars (2%). The other activities in the list (see appendix A, the questionnaire, for the complete list): self-monitoring (37%), action research (20%), peer coaching (23%), peer observation (38%), team teaching ( $\hat{2}$ 0%), case analysis (20%), and teacher support groups (20%)), were chosen by about 20 to 38% respondents. The results also show that the activities undertaken by most of the respondents (e.g. workshops, conferences and seminars) are carried out at institutional level (see table 2 above and figure 1 in chapter 3); and that a very few choose to adopt professional development activities which are carried out at a personal/individual level.

A question with regards to activities for developing teachers professionally was also asked in the interviews (Were you familiar with all the methods of language teacher development before reading the questionnaire used in this study?). The result of this question reveals that the majority of the interviewees knew only about workshops, conferences and seminars till the time they read the questionnaire used for this study. Most of them, when asked about development, mentioned workshops. Some, like respondents RM and FR, made a general statement that they knew just "some" of these techniques, and from the questionnaires, it can be seen there is a higher probability of this "some" being restricted to workshops, as is also evident from the rest of their answers in the interviews as well, where these respondents rarely talked about any personal activity or method.

Furthermore, it ought to be mentioned that some respondents, particularly respondent JA, mentioned that they only had "[a] vague idea that there are different courses, mid-career courses and in-training... umm, in service... for in-service teachers and things like that... but to be very honest, I was not quite aware of these courses and these options for teachers," and others, like interviewee AI, confessed that, despite knowing about these activities, they "could not make them part of my professional development." FR, AS, and RA were perhaps among the only

people who claimed to know about and also make use of the various personal development methods available and to actively be involved in identifying their issues and discussing with their colleagues.

AI and MS, on the other hand rarely made use of anything other than the institutional feedback and some advice from their colleagues. In fact, in both of their cases, the second question (What do you do for your professional development?) was not answered by them directly and the answer had to be negotiated by the interviewer. On this basis, it could be said that very few teachers (such as JA, RA, and AS) have a concept of personally working on one's development and most of them only think of it as a formal thing involving feedback forms, procedures, and workshops. Furthermore, it should be noted that interviewee FR mentioned that the teachers in her institution have made a WhatsApp group and are actively working together as a teacher support group. However, the problem, as can be seen in some of AS's answers, is that some teachers themselves are not interested in benefitting from the available activities.

In other words, personalized and interactive development is rare amongst the teachers. Most of them only engage in institutional activities such as workshops and do not engage in reflective and interactive activities. This same situation was also reported by some of the studies that were consulted in the literature review. For instance, in her study, Rarieya (2005) maintains that the four teachers that she had worked with thought of reflective teaching and discussion as something "new" when they were asked about their familiarity with the different methods of teacher development. Also, when we look at the third question (How frequently do you take these methods and approaches?) in the interview, we can see a similar situation, where some interviewees actually did not seem to think of development as a constant thing. When asked this question, interviewee AI responded by saying that "I don't remember exactly if I had such

a class before." In other words, for her, development was actually for problem solving, that is, when a problematic class is faced. Otherwise, she does not have to engage in it.

Unlike, AI, however, there were some who did talk about the multi-layered nature of development. FR explicitly stated that she tries to engage in reflective teaching, teacher discussions, and other personalized activities alongside workshops and seminars. She also expressed her interest in the idea of a teaching portfolio, which she admitted she does not keep but is willing to try it. JA, another interviewee, stated that though he does not engage in as many activities, he does try to engage in reflective teaching and takes feedback from his students personally, whether or not the institution does so. However, like AI, there were some, like KS; who simply talked about how they go to aworkshop every six months. And even though RM and MS said that they do take feedback regularly, major development events for them come only when they are faced with problems or when they are given courses which they have not taught before.

From all of this, we can begin to trace a broader trend among the teachers in the universities. Not just that the individual teachers are not quite familiar with a wide range of professional development practices/programs, but they have a very layman understanding of terms like "professional development" and "reflective teaching". For most of them, development is a way to face problems and issues or it is limited to workshops and seminars, and only a very few of them actually engage in reflective teaching or personally get involved in development activities. This reminds the researcher of H. G. Widdowson (2014) who says that the real problem is that an overwhelming majority of the teachers and ELT experts has a pedagogic imagination operating at the very superficial and pedestrian level.

Thus, it can be said that these teachers 'have had a fairly narrow view of professional development' (Guskey, 2000: 14). They regard professional development as 'special events

that are restricted to 3 or 4 days during the [university] year' (ibid.). In fact, professional development to them is 'a series of unrelated, short-term workshops' (ibid: 15), conferences and seminars carried out at institutional level. However, Guskey (ibid.) argues:

[that although] this format [of professional development] can be highly appropriate and effective, especially when [teachers] need to obtain information about new programs, new instructional approaches, or changes in ... policies and regulations', 'it is important to recognize ... that all workshops[, conferences and seminars] must be accompanied by appropriate follow-up activities .... In addition, they are but one of a wide variety of highly effective approaches to professional development.

The gender and experience cross tabulations (see tables 5 and 6 below) of question 1 reveal that while novice and female teachers took part in varied and diverse activities for their professional development, experienced and male teachers relied on a few traditional activities only (e.g. the majority of male teachers took part in conferences and seminars). One similarity in these 2 crosstabs is that the activities carried out at 'institutional' level ranked the highest.

It should also be noted that only FR, among the various interviewees, talked about personalized development activities. Apart from her, others talked mainly about workshops, even when they did mention (for a moment) some personalized activities. That is, their interest was mostly in workshops while personalized activities were sidelines, especially with the more senior teachers. A reason for this reluctance to engage with personal activities in senior teachers can be taken from RM's statement that being too active in the department puts you in a risky position. Thus, it is only the juniors, who have not yet got to know the place, who are more prone to try innovative and experimental techniques.

Table 5. Gender Crosstab, Question 1

		Male	Female	Male	Female
Level	PD Activity	No	No	Yes	Yes
Individual	Self- Monitoring	51(73.9%)	18(26.1%)	22(55%)	18(45%)
	Teaching Journal	71(71.7%)	28(28.3%)	2(20%)	8(80%)
	Teaching Portfolio	69(71.1%)	28(28.9%)	4(33.3%)	8(66.7%)
	Ana.CriticalIncidents Action research	· 67(67.7%) 65(74.7%)	32(32.3%) 22(25.3%)	6(60%) 8(36.4%)	4(40%) 14(63.6%)
One-to-one	Peer Coaching	60(71.4&)	24(28.6%)	13(52%)	12(48%)
	Peer Observation	42(61.8%)	26(38.2%)	31(75.65)	10(24.4%)
	Action Research	65(74.7%)	22(25.3%)	8(36.4%)	14(63.6%)
	Team Teaching	69(79.3%)	18(20.7%)	4(18.2%)	18(81.8%)
Group-based	Case Analysis	65(73%)	24(27%)	8(40%)	12(60%)
	Action research	65(74.7%)	22(25.3%)	8(36.4%)	14(63.6%)
	Teaching journal	71(71.7%)	28(28.3%)	2(20%)	8(80%)
	T. support group	61(70.1%)	26(29.9%)	12(54.5%)	10(45.5%)
Institutional	Workshops	10(71.4%)	4(28.6%)	63(66.3%)	32(33.7%)
	Action research	65(74.7%)	22(25.3%)	8(36.4%)	14(63.6%)
	Teacher support group	61(70.1%)	26(29.9%)	12(54.5%)	10(45.5%)
	Conferences	19(57.6%)	14(42.4%)	54(71.1%)	22(28.9%)
	Seminars	26(68.4%)	12(31.6%)	47(66.25%)	24(33.8%)
	Webinars	73(68.2%)	34(31.8%)	0(0%)	2(100%)

Note. Ana. Critical Incidents = Analysing Critical Incident; T. Support Group = Teacher Support Group

Table 6. Experience Crosstab, Question 1

		1-5years	6-10years	11-15years	16+	1-5years	6-10years	11-15years	16+
Category	PD Activity	No	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Individual	Self- Monitoring	14	28	17	10	4	22	11	3
	%	78%	56%	61%	77%	22%	44%	39%	23%
	Teaching Journal	18	46	24	11	0	4	4	2
	%	100	92%	86%	85%	0%	8%	14%	15%
	Teaching Portfolio	16	42	26	13	2	8	2	0
	%	89%	84%	93%	100%	511%	16%	7%	0%
	Analyzing critical incidents	14	44	28	13	4	6	0	0
	%	78%	88%	100%	100%	22%	12%	0%	0%
	Action research	16	38	22	11	2	12	6	2

	%	89%	76%	79%	85%	11%	24%	21%	15%
One-to-one	Peer Coaching	16	38	17	13	2	12	11	0
	%	89%	76%	61%	100%	611%	24%	39%	0%
	Peer Observation	16	22	19	11	2	28 -	9	2
	%	89%	44%	68%	85%	11%	54%	32%	15%
	Action research	16	38	22	11	2	12	6	2
	%	89%	76%	79%	85%	11%	24%	21%	15%
	Team Teaching	16	36	22	13	2	14	6	0
	<b>%</b>	89%	72%	79%	100	11%	28%	21%	0%
Group- based	Case Analysis	18	34	24	13	0	16	4	0
	%	100%	68%	86%	100%	<b>60%</b>	32%	14%	0%
	Action research	16	38	22	11	2	12	6	2
	%	89%	76%	79%	85%	11%	24%	21%	15%
	Teaching journal	18	46	24	11	0	4	4	2
	%	100%	92%	86%	85%	0%	8%	14%	15%
	Tecaher support group	14	40	20	13	4	10	8	0
	%	78%	80%	71%	100%	<b>6</b> 22%	20%	29%	0%
Institutional	Workshops	4	6	4	0	14	44	24	13
	%	22%	12%	14%	0%	78%	88%	86%	100%
	Action research	16	38	22	11	2	12	6	2
	%	89%	76%	79%	85%	11%	24%	21%	15%
	Teacher support group	14	40	20	13	4	10	8	0
	%	<b>78%</b>	80%	71%	100%	<b>622%</b>	20%	29%	0%
	Conferences	6	12	15	0	12	38	13	13
	%	33%	24%	54%	0%	67%	76%	44%	100%
	Seminars	8	22	8	0	10	28	20	13
	%	44%	44%	29%	0%	54%	54%	71%	100%
·	Webinars	18	48	28	13	0	2	0	0
	%	100%	96%	100%	100%	60%	4%	0%	0%

The second question (Is participation in the PD programs/activities mentioned above mandatory at your department?) asked teachers if it was mandatory for them, in their departments, to participate in certain professional development programs and activities. The results indicate that while for 53 per cent of the teachers it was mandatory, for the other 47 per cent it was not. Within the 47% there were a few teachers for whom although it was not mandatory to participate in such programs and activities, yet their participation in them was preferred. However, within the 53%, who replied in the affirmative were also included a few

respondents (5-8) who were of view that it was sometimes mandatory for them to participate in such programs. (see table 7below for the frequency of responses).

Table 7. Frequency, Question 2

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent	
	No	51	46.8	46.8	46.8	
Valid	Yes	58	53.2	53.2	100.0	
	Total	109	100.0	100.0		

As can be seen in this table, for more than a half of the respondents (53%), participation in professional development programs/activities was mandatory. These answers were also reflected in the interviews. The interviewees when asked whether their consent is taken mostly said it was not. In the words of AS, if your boss nominates you, then "[h]e's your boss!" However, there were also some who did say that sometimes it is and sometimes it isn't, while some like KS and MS think it is. However, at least more than half of the interviewees said that it isn't, though interviewee AI also said she does not mind since she is a new teacher and feels the workshops are of benefit.

Research on teacher development, however, suggests that development by compulsion is not that beneficial, especially when the teachers feel they are being forced. Curtis (2001: 5), for example, argues that '[c]hoice is a big deal. [Teachers] can be subjected to assessment, appraisal, and evaluation against their will. But no one can be made to develop. [Teachers] can fake development, and should do so, if someone tries to force it on [them]. But [teachers] develop as professionals if, and only if, they choose to.' Lester (2003) also discovered something similar, while Zimmerman and May (2003) and Doolittle et al. (2008) were able to relate it to unity and leadership as well.

Such mechanistic development methods, where teachers are participating in certain forums because they *have to*, cannot really benefit. Development only helps if it is intentional, personal, and systematic (Guskey, 2000; Bailey et al., 2001). Besides, what is the point of development if it is just a routine thing? The purpose of development, after all, is to allow the teacher freedom from unnecessary repetition (Bailey et al., 2001). Hence, teachers should be allowed to choose their own mode of development, keeping in mind their present and future needs and practicing development in a way that involves them in the process.

According to the gender cross tabulation (table 8) below, for 66 per cent of the female respondents and nearly 48 per cent of the male, participation in PD programs/activities was mandatory.

Table 8. Gender Crosstab, Question 2

		·		
		Is participation	in the PD	Total
		programs/activiti	es mentioned	
		departm	ent?	
		No	Yes	
Condon	Male	39	. 34	73
Gender	female	12	24	36
Total		51	58	109

Table 9. Experience Crosstab, Question 2

	_	Is participation programs/activition above mandato depatme	es mentioned ory in your	Total
		No	Yes	
	1-5years	6	12	18
	6-10years	18	32	50
Teaching ex	11- 15years	16	12	28
	16+	11	2	13
Total		51	<b>-</b> 109	

The analysis in terms of experience (table 9 above) indicates that while for novice teachers (aged 25-35) participation in the PD programs and activities was mandatory, for senior teachers it was not, which implies that either senior teachers were exempted from PD or it was thought that they need not develop themselves professionally anymore at this stage of their careers. However, the words 'continual' and 'lifelong' in Dale's (cited in Bailey et.al, 2001) and Guskey's (2000) definitions of professional development suggest that PD must be carried on with till the end of one's career or life.

Question 3 (How frequently are these PD programs or activities conducted/arranged by you and your department?) asked respondents about the frequency of the professional development programs/activities they took part in. As can be seen in the table 10 below, the variable 'sometimes', with 28.4 per cent responses, rated the highest, followed closely by the variable 'often', with 23.9 responses, while the variables 'seldom' and 'always', with 17.4 and 9.2 per cent responses respectively, rated the lowest.

Table 10. Frequency, Question 3

		Frequency	Frequency Percent		Cumulative Percent	
	Always	10	9.2	9.2	9.2	
	Usually	23	21.1	21.1	30.3	
Valid	Often	26	23.9	23.9	54.1	
vand	Sometimes	31	28.4	28.4	82.6	
	Seldom	19	17.4	17.4	100.0	
	Total	109	100.0	100.0		

Gender cross tabulation (table 11) below indicates that female teachers appear to be quite sure about the frequency of the PD programs/activities they have taken part in, as a high percentage of them (55.5%) chose 'sometimes' and 'seldom' as their answers, something which AS complained about in his interview quite strongly, saying that the departments unfortunately do

not invest much in the development of their teachers. Almost an equal percentage of male teachers (almost 22%), on the other hand, came up with mixed responses, varying from 'usually' to 'seldom', which could show a comparatively high amount of disinterestedness in the males or that they seem to treat language teaching as something which can easily be managed.

Table 11. Gender Crosstab, Question 3

		How frequently	How frequently are these PD programs or activities conducted/arranged by you and your department?							
		Always	Usually	Often	Sometimes	Seldom				
Gender	Male	8	17	18	15	15	73			
Gender	female	2	6	8	16	4	36			
Total		10	23	26	31	19	109			

Table 12. Experience Crosstab, Question 3

					programs or act		Total				
		Always	conducted/arranged by you and your department?  Always usually Often Sometimes Seldom								
	1-5years	4	4	4	4	2	18				
4	6-10years	2	10	12	16	10	50				
teachingex	11-15years	4	4	2	11	7	28				
	16+	0	5	8	0	0	13				
Total		10	23	26	31	19	109				

In the experience cross tabulation above, teachers with 1-5 years' experience gave mixed responses. An equal percentage of teachers (22.2%) responded with variables 'always', 'usually', 'often' and 'sometimes'. Table 12 above also shows that on the one hand, a greater number of teachers (44/78), with experience 6-10 and 11-15 years, chose variables 'sometimes' and 'seldom', on the other hand, a high percentage chose 'usually' and 'often'. In the case of experience, thus, it would seem that those who spent more time in the profession were better able to analyse themselves and thus chose to seek out professional development amore frequently than the newcomers.

A question regarding the frequency of conducting/arranging PD programs/activities was also asked in the interviews. In response to that, the few teachers who did mention personal activities said they are engaged in such activities almost always of very often. FR said that development is a part of her teaching career and AS claimed he is always learning things online and discussing with colleagues. Others, however, mentioned a feedback form which they take at the end of a course or simply talked about workshops.

In this case, AI and a few others only went to workshops when nominated. A more precise figure was given by KS and by AS who said they go to workshops every six and threemonths, respectively. However, upon further discussion, it was also learnt that these two are exceptionally active in this matter and usually to wait for the news that a workshop is to be held. AS also explicitly said that the departments as well as the teachers are not really interested in their professional development and most people do not even attend the workshops they are nominated for. Thus, it can be seen that departments rarely conduct or send teachers to such activities and that the teachers themselves are often not that interested. As for the ones who often go to such activities, they do so at their own initiative and it has nothing to do with their respective departments.

These responses are also illustrative of a larger issue. It was observed by the researcher (and it is also evidenced by the responses charted above) that most of the time professional development is associated with a continuous teaching—as if it is something which will come its own way. And whenever professional development activities are practised, they are taken as a kind of 'disruption' of regular normal teaching process. This was also seen in the studies that had been discussed, including the work of Driel et al. (2001) and Dayoub and Bashiruddin (2012), among others, where it was observed that no sustained effort was made towards professional development and the most that was done was to attend some workshops, and even

those were highly decontextualized and idealized in nature. Westbrook et al. (2009) also noted that there was no institutional support, meaning that PD practices were not part of the teachers' lives.

It is likely to be due to this reason that professional development practices are not embraced with greater frequency. At the same time there are certain snags created by the university administration as well which makes the regular and frequent taking place of such activities more difficult. If professional development is a continuous process (as by definition it is), then it has to take place with greater frequency and with more foregrounded visibility. If it is spasmodic or infrequent it not only defeats its objective but also fails to engage the faculty members at a deeper level of interest and commitment.

We may conclude from these results that PD programs/activities are sometimes/seldom conducted/arranged at the respondents' departments. This conclusion reinforces the perception that the professional development of the English language teachers of the federal capital universities is 'fragmented' and 'sporadic' (Mansoor et.al, 2009). It is regarded as 'special events that are restricted to 3 or 4 days during the [university] year' and it is 'a series of unrelated, short-term workshops' (Guskey, 2000: 15), conferences and seminars carried out at an institutional level. The actual need of practical, continuous, and active development (Driel, Beijaard, and Verloop, 2001; Lester, 2003; Zimmerman and May, 2003) is not being met at all. Question 4 (Which of the following reasons do you pursue professional development for?) asked teachers about the reasons for which they pursue professional development.

Table 13. Frequency, Question 4

	Anks		Kcelt	Kcelt Psalary		ıry	cnegativity		osisolation		slearning	
	Fr	%	Fr	%	Fr	%	Fr	%	Fr	%	Fr	%
No	38	35%	40	37%	84	77%	89	82%	94	86%	61	56%
Yes	71	65%	69	63%	25	23%	20	18%	15	14%	48	44%
Total	109	100%	109	100%	109	100%	109	100%	109	100%	109	100%

Note. anks = for acquiring new knowledge and skills; kcelt = for keeping up with change in ELT; psalary = for promotion and raise in salary; cnegativity = for helping yourself combat negativity; osisolation = for helping yourself overcome the sense of isolation; slearning = for self-learning

Observing the frequency counts in table 13 above, it can be seen that while variables 1 (acquiring new knowledge and skills) and 2 (keeping up with the change in ELT), with 65.1% and 63.3% responses, rated the highest, variables 4 (for helping yourself combat negativity) and 5 (for helping yourself overcome the sense of isolation/being left out), with 18.3% and 13.8% responses, rated the lowest. This implies that the majority of the respondents pursued PD for both acquiring new knowledge and skills and for keeping up with the change in ELT.

Table 14. Gender Crosstab, Question 4

	Anks		Kcel	t	Psalary cnega		egativity osisolation		slearning			
	no	Yes	no	yes	no	yes	no	yes	no	yes	no	yes
Male	34	39	30	43	60	13	57	16	64	9	47	26
Female	4	32	10	26	24	12	32	4	30	6	14	22
Total	38	71	40	69	84	25	89	20	94	15	61	48

The gender cross tabulation given above shows that a greater number of female respondents than male pursued professional development for variables 1 and 2. With regards to females, variable 1 (for acquiring new knowledge and skills) rated the highest, while variable 4 (for helping yourself combat negativity) rated the lowest. As for male participants, variable 2 (for keeping up with change ELT) rated the highest, while variable 5 (for helping yourself overcome the sense of isolation/being left out) rated the lowest. The females, thus, seemed to have a more personal reason, while the males acted on more of professional interests.

Table 15. Experience Crosstab, Question 4

	Anks	3	kcelt		Psala	Psalary		Cnegativity		osisolation		slearning	
	No	Yes	No	Yes	no	Yes	No	Yes	no	Yes	no	yes	
1-5 years	4	14	14	4	18	0	14	4	18	0	16	2	
6-10 years	18	32	10	40	36	14	48	2	46	4	24	26	
11-15 years	10	18	12	16	22	6	21	7	26	2	15	13	
>16 years	6	7	4	9	8	5	6	7	4	9	6	. 7	
Total	38	71	40	69	84	25	<b>8</b> 9	20	94	15 •	61	48	

The analysis in terms of teaching experience indicates that the majority of the respondents (80%) with 6 to 10 years' experience pursued professional development for keeping up with the change in ELT. The experience cross tabulation, unlike gender cross tabulation, rated variable 1 the highest and variable 5 the lowest.

Question 5 (Which area(s) remain(s) your main focus during professional development programs/activities?) asked teachers about the area(s) they mainly focus on during professional development programs/activities. The results depict that 'subject matter knowledge' and 'pedagogical expertise', at 61.5% and 63.3% respectively, mainly remained the areas of focus for most of the teachers, followed closely by 'self-awareness', 'understanding psychology of learners' and 'understanding of curriculum and materials' (at 39.4%, 38.5% and 38.5%,). Career advancement, at 29.4%, remained the area of focus for the least number of teachers.

Table 16. Frequency, Question 5

	Smk		Pe Sa		Upl		ucm		cad			
	Fr	%	Fr	%	Fr	%	Fr	%	Fr	%	Fr	%
No	42	39%	40	37%	66	61%	67	61%	67	61%	77	71%
Yes	67	61%	69	63%	43	39%	42	39%	42	39%	32	29%
Total	109	100%	109	100%	109	100%	109	100%	109	100%	109	100%

*Note*. smk = subject matter knowledge; pe = pedagogical expertise; sa = self-analysis; upl = understanding psychology of learners; ucm = understanding curriculum and material; cad = career advancement

The gender cross tabulation (table 17) below reveals that although all areas of ELT in the list (see appendix A (the questionnaire) for the list) remained the focus of female teachers, they rated 'subject matter knowledge' and 'understanding curriculum and materials' the highest, at 66.6% and 61.1% respectively. Male teachers, on the other hand, focused mainly on the areas of 'subject matter knowledge', at 58.9%, and 'pedagogical expertise', at 67.1%.

The results of the experience cross tabulation (table 18) shows that among teachers with 1-5 years' experience the area of 'subject matter knowledge', at 66.6%, remained the most focused, while teachers with 6-10 years' experience focused mainly on the areas of "subject matter knowledge", "pedagogical expertise" and "self-awareness". Among teachers with 16+ years' experience the focus primarily was on 'subject matter knowledge', 'pedagogical expertise', 'self-awareness' and 'understanding the psychology of learners'. An interesting pattern thus develops here. People who are still beginners are more interested in understanding what they are doing, thus their focus is solely on 'subject matter knowledge.' Later on, as they start to come to grips with their job, they start considering technique and personal development, and finally add the focus on the learners as their experience really brings home its need.

Table 17. Gender Crosstab, Question 5

	Smk		Pe		Sa		Upl		ucm		C	ad
	No	Yes	no	Yes	no	yes	no	yes	no	yes	No	yes
Male	30	43	24	49	48	25	49	24	53	20	61	12
Female	12	24	16	20	18	18	18	18	14	22	16	20
Total	42	67	40	69	66	25	67	42	67	42	77	32

Table 18. Experience Crosstab, Question 5

	Smk		pe		Sa		Upl		ucm		cad	
	No	Yes	no	Yes	no	Yes	no	yes	No	yes	No	yes
1-5 years	6	12	12	6	10	8	14	4	16	2	16	2
6-10 years	20	30	18	32	30	20	32	18	24	26	36	14
11-15 years	12	16	10	18	22	6	19	9	17	11	17	11
>16 years	4	9	0.	13	4	9	2	11	10	3	8	5
Total	42	67-	40	69	66	43	67	42	67	42	77	32

From these two questions, we can see that most teachers, even though they participate in these activities because of institutional demands as was shown in the analysis above, do know what benefits are to be gained from this activity, and whether or not they mean it, they say that this is why they chose to participate. Also, as they gain experience and grow (professionally), they build upon their ideas and start to list more reasons and benefits. Still, considering how our respondents were mostly participating because of institutional reasons, we must not forget the risk of institutionally set development programmes: teachers putting on an image of doing well while in reality they are pretending to develop (Curtis, 2001).

Question 6 (Which of the following associations for teachers of English language are you a member of?) asked teachers to choose from the list on the questionnaire (see appendix A for the questionnaire) the associations for teachers of English language they were members of. Observing the frequency counts in table 19 below, it can be seen that more than a half of the respondents (51.4%) had memberships of some associations.

Table 19. Frequency, Question 6

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	No	53	48.6	48.6	48.6
Valid	Yes	56	51.4	51.4	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

The gender cross tabulation below (table 20) reveals that a greater number of male teachers (57.5%) than females had membership of associations for teachers of English language. Only 38.8% female teachers were members of any such associations.

Table 20. Gender Crosstab, Question 6

		Which of the following as English language are		Total
		No	Yes	
	Male	31	42	73
gender	Female	22	14	36
Total		53	56	109

The experience cross tabulation below (table 21) also has an almost 50% of the teachers, 56 out of 109, with 1-5, 6-10 and 11-15 years' experience, who had membership of any of these associations. Only 30.7% of the teachers of 16+ years' experience had a membership of any such associations.

Table 21. Experience Crosstab, Question 6

		Which of the following as English language ar	sociations for teachers of e you a member of?	Total
		No	Yes	
	1-5years	10	8	18
Taaahinaay	6-10years	22	28	50
Teachingex	11-15years	12	16	28
	16+	9	4	13
Total		53	56	109

However, a close analysis of the responses to the question depicts that an overwhelming majority of more than 90% chose only SPELT (Society for Pakistani English Language Teachers) as an association for teachers of English language which they were members of, which according to some interviewees is no more active now. That would mean that teachers are not showing much interest and are not that active in this regard. Their membership in SPELT, whether because of institutional demands or because they initially took interest, is not

of much benefit considering that it is no longer functional. Thus, currently, the number of teachers active in associations would become quite less. There is another problem with the organizations like SPELT that is it is highly commercialized in nature. In spite of the fact that SPELT wins sponsors from such renowned organizations as British Council, Oxford University Press, Saeed Book Bank, the HEC, and the educational institutions themselves, it charges from the presenters and as well as participants hefty registration fees. This factor, though economic in nature, bears negatively upon the professional development practices in Pakistan. The researcher has come across a considerable number of teachers, academicians and scholars who voiced these concerns.

In short, it might be said that the teachers' participation in group-based work or their attempts at connecting as a community are somewhat disappointing. This is important because one of the biggest impediments to PD, according to the various case studies we discussed, is that teachers are left to fend for themselves. That institutions and colleagues may hinder someone's development can be seen in the studies conducted by Dayoub and Basiruddin (2012) and Westbrook et al. (2009), among others, while the importance of community can be seen in the work of Ali (2011), Rarieya (2005), etcetera. That teachers themselves do not participate in the forums they have been provided with, however, is alarming, and shows the lack of interest that they have got.

Question 7 (If you are a member of any such association, which of the following is your current role?) asked teachers about the roles they had had in the associations for teachers of English language. The frequency count below (table 22) indicates that a total of 105 teachers responded to this question. 54.3% of these teachers had not been the members of any associations for teachers of English language. However, there were 48 teachers (45.7%) who had been the members of associations for teachers of English language. These 45.7% teachers

participated in such associations as participants (45.7%), organizers (5.7%) and presenters (9%).

Table 22. Frequency, Question 7

	Partici	pant	Organize	er	Presenter		
	Fr	%	Fr	%	Fr	%	
No	57	52%	99	91%	103	94%	
Yes	48	44%	6	6%	2	2%	
Total	105	96%	105	96%	105	96%	
Missing system	4	4%	4	4%	4	4%	
Total	109	100%	109	100%	109	100%	

According to the gender cross tabulation below, almost a half of the male teachers (52.1%) had a role of a participant in these associations. However, there are only 8.6% males who had been organizers in these associations. 33.3% of female teachers also had a role of a participant. However, there are 5.5% females who had been presenters in these associations. What strikes the most is that none of the female teachers had been an organizer, and none of the male teachers had been a presenter, in any of these associations. Teachers having the roles of an organizer and a presenter had a teaching experience 6-10 years and 11-15 years respectively.

Table 23. Gender Crosstab, Question 7

	Particip	ant	Organizer		Presenter	
	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	yes
Male	33	36	63	6	69	0
Female	24	12	36	0	34	2
Total	57	48	99	6	103	2

Table 24. Experience Crosstab, Question 7

	Particip	Participant		er	Presenter		
	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	
1-5 years	10	8	18	0	18	0	
6-10 years	28	22	44	6	50	0	
11-15 years	10	14	24	0	22	2	
>16 years	9	4	13	0	13	0	
Total	57	48	99	<b>-</b> 6	103	2	

There seems to be a lack of active participation amongst teachers. Furthermore, it seems that there are more organisers among teachers with less experience. It is not clear why people with more experience did not participate (though it might be because most of them are aged). However, even if some of them do start taking organisational roles or start presenting as they gain more experience, the overall lack of participation is bound to have a negative effect, for Professional Development, as we discussed earlier, is effective only when it is intentional, personal, and systematic (Guskey, 2000; Bailey et al., 2001).

Question 8 (Which of the following journals for teachers of English language are you or your institution subscribed to?) asked teachers to choose from the list on the questionnaire (see appendix A: the questionnaire for the list) the journal or journals they or their institutions were subscribed to.

Table 25. Frequency, Question 8

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	No	44	40.4	41.1	41.1
Valid	Yes	63	57.8	58.9	100.0
	Total	107	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	2	1.8		
Total		109	100.0		

According to the frequency count in table 25 above, more than half of the respondents (57.8%) had access to some of the journals, especially to the journal *English Teaching Forum*. However, there was not any mention of whether the subscription was their own or the institution's.

Table 26. Gender Crosstab, Question 8

		for teachers of English	Total	
		language are you or your instit	tution subscribed to?	
		No	Yes	
Gender	male	24	49	73
	female	20	14	34
Total	-	44	63	107

The gender cross tabulation above shows that a high percentage of male teachers (67.1%) had subscriptions to the journals for teachers of English language. In contrast, only 41.1% females were subscribed to such journals. The experience cross tabulation below shows that teachers with more experience (16+) have more subscriptions to journals than teachers with less experience. This might be because more experienced teachers had more time to explore things and have settled down more than their newer colleagues, meaning they have a clearer idea of where they can get more ideas from and which journals they can to subscribe to.

Table 27. Experience Crosstab, Question 8

		Which of the following jo of English language a	Total	
		institution subsc	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
		No	Yes	
. ••	1-5years	6	12	18
Teachingex	6-10years	24	26	50
i caciningex	11-15years	11	15	26
	16+	3	10	13
Total		44	63	107

In response to the question—"are you or your institution/department subscribed to any journals for teachers of English language?—in the interviews, AS and RA said it was not so. According to them, neither the department nor they themselves were subscribed to any ELT journal. RM and FR, on the other hand, said they are subscribed to the *English Teaching Forum*, but RM and RA also said that oftentimes the copy of this journal does not reach them. AI, FR, KS, and JA also said that the library of their institution is subscribed not just to the *English Teaching Forum*, but also to a number of other journals. In this case, JA and AI suggested that they consult these journals when they feel like it or if they need help in any case. FR also said she takes help from the library. However, it should be noted that in case of people who said that the institution is not subscribed to any journal, the libraries of the institutions were subscribed to one or more journals, which would suggest that perhaps these teachers did not check whether their institutions were subscribed or not.

It is evident from these results that neither not as many teachers nor their departments were subscribed to any journals for teachers of English language. However, Harmer (2001) regards reading professional literature as a way to ensure that we continue to develop and grow. This lack of interest, both from the side of the teachers as well as the institutions, portrays a certain lack of interest in the development process. The teachers, though they claimed in an earlier answer to desire knowing the latest research in the field of teaching, do not practically seem to do that. This raises the possibilities of some of our Development Programmes becoming what Curtis (2001) considered as "faking" development.

Question 9 (Which of the following was your academic qualification when you got appointed for your current job?) asked teachers about their qualification at the time of their appointment as English language teachers. As can be seen in the frequency table 28 below, more than half of the respondents (61.5%) had degrees in English language and literature at the time of their recruitment. It can also be seen that 25.7% of the teachers had a degree in literature, 18.3% had one in linguistics, and there were only 12.8% teachers who had a degree in tef/sl.

Table 28. Frequency, Question 9

	Dll		dlit		Dling		Dtefl	
	Fr	%	Fr	%	Fr	%	Fr	%
No	42	39%	81	74%	89	82%	95	87%
Yes	67	61%	28	26%	20	18%	14	13%
Total	109	100%	109	100%	109	100%	109	100%

Note. dll = degree in language and literature; dlit = degree in literature; dling = degree in linguistics; dtef/sl = degree in teaching English as a foreign/second language

According to the gender cross tabulation below, there were more females (66.6%) than males who had degrees in English language and literature. Male teachers with degrees in English language and literature were about 58.9%. Moreover, there were a few male and female teachers who had more than one degree at the time of their appointment as teachers.

Table 29. Gender Crosstab, Question 9

	DII		dlit	dlit Dling		ing dtef/s		l	
				•					
	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	yes	
Male	30	43	55	18	57	16	67	6	
Female	12	24	26	10	32	4	28	8	
Total	42	67	81	28	89	20	95	14	

Table 30. Experience Crosstab, Question 9

	DII		dlit	Dling		dtef/sl		
	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	yes
1-5 years	8	10 -	14	4	16	2	14	4
6-10 years	20	30	36	14	36	14	42	8
11-15 years	12	16	18	10	26	2	26	2
>16 years	2	11	13	0	11	2	13	0
Total	42	67	81	28	89	20	95	14

The experience cross tabulation above shows surprising results. As can be seen in table 30, the respondents, irrespective of their experience, had degrees in English language and literature. Only 2 teachers of 16+ years' experience had degrees in linguistics. Thus, surprisingly, it seemed that teachers who were new were trying to be acquainted with their subject, whereas the teachers who began before and were settled were hired mostly because they "knew" English.

Here, it might be interesting to remember what we discussed earlier in our literature review, that English language teachers in Pakistan are not trained for a language class (Shamim 2009; Dayoub&Bashiruddin, 2012). And even if they do have training, the in- and pre-service training is often insufficient (Dayoub&Bashiruddin, 2012). An important realisation we get from here is that we need to, at least, train our teachers through pre- and in-service trainings properly to ensure they teach well in class. And considering that most teachers have degrees in Literature or Linguistics, and not in tef/sl, we ought to, at least, support them in a way that allows them to properly develop professionally and to take part in various courses or training programmes

that could improve their practice. It might also help to incorporate some element of tef/sl training in their literature or linguistic degrees as well.

Question 10 (Are you subscribed to any virtual teacher community?) asked teachers about their subscription to any virtual teacher community. Observing the frequency count in table 31 below, it can be seen that an overwhelming majority of about 82.2% teachers were not subscribed to any virtual teacher community for their professional development. 1.8% teachers did not respond to this question.

Table 31. Frequency, Question 10

	<u>:</u>	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	No	88	80.7	82.2	82.2
Valid	yes	19	17.4	17.8	100.0
	Total	107	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	2	1.8		
Total		109	100.0		

The gender cross tabulation below reveals that a more percentage of male teachers (21.1%) were subscribed to virtual teacher community than females (11.1%). According to the experience cross tabulation below, teachers with 1-5 and 11-15 years' experience had more subscription to virtual teacher community than the teachers with 6-10 and 16+ years' experience. The overall lack of participation, however, would indicate somewhat of a disinterest or lack of knowledge as was suggested by the scarcity of journal subscriptions. It would also have us consider whether teachers are really interested in participating in any proper development activities or if it is all just to fulfil an institutional requirement.

Table 32. Gender Crosstab, Question 10

		Are you subscribed to	Are you subscribed to any virtual teaching ommunity?				
		No	- Yes				
Gender	male	56	15	71			
	female	32	4	36			
Total		88	19	107			

Table 33. Experience Crosstab, Question 10

		Are you subscribed to any virtua	Are you subscribed to any virtual teaching community?			
		No	Yes			
	1-5years	10	8	18		
4	6-10years	48	0	48		
teachingex	11-15years	19	9	28		
	16+	11	2	13		
Total		88	19	107		

Question 11 (To maintain interest in teaching, which of the following co-curricular activities do you engage yourself in?) asked teachers to choose from the list on the questionnaire (see appendix A: the questionnaire for the list) the co-curricular activities they participated in for the purpose of maintaining their interest in teaching. It appears from the results in the frequency table 34 below that a high percentage of teachers (62.9%, 78.1%. 67.6% and 61.0%) did not participate in any of these co-curricular activities. However, there were some teachers who either organized entertainment programs for students and teachers or ran literary societies, sports teams, conversation get-togethers etc. to maintain their interest in teaching.

Table 34. Frequency, Question 11

	Mw		Wipe	Oest		rlsetc		
	Fr	%	Fr	%	Fr	%	Fr	%
No	66	61%	82	75%	71	65%	64	59%
Yes	39	36%	23	21%	34	31%	41	38%
Total	105	96%	105	96%	105	96%	105	96%
Missing system	4	4%	4	4%	4	4%	4	4%
Total	109	100%	109	100%	109	100%	109	100%

*Note.* mw = materials writing; wipe = writing items for public exams; oest = organizing entertainment for students and teachers; rlsetc = running literary societies, sports teams, or conversation get-togethers

The gender cross tabulation below indicates that, to maintain their interest in teaching, male teachers engaged themselves more in activities such as material writing and running literary societies, sports teams, or conversation get-togethers, while female teachers participated in organizing entertainment for students and teachers. However, the experience cross tabulation shows that it was mainly the aged and experienced teachers who participated more in such activities, and, of course, they were in more need to engage themselves in activities like these to maintain their interest in teaching.

Table 35. Gender Crosstab, Question 11

	Mw		Wipe	Oest		rlsetc		
	No	Y'es	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	yes
Male	38	31	<b>.</b> 50	19	59	10	42	27
Female	28	. 8	-32	4	12	24	22	14
Total	66	39	82	23	71	34	64	41

Table 36. Experience Crosstab, Question 11

	Mw		Wipe	Oest		rlsetc		
	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	yes
1-5 years	8	8	14	2	10	6	10	6
6-10 years	42	8	48	2	30	20	28	22
11-15 years	12	14	14	12	18	8	20	6
>16 years	4	9	6	7	13	0	6	7
Total	66	39	82	23	71	34	64	41

However, if we look at the lack of interest shown in this aspect, it would seem that, for teachers in Pakistan, teaching is just a job they must do. They live it mechanically, without doing any side-activity that could keep their spirits up. Bailey et al. (2001), however, have suggested that participating in co-curricular and even non-academic activities is essential for the teacher. To not participate in them would make the whole thing boring, taxing, and exhausting. Furthermore, the fact that older teachers engaged more in such activities would either indicate that they participated only because teaching was now becoming too boring for them or because so many years of mechanical teaching had taught them better. It would seem, thus, that teachers

are not really aware of how to manage their teaching lives and careers, and will consider other activities only to kill time and overcome boredom, or because they realised after many years of teaching what they ought to have done from the start.

Question 12 (Is some kind of certification in ELT (e.g. TEFL, CELTA, etc.) mandatory in your institution to teach English as a language?) asked teachers if some kind of certification in ELT mandatory in their institutions to teach English as a language. As per the results in the frequency table 37 below, an overwhelming majority of 84.2% teachers were of view that they needed not have any kind of certification in ELT to teach English as a language in their universities. It can also be seen in the table that 7.3% teachers did not respond to this question.

**Table 37.** Frequency, Question 12

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative
					Percent
	No	85	78.0	84.2	84.2
Valid	yes	16	14.7	15.8	100.0
	Total	101	92.7	100.0	
Missing	System	8	7.3		
Total		109	100.0		

The gender and experience cross tabulations below show almost a similar result. A very low percentage of male and female, and novice and experienced teachers were of view that some kind of certification in ELT was necessary in their institutions to teach English as a language.

Table 38. Gender Crosstab, Question 12

			Is some kind of certification in ELT (e.g. TEFL, CELTA, etc.) mandatory in your institution to teach English as a				
		lang	guage?				
		No No	Yes				
Gender	male	53		12	65		
	female	32		4	36		
Total		85		16	101		

Table 39. Experience Crosstab, Question 12

		TEFL, CELTA, etc.) n	Is some kind of certification in ELT (e.g. TEFL, CELTA, etc.) mandatory in your institution to teach English as a language?	
		No	Yes	
	1-5years	8	4	12
TLin	6-10years	42	8	50
Teachingex	11-15years	22	4	26
	16+	13	0	13
Total		85	16	101

This is a shocking revelation if we really think about it. Teachers or the policy makers in the universities seem to think that language teaching is a child's play. They do not realise that even the teaching of a language can be as complex as any other subject. As Shamim (2009) and Dayoub&Bashiruddin (2012) pointed out, Pakistani English language teachers are often not trained for language teaching, and this attitude would suggest that this situation will not be improving anytime soon. Teachers would only realise the importance of training for language classes if they were to expose themselves to the research and the various courses and trainings that are available on this subject, otherwise they would continue to think of it as something you could just get up and start doing. And as the previous questions revealed that requirement, too, is not being met.

Question 13 (Were you made to observe the class of your seniors in the beginning of your teaching career?) asked teachers about the practice of peer observation in their departments/institutions. As can be seen in the frequency table 40 below, an overwhelming majority of 70.5% teachers were of view that it was not necessary for novice teachers in their departments to observe the classes of their seniors in the beginning of their career. However, there were 31 teachers, at 29.5%, who were of view that they were made to observe the classes of their seniors in the beginning of their career.

Table 40. Frequency, Question 13

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative
					Percent
	No	74	67.9	70.5	70.5
Valid	yes	31	28.4	29.5	100.0
	Total	105	96.3	100.0	
Missing	System	4	3.7		
Total		109	100.0		

The gender and experience cross tabulations below (tables 39 and 40) show that a very low percentage of teachers replied in the affirmative, except for teachers with 1-5 years' teaching experience. 55.5% of the novice teachers were of view that they had been made to observe the classes of their seniors at the beginning of their careers. It would seem that only the inexperienced or those who are still new and learning feel the need to observe their peers and seniors. This might be because they feel, as newcomers and as young practitioners, their own inexperience or that they still have the learner mindset alive in their thinking.

Table 41. Gender Crosstab, Question 13

		seniors in the beginnin	Were you made to observe the class of your seniors in the beginning of your teaching career?	
		No	Yes	
C 1	male	50	19	69
Gender	female	24	12	36
Total		74	31	105

Table 42. Experience Crosstab, Question 13

		-	Were you made to observe the class of your seniors in the beginning of your teaching		
		с	areer?		
		No	Y	es	
	1-5years		8	10	18
******	6-10years		36	10	46
teachingex	11-15years	•	17	11	28
	16+		13	0	13
Total			74	<b>-</b> 31	105

Overall, we may conclude from these results that the practice of peer observation/mentoring is not common among the English language teachers of the federal capital universities. However, experts on language teacher development like Richards & Farrell (2005), Harmer (2001), Bailey et.al (2000) consider these approaches pivotal for the professional development of such teachers. The lack of such practices would again strengthen our previous observation that language teaching is not properly understood amongst these teachers and is taken to be something that is very simple and easy.

Question 14 (How many professional development courses/workshops arranged by HEC and/or other organizations have you attended?) asked teachers about the number of professional development courses/workshops, arranged by HEC or any other organizations, they had attended. The results reveal that 60% participants have attended 1-5 courses/workshops, 20% have attended 6-10 and only 4% have attended 11 or more than 11 PD courses/workshops. However, there are participants who have not attended any such courses yet.

A similar question was asked in the interviews as well. In response to that, all of the teachers mentioned they have attended one or two workshops, while AS and KS showed more interest in the matter, saying they try to attend a workshop at least every six to three months. The difference, in this case, was also, as they both mentioned, that they are constantly checking at the department for the letters of any such institutions and themselves volunteer for such workshops. Other teachers, on the other hand, only seem to go when nominated, or as AS revealed in his discussion, they sometimes get nominated, take the day off from teaching, and do not attend the workshop as well.

As such, it can be said that the teachers themselves show a low level of interest in this matter and that would also explain why it takes more than sixteen years of experience (see experience

crosstab below) to attend more than eleven workshops! Also, we can see from the discussions of the interviewees that the nomination system of the department, though fair in the sense that everyone gets nominated once in a while, is still rather unsystematic and arbitrary. AS, for instance, complained that teachers who do not even care to attend the workshops or whose subjects and interests do not even coincide with the workshop's topic would get nominated, and RM revealed that there are certain people who usually have a higher chance of being nominated.

Table 43. Frequency, Question 14

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	1-5	70	64.2	64.2	64.2
	6-10	20	18.3	18.3	82.6
Valid	11+	5	4.6	4.6	87.2
	None	14	12.8	12.8	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

Table 44. Gender Crosstab, Question 14

		- 1	How many professional development courses/workshops arranged by HEC and/or other organizations have you attended?			Total
		1-5	6-10	11+	none	
Gender	Male	40	18	5	10	73
	female	30	2	0	4	36
Total		70	20	5	14	109

*Note.* 1-5 = 1 to 5 courses/workshops

Table 45. Experience Crosstab, Question 14

		How many professional development courses/workshops arranged by  HEC and/or other organizations have you attended?			Total	
		1-5	6-10	11+	none	
	1-5years	14	0	0	4	18
Tanahimanu	6-10years	32	12	0	6	50
Teachingex	11-15years	24	4	0	0	28
	16+	0	4	5	4	13
Total		70	20	5	14	109

The gender and the experience cross tabulations (Tables 44 and 45) on the previous page show that it is mostly the female teachers and teachers with 11-15 years' experience who have attended more PD workshops and courses.

Section 3 of the questionnaire was designed to elicit information through which we could attempt to evaluate the professional development practices of English language teachers working in the federal capital universities of Pakistan. This section comprises 5 levels, based on the evaluation model proposed by Thomas Guskey (2000) in his work *Evaluating Professional Development*. Level 1, Participants' reaction, was included to measure the participants' 'initial satisfaction' to their own professional development methods and practices. Level 2, Participants' learning, of the section aimed to measure the participants' learning from the professional development programs and activities they took part in. Level 3, Organizational support and change, of the section attempted to document and understand the current level and situation of organizational support and to provide information for future change efforts. Level 4, Participants' use of new knowledge and skills, of the section was meant to measure the degree and quality of implementing new knowledge and skills. Level 5, Student learning outcomes, was a part of this section as it aimed to measure the effect of teachers' professional development practices on students' learning.

Section 3, made up of 31 statements about teachers' views of their own professional development practices, required the teachers to rate each statement on a given five point lickert scale, ranging from 'Strongly disagree' to 'Strongly agree'. As the questionnaire targeted all English language teachers of the federal capital universities of Pakistan, the data obtained from it was expected to provide information about the effect and effectiveness of the teachers' current professional development practices on their professional growth.

The first level, comprised of 11 statements, gauged the teachers' reactions to the programmes. Its goal was to see if the participants felt valued and whether or not they found the programmes beneficial and important. The goal of such an analysis is to find out how the overall design of the programme could be improved. The statements ranged from those dealing with satisfaction regarding quality to those dealing with the relevancy of the activities and the involvement of the teachers. There were also some that dealt with the environment of the institution where the training and/or development programmes were conducted.

Statement 1 (I believe that I have had sufficient professional development experience at my credit) in Section 3 was meant to explore if teachers had had sufficient PD experience at their credit. The results in the frequency table indicate that the majority of teachers (60%) agreed to this statement. However, there were 30% teachers who disagreed/strongly disagreed to the statement. The remaining 10% chose 'don't know' as their answer.

Table 46. Frequency, Statement 1

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative
					Percent
	strongly disagree	4	3.7	3.7	3.7
	Disagree	29	26.6	26.6	30.3
Valid	don't know	10	9.2	9.2	39.4
	Agree	66	60.6	60.6	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

The results of the gender cross tabulation below indicate that while an overwhelming majority of 72% female respondents agreed to the statement, 28% of them either remained neutral or disagreed to it. With regards to the experience cross tabulation 48, the majority of the teachers with 1-5, 5-10 and 11-15 years' experience agreed to the statement. However, a few teachers of 16+ years' experience preferred to choose 'don't know' and 'disagree' (see cross tabulations below for crosscheck).

Table 47. Gender Crosstab, Statement 1

		I believe that i have	believe that i have had sufficient professional development experience at my credit.						
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	Адтее				
01	male	4	21	8	40	73			
Gender	female	0	8	2	26	36			
Total		4	29	10	66	109			

Table 48. Experience Crosstab, Statement 1

		I believe that i have	believe that i have had sufficient professional development experience at my credit.					
		strongly disagree	disagree	don't know	адтее			
	1-5years	2	4	0	12	18		
4 <b>h</b> :	6-10years	0	14	6	30	50		
teachingex	11-15years	2	8	0	18	28		
	16+	0	3	4	6	13		
Total		4	29	10	66	109		

Statement 2 (*The professional development experience that I have had is of a high quality*) required teachers to rate the quality of the professional development experience they have had. The data in the frequency table reveal that the majority of the teachers (68%) rated their professional development experience as high. This tallies in with a number of observations that we saw in our earlier case studies, including Driel et al. (2001), Lester (2003), Davies and Iqbal (1997), Dayoub and Bashiruddin (2012), and many others, all of whom criticize the decontextualized and outdated methods of many PD seminars and projects. This, paired with the lack of institutional support and involvement, leads to teachers either not benefitting from PD or becoming distrustful of the idea itself.

Table 49. Frequency, Statement 2

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	4	3.7	3.7	3.7
	Disagree	15	13.8	13.8	17.4
	don't know	16	14.7	14.7	32.1
Valid	Agree	70	64.2	64.2	96.3
	strongly agree	4	3.7	3.7	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

Table 50. Gender Crosstab, Statement 2

••		The professional development experience that I have had is of a high quality.						
		strongly disagree	disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree		
Candan	male	4	11	10	44	4	73	
Gender	female	0	4	6	26	0	36	
Total		4	15	16	70	4	109	

According to the gender cross tabulation above (table 50) and the experience cross tabulation below (table 51), it is mainly female teachers and teachers having an experience of 1 to 10 years of the federal capital universities who believe that the professional development experience they have had is of a high quality. A similar question was asked in the interviews. Some of the interviewees gave a neutral response. AI, for example, said that she did not attend the complete session and that she thought, from what she had seen, that contemporary ideas and issues were being discussed, but she gave no evaluation in that. AS, similarly, said that as a learning experience, these workshops are good, but he did not give a formal evaluative statement, though later on he did mention, in response to another question, that the HEC workshops are not really that good.

Other interviewees, however, rather gave a negative response, or they said they are satisfied on the basis that the workshops have to cater to a large audience and can thus not be perfect. FR, for instance, said she is satisfied with around "seventy percent" of the workshops. RM, KS, and MS, on the other hand, are fine with what they have got or are satisfied with the workshops "sometimes". MS says he was not really satisfied with the local workshops. RA and JA, on the other hand, straight out said they are not happy with what they have. As such, it can be seen that the teachers are mostly either not satisfied or simply "fine".

Table 51. Experience Crosstab, Statement 2

,	٠	The professi	The professional development experience that I have had is of a high quality.				
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly	
	1-5years	2	0	0	14	2	
Taashimaay	6-10years	0	6	10	32	2	
Геаchingex	11-15years	2	6	2	18	0	
	16+	0	3	4	6	0	
Total		4	15	16	70	4	1

From these statements, we can see that most teachers feel satisfied with what they have, while others do not. This could either indicate that the majority are satisfied and have no interest in improvement, or else it could indicate that they are satisfied with the way things are going and are looking forward to continuing development. The others, who disagree, could either be disappointed in what they have seen or else they think it is a waste of time. If the attitude of the teachers is conducive to the development process, in this case, it would be fine; otherwise, this attitude could make the teachers unwilling to take part in the process. And as Guskey (2000) mentioned, the development process is beneficial only if it is intentional.

Another observation would be that inexperienced teachers are either more satisfied or dissatisfied. The more experienced teachers seem to be in the middle. The less experienced teachers, though having more satisfied people, have more people who either strongly agree or disagree. Thus, it would seem that the more experienced people are either less enthusiastic when compared to their younger and less experienced colleagues or else they seem to now think they have had enough development for a lifetime, which is contrary to what Guskey (2000) and Bailey et al. (2001) have suggested about the nature of development.

Statement 3 (I feel great while taking professional development programs and activities) asked teachers about their feelings while taking professional development programs and activities. The results indicate that the majority of the teachers (85%) responded positively to the statement, that is, they agreed/strongly agreed to it. The cross tabulations 53 and 54 also depict that teachers of both genders, no matter how much experience they have had, agreed/strongly agreed to the statement.

Table 52. Frequency, Statement 3

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	8	7.3	7.3	7.3
	don't know	8	7.3	7.3	14.7
	Agree	70	64.2	64.2	78.9
Valid	strongly agree	23	21.1	21.1	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

Table 53. Gender Crosstab, Statement 3

		I feel great taki	feel great taking professional development programs and activities.					
		strongly disagree	don't know	Адтее	strongly agree			
	male	6	8	46	13	73		
gender	female	2	0	24	10	36		
Total		8	8	70	23	109		

Table 54. Experience Crosstab, Statement 3

		l feel great t	I feel great taking professional development programs and activities.						
•		strongly disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree				
	1-5years	6	0	6	6	18			
T1:	6-10years	0	6	34	10	50			
Teachingex	11-15years	2	2	24	0	28			
	16+	0	0	6	7	13			
Total		8	8	70	23	109			

Statement 4 (*The professional development workshops and seminars that I attended were very much relevant to my professional responsibilities*) asked teachers to rate the relevance of the PD workshops and seminars they had attended to their professional responsibilities. As can be seen in the frequency table 55, while the majority of respondents (about 70%) loaded the statement positively, a few (about 25%) loaded it negatively. This runs contrary to the observations made by Westbrook, et al. (2009), who suggest that a lot of PD practices are irrelevant and outdated as well as lacking institutional support. But even a glance at the other studies cited in out literature review would show that such observations can vary from time to time and from area to area. Of course, that around 25% did not agree is also alarming in a way and needs to be addressed to achieve better results.

Table 55. Frequency, Statement 4

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	14	12.8	13.3	13.3
	Disagree	9	8.3	8.6	21.9
37-114	don't know	6	5.5	5.7	27.6
Valid	Agree	70	64.2	66.7	94.3
	strongly agree	6	5.5	5.7	100.0
	Total	105	96.3	100.0	
Missing	System	4	3.7		
Total		109	100.0		

Cross tabulations below (gender and experience) reveal that both male and female teachers (especially female), irrespective of their teaching experience, agreed/strongly agreed to the statement. Among those who did disagree, there was a higher percentage of the less experienced or somewhat experienced teachers.

Table 56. Gender Crosstab, Statement 4

		-	he professional development workshops and seminars that I attended were very much relevant to my professional responsibilities.							
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree				
	male	12	9	6	40	2	69			
gender	female	2	0	0	30	4	36			
Total		14	9	6	70_	6	105			

Table 57. Experience Crosstab, Statement 4

		The profess	The professional development workshops and seminars that I attended were very much relevant to my professional responsibilities.					
		that I attende						
		strongly	Disagree	don't	agree	strongly		
		disagree		know '		agree		
	1-5years	4	0	0	10	4	18	
Teachingex	6-10years	8	4	2	34	2	50	
reachingex	11-15years	2	5	2	19	0	28	
	16+	0	0	2	7	0	9	
Total		14	9	6	70	- 6	105	

Statement 5 (My consent/choice is considered while nominating me for professional development workshops and courses) asked teachers if their consent/choice is considered while nominating them for professional development workshops and courses. According to data in the frequency table 58, while about 54% of the respondents agreed/strongly agreed to the statement, 36% of them disagreed/strongly disagreed to it. In the interviews, when this question was asked, there were also mixed responses. AS said jokingly that even if-you are given a choice, when your boss nominates you for an activity, "he's your boss". RA said that no consent is taken, whereas most others said that it sometimes is and sometimes isn't.

Table 58. Frequency, Statement 5

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	10	9.2	9.2	9.2
	Disagree	26	23.9	23.9	33.0
** ** 1	don't know	14	12.8	12.8	45.9
Valid	Agree	57	52.3	52.3	98.2
	strongly agree	2	1.8	1.8	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

As per the gender cross tabulation below (table 59), on the one hand, more than 55% of the male teachers agreed/strongly agreed to the statement, on the other hand, about 25% of them disagreed/strongly disagreed to it. Female teachers, however, are different from male teachers in that the majority of them chose 'don't know', 'disagree' and 'strongly disagree'. This could indicate either that the female teachers were not interested in the PD activities or that the organisers considered the needs of the male teachers and the female teachers were not properly considered.

Table 59. Gender Crosstab, Statement 5

		My consent/	My consent/choice is considered while nominating me for professional development workshops and seminars.						
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	agree	strongly agree			
	male	6	12	12	41	2	73		
gender	female	4	14	2	16	0	36		
Total		10	26	14	· 57	2	109		

Table 60. Experience Crosstab, Statement 5

		•				ninating me for	Total
		strongly disagree	disagree	don't know	agree	strongly agree	
	1-5years	2	2	0	12	2	18
Tbi	6-10years	6	14	10	20	0	50
Teachingex	11-15years	2	8	0	18	0	28
	16+	0	2	4	7	0	13
Total		10	26	14	57	2	109

A great majority of both novice and experienced teachers agreed to the statement, the experience cross tabulation above (table 60) reveals. However, a considerable number of teachers with 6-10 and 11-15 years' experience disagreed/strongly disagreed to the statement. This is interesting in that the beginner and more experienced teachers seem to be satisfied, whereas those in the middle seem to think they are not being considered. This difference might be caused by difference in lifestyle and responsibilities as changes occur in one's life.

Statement 6 (I am often asked/contacted for my professional development needs.) asked respondents to tell whether they are contacted for their professional development needs. The data in the frequency table 61 below show that the majority of teachers (about 62%) disagreed/strongly disagreed to the statement. In the interviews too, a similar trend was observed. Al and MS are of the opinion that the department does take care of their development

needs. AS stated that the problem is that everyone is too obsessed with their own individual development and thus cooperation is just an unfulfilled dream. FR says that her colleagues do discuss and they do tell her about upcoming workshops, though she is not sure if her needs are being fully considered. JA and RA, on the other hand, said they do not feel that is so, and RM said it is only sometimes he is contacted. This points to the absence of a clearly laid down professional development policy in the universities. Most of the selection for such programs is made at departmental level and it is affected by many factors such as rotation of the head of the department, personal favouritism, random pick and choose or the so-called seniority criterion. All these trends show a lack of policy direction which could promise fairness and consistency across the board, a problem that was also pointed out by Dayoub and Bashiruddin (2012), who mentioned that there is very little in the ways of sustained methodology found in the way PD activities are being managed. Of course, the type of institutional support, or lack thereof, that they highlighted is of a different kind, but it still ties in with the same problem at the root.

Table 61. Frequency, Statement 6

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	8	7.3	7.3	7.3
	Disagree	60	55.0	55.0	62.4
	don't know	8	7.3	7.3	69.7
Valid	Agree	31	28.4	28.4	98.2
	strongly agree	2	1.8	1.8	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

The data in the gender cross tabulation 62 indicate that the majority of both male and female teachers disagreed/strongly disagreed to the statement. However, the results of the experience cross tabulation are different. Although experienced teachers disagreed/strongly disagreed to statement, inexperienced teachers agreed/strongly agreed to it.

Table 62. Gender Crosstab, Statement 6

		I am often a	sked/contacted	for my profess	ional developm	ent needs.	Total
		strongly disagree	disagree	don't know	Agree _	strongly agree	
Gender	Male	8	34	8	21	2	73
	female	0	26	0	10	0	36
Total		8	60	8	31	2	109

Table 63. Experience Crosstab, Statement 6

		I am often ask	ed/contacted	for my profession	onal devel	opment needs.	Total
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	agree	strongly agree	
	1-5years	2	2	0	14	0	18
tanahi masu	6-10years	4	28	6	10	2	50
teachingex	11-15years	2	17	2	7	0	28
	16+	0	13	0	0	0	13
Total		8	60	8	31	2	109

It appears from these results that less experienced teachers generally feel that their needs are met and that their consent is involved, whereas more experienced teachers sometimes disagree. This might indicate that development processes are decontextualized and monotonous. They do not consider the needs of all teachers and are the same everywhere. This would explain why newer teachers, who definitely learn something, feel pleased, while elder and more experienced teachers, who do not experience anything new, are annoyed. A similar situation was reported by Driel, Beijaard, and Verloop (2001), and Zimmerman and May (2003) in their studies on what issues exist within developmental programmes. Davies and Iqbal (1997) reported something similar with reference to Pakistan.

Statement 7 (The present improvement in my teaching practice is largely due to the PD programs and activities that I have attended and taken.) asked teachers if the improvement in their teaching is due to the professional development programs and activities they have attended and taken. While 54% respondents agreed to this statement, 28% disagreed to it. Such stories

of success were also seen in a number of our previously cited case studies, including, for instance, Rarieya (2005), Khamis and Sammons (2004), and others.

Table 64. Frequency, Statement 7

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	6	5.5	5.6	5.6
	Disagree	26	23.9	24.3	29.9
Valid	don't know	18	16.5	16.8	46.7
	Agree	57	52.3	53.3	100.0
	Total	107	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	2	1.8		
Total		109	100.0		

Table 65. Gender Crosstab, Statement 7

		_	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	ching practice is larg	-	Total		
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	agree			
	Male	4	16	12	39	71		
gender	female	2	10	6	18	36		
Total		6	6 26 18 57					

Table 66. Experience Crosstab, Statement 7

		-	PD programs and activities that i have attended or taken.					
		strongly disagree	disagree	don't know	agree			
	1-5years	4	2	2	10	18		
412	6-10years	0	20	8	20	48		
teachingex	11-15years	2	4	2	20	28		
	16+	0	0	6	7	13		
Total		6	26	18	57	107		

The gender and experience cross tabulations 65 and 66 depict that the majority of both male and female teachers, no matter how much experience they have had, agreed/strongly agreed to the statement (see frequency table 62 and cross tabulations 63 and 64 above).

Statement 8 (The Faculty Development Institution (FDI) of HEC is well-equipped in terms of staff, resources and curriculum.) asked respondents to rate the quality of FDI's staff, resources and curriculum. The responses to this statement indicate that 44% of the teachers have no idea about FDI's staff, resources and curriculum. However, out of the remaining 56%, while 29% agreed/strongly agreed to the statement, 27% disagreed/strongly disagreed to it. These results are also very disturbing given the fact that HEC has regular contact with the universities and a very vibrant media cell. If 44 per cent of the respondents are unaware of FDI, it is a genuine worry.

Table 67. Frequency, Statement 8

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative
					Percent
	strongly disagree	12	11.0	11.0	11.0
	Disagree	17	15.6	15.6	26.6
Valid	don't know	48	44.0	44.0	70.6
vand	Agree	28	25.7	25.7	96.3
	strongly agree	4	3.7	3.7	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

According to the gender cross tabulation below (table 68), both male and female teachers do not know enough about the staff, resources and curriculum of FDI. The Experience cross tabulation 69, however, reveals mixed responses. Experienced and inexperienced teachers, for example, agreed, disagreed and remained neutral to the statement. Overall, this reveals a shockingly low level of knowledge regarding teacher development processes and facilities and would show how much this area needs to be developed in the country, whereas successful development required interest, intention, and active participation (Guskey, 2000; Bailey et al.,

2001; Lester, 2003). Of course, even if they were well equipped, there is still the problem of many institutions not being able to implement these concepts, as has been highlighted by Khattak and Abbasi (2010), among others.

Table 68. Gender Crosstab, Statement 8

		The faculty de	The faculty development institution (FDI) of hec is well-equipped in terms of staff, resources and curriculum.					
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree		
	Male	10	11	. 32	20	0	73	
gender	female	2	6	16	8	4	36	
Total		. 12	1,7	48	28	4	109	

Table 69. Experience Crosstab, Statement 8

		•	The faculty development institution (FDI) of hec is well-equipped in terms of staff, resources and curriculum.					
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	agree	strongly		
	1-5years	4	0	4	8	2	18	
Teachinge	6-10years	6	6	24	12	2	50	
x	11-15 years	2	8	14	4	0	28	
	16+	0	3	6	4	0	13	
Total		12	17	48	28	4	109	

Statement 9 (The Faculty Development Institution (FDI) evaluates its PD programs and activities in order to gain directions for improvement.) asked teachers if Faculty Development Institution (FDI) of HEC evaluates its PD programs and activities to gain directions for improvement. The results reveal that while about 38% of the respondents agreed to the statement, 41% preferred to choose 'don't know' as their answer. Furthermore, nearly 18% of the respondents disagreed/strongly disagreed to the statement.

A similar question, when asked in the interview, showed that teachers do not really think HEC evaluates its procedures, or they think it is all a sham. JA, RA, and KS, for instance, said a feedback form was given, though JA and RA also feel that it just seems to have been a formality. AS expresses his bitterness quite explicitly, stating that "[t]heir self-evaluation is just a... you know..." FR and AI, on the other hand, do not know whether HEC does this or not. FR says "I do hope so they do" but does not know if they really do it or not. MS and RM, on the other hand, are among those who are satisfied.

Table 70. Frequency, Statement 9

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	6	5.5	5.5	5.5
	Disagree	14	12.8	12.8	18.3
	don't know	45	41.3	41.3	59.6
Valid	Agree	40	36.7	36.7	96.3
	strongly agree	4	3.7	3.7	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

The gender cross tabulation of the statement reveals a mixed response from both male and female teachers. There were teachers, for example, who agreed/strongly agreed to the statement, disagreed/strongly disagreed to it and remained neutral to it. However, the ones who remained neutral outnumbered those who chose agreed and disagreed as the answers.

Table 71. Gender Crosstab, Statement 9

		The faculty dev	The faculty development institution evaluates its PD programs and activities in order to gain directions for improvement.							
		strongly disagree	disagree	don't know	agree	strongly agree				
gender	Male	4	12	23	32	2	73			
	female	2	2	22	8	2	36			
Total		6	14	45	40	4	109			

Table 72. Experience Crosstab, Statement 9

			The faculty development institution evaluates its PD programs and activities in order to gain directions for improvement.							
		strongly disagree	disagree	don't know	agree	strongly agree				
	1-5years	4	0	4	8	2	18			
T 1-1	6-10years	0	2	32	14	2	50			
Teachingex	11-15years	2	6	9	11	0	28			
	16+	. 0	6	0	7	0	13			
Total		6	14	45	40	4	109			

The experience cross tabulation 72 indicates that while novice teachers agreed/strongly agreed and remained neutral to the statement, experienced teachers disagreed to it.

This again might indicate that the actual interest taken by teachers in the process is rather low. And among those who do take interest, it would seem that the inexperienced teachers seem to be satisfied, while those who have seen more and have observed the process more do not seem to agree. This also might indicate that the actual process is not satisfactory, since newer teachers, since it is all new to them, are easy to be satisfied and impressed.

Statement 10 (*The results of these evaluations are documented and distributed among the participants and institutions.*) asked teachers to tell if the results of the evaluations carried out by HEC were documented and distributed among the participants and institutions. The results of the survey questionnaire indicate that the majority of the participants (38%) did not know about the documentation and distribution of such results among the participants and institutions. However, whereas there were some 32% respondents who agreed to the statement, there were about 24% who disagreed/strongly disagreed to it.

Table 73. Frequency, Statement 10

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	6	5.5	5.6	5.6
37-114	Disagree	19	17.4	17.8	23.4
	don't know	47	43.1	43.9	67.3
Valid	Agree	33	30.3	30.8	98.1
	strongly agree	2	1.8	1.9	100.0
	Total	107	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	2	1.8		
Total		109	100.0		

According to the gender cross tabulation below (table 74), on the one hand, male teachers agreed to the statement, on the other hand, a considerable number of them remained neutral to it. With regards to female respondents, the ones who remained neutral outnumbered those who agreed/strongly agreed to it.

Table 74. Gender Crosstab, Statement 10

		The results of t	The results of these evaluations are documented and distributed among the participants and institutions.							
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree				
gender	male	6	13	29	25	0	73			
	female	0	6	18	8	2	34			
Total		6	19	47	33	2	107			

The experience cross tabulation 75 reveals that while the majority of teachers with 1-5 and 11-15 years' experience agreed/strongly agreed to the statement, teachers with 6-10 and 16+ years' experience, respectively, remained neutral and disagreed to it.

Table 75. Experience Crosstab, Statement 10

	•		The results of these evaluations are documented and distributed among the participants and institutions.							
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	agree	strongly agree				
	1-5years	2	0	4	12	0	18			
Teachingex	6-10years	2	8	32	6	2	50			
	11-15years	2	6	7	11	0	26			
	16+	0	5	4	4	0	13			
Total		6	19	47	33	2	107			

In response to the same question during the interviews, only MS and RM said that the results are shared. Everyone else says they have never seen a self-evaluation report by HEC in their whole careers and are not even sure whether HEC reads the answers to the feedback forms they give to their participants or not.

These few statements have revealed a shockingly high level of disinterestedness on the part of the institutions conducting such activities. They do not seem to be interested in the teachers' development and seem to be too sure of themselves. However, considering that some teachers did claim results are distributed, it might be that the teachers who did not see them themselves did not check, though JA's statement that no change can be observed should not be ignored as well.

Statement 11 (The other institutions offering teacher training in Islamabad are also well-equipped in terms of staff, resources and curriculum.) asked teachers to rate the quality of staff, resources of other teacher training institutions in Islamabad. As can be seen in the frequency table 76 below, the majority of participants claimed that they did not know about the quality of staff, resources and curriculum of other teacher training institutions in Islamabad.

The gender and experience cross tabulations (tables 77 and 78) reveal that although a greater number of male and female and novice participants remained neutral to the statement, more experienced participants agreed to it. This is expected, considering that most teachers were shown earlier to go for institutional development only. It is not at all surprising that they only know of those institutions which they might officially be sent to. Nor is it strange that more awareness of other institutions is among the more experienced staff, which must have had more time to explore and plan their development options.

Table 76. Frequency, Statement 11

		Frequency Percent		Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	4	3.7	3.7	3.7
	Disagree	6	5.5	5.5	9.2
	don't know	58	53.2	53.2	62.4
Valid	Agree	39	35.8	35.8	98.2
	strongly agree	2	1.8	1.8	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

Table 77. Gender Crosstab, Statement 11

		are also	are also well-equipped in terms of staff, resources and curriculum.						
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	agree	strongly			
gender	Male	4	6	36	25	2	73		
	Female	0	0	22	14	0	36		
Total		4	6	58	39	2	109		

Table 78. Experience Crosstab, Statement 11

The other institutions offering teacher training in Islamabad are also Total well-equipped in terms of staff, resources and curriculum.

		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	agree	strongly agree
teachingex	1-5years	2	(	8	6	2
	6-10years	0	. 4	36	10	0
	11-15years	2	2	9	15	0
	16+	0	(	5	8	0
Γotal		4	e	58	39	2

Statements 12 to 15 comprise the second part (Teachers' learning) of the evaluation section. This section aimed to evaluate teachers' current professional development practices and to see whether the development programmes employed had been successful. The statements were designed to measure the effect of these programmes on the knowledge and the skill-base of the teachers and whether or not this has enabled them to better cope with the professional responsibilities.

Statement 12 (My professional development experience has helped me increase my knowledge base.) asked teachers to rate the extent to which the professional development experience had helped them increase their knowledge base. The results in the frequency table 79 show that the majority of the respondents (about 83%) agreed to this statement.

Table 79. Frequency, Statement 12

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	stongly disagree	6	5.5	5.5	5.5
	Disagree	2	1.8	1.8	7.3
Valid	don't know	10	9.2	9.2	16.5
Vallu	Agree	85	78.0	78.0	94.5
	strongly agree	6	5.5	5.5	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

The gender and experience cross tabulations 80 and 81 reveal that the teachers who mostly agreed to the statement were not only females but were also new and experienced (see cross tabulations below). This is interesting in that even the elder and more experienced teachers, who form a larger number of disappointed or unsatisfied individuals (thus indicating that they do not have much to gain), also seem to gain something nevertheless.

Table 80. Gender Crosstab, Statement 12

		My professi	_	ent experience ha nowledge base.	s helped my inc	crease my	Total
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly	
	Male	4	2	8	55	4	73
gender	female	2	0	2	30	2	36
Total		6	2	10	85	6	109

Table 81. Experience Crosstab, Statement 12

		My profession	My professional development experience has helped my increase my knowledge base.						
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	agree	strongly agree			
	1-5years	4	0	2	8	4	18		
Teachingex	6-10years	0	0	8	40	2	50		
reachingex	11-15years	2	2	0	24	0	28		
	16+	0	0	0	13	0	13		
Total		6	2	10	85	6	109		

Statement 13 (Having had some professional experience, now I am able to cope with the emerging challenges of the profession.) asked teachers to rate their ability of coping with the emerging challenges of the ELT profession after undertaking some professional development courses. The majority of teachers (63%) were of view that their professional development experience has enabled them to cope with the emerging challenges of the profession. For example, as is evident from the gender cross tabulation 83, a higher percentage of the male and female teachers agreed/strongly agreed to the statement. However, in the experience Cross tabulation below mostly the more experienced teachers agreed/strongly agreed to the statement. This again shows that elderly teachers do benefit from development, even if they find it somewhat dissatisfying. A number of success stories were also observed in the literature review, as was highlighted earlier as well.

Table 82. Frequency, Statement 13

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	4	3.7	3.8	3.8
	Disagree	6	5.5	5.7	9.5
V-1:4	don't know	16	14.7	15.2	24.8
Valid	Agree	69	63.3	65.7	90.5
	strongly agree	10	9.2	9.5	100.0
	Total	105	96.3	100.0	
Missing	System	4	3.7		
Total		109	100.0		

Table 83. Gender Crosstab, Statement 13

Having had some professional development experience, now I am Total able to cope with the emerging challenges of the profession. strongly Disagree don't know Agree strongly agree disagree 6 14 39 6 69 male 4 gender 0 2 4 0 30 36 female

6

Table 84. Experience Crosstab, Statement 13

Total

Having had some professional development experience, nover am able to Cope with the emerging challenges of the profession.

69

16

10

105

		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	agree	strongly agree
	1-5years	2	0	4	6	6
	6-10years	0	4	12	30	4
eachingex	11-15years	2	2	0	24	0
	16+	0	0	0	9	0
Γotal		4	6	16	69	10

Statement 14 (The evaluations of individually guided PD activities (such as self-monitoring, journal writing, portfolio writing, action research etc.) have helped me improve my ownlearning strategies.) asked teachers to rate the extent to which the evaluations of individually guided PD activities have helped them improve their own learning strategies. The results reveal that a greater number of teachers (80%) agreed/strongly agreed to the statement. The data in the cross tabulations 86 and 87,too, show that almost all male and female and novice and experienced respondents agreed/strongly agreed to the statefnent.

Table 85. Frequency, Statement 14

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	4	3.7	3.8	3.8
	Disagree	6	5.5	5.7	9.5
Valid	don't know	16	14.7	15.2	24.8
	Agree	69	63.3	65.7	90.5
	strongly agree	10	9.2	9.5	100.0
	Total	105	96.3	100.0	
Missing	System	4	3.7		
Total		109	100.0		

Table 86. Gender Crosstab, Statement 14

Having had some professional development experience, now I am

Total
able to cope with the emerging challenges of the profession.

		strongly disagree	disagree	don't know	agree	strongly agree
gender	Male	4	6	14	39	6
gender	female	0	0	2	30	4
Total		4	6	16	69	10

Table 87. Experience Crosstab, Statement 14

		•	Having had some professional development experience, now I am able to cope with the emerging challenges of the profession.							
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree				
	1-5years	2	0	4	6	6	18			
4hi	6-10years	0	4	12	30	4	50			
teachingex	11-15years	2	2	0	24	0	28			
	16+	0	0	0	9	0	9			
Total		. 4	6	16	69	10	105			

Statement 15 (The professional development programs have really changed my teaching practices.) asked teachers to rate the impact of professional development programs on their

teaching practices. The results indicate that 72% of the respondents agreed/strongly agreed to the statement. As can be seen in the gender cross tabulation below (table 89), a higher percentage of females agreed/strongly agreed to the statement.

Table 88. Frequency, Statement 15

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	4	3.7"	3.7	3.7
	Disagree	13	11.9	£ 11.9	15.6
	don't know	20	18.3	18.3	33.9
Valid	Agree	· 70	64.2	64.Ź ,	. 98.2
	strongly agree	2	1.8	1.8	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

Table 89. Gender Crosstab, Statement 15

		The professional	The professional development programs have really changed my teaching practice.						
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	agree	strongly agree			
	Male	4	9	12	48	0	73		
gender	female	0	4	8	22	2	36		
Total		4	13	20	70	2	109		

Table 90. Experience Crosstab, Statement 15

		The professional development programs have really changed my teaching practice.						
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree		
	1-5years	2	0	2	14	0	18	
4 1 -	6-10years	2	8	14	26	0	50	
teachingex	11-15years	0	2	4	20	2	28	
	16+	0	3	0	10	0	13	
Total		4 13 20 70 2					109	

From these statements, it would seem that, no matter what form the trainings and development programmes took, they seem to have had an overall positive impact on the teachers. Interestingly enough, a higher percentage of elderly and experienced teachers found it helpful,

perhaps because they had experimented enough to develop a large set of personalised techniques and methodologies.

Statements 16 to 23 comprise the third part (Organizational support and change) of the evaluation section. This section aimed to evaluate the organizational support that was available to the teachers during their professional development programs and activities; and the change these programs and activities brought in because of that support. Its role in evaluation is to help form suggestions for a better overall environment.

Statement 16 (My professional development experience has had a great impact on the climate and procedures of my department/organization.) asked teachers to rate the impact of the professional development experience on the climate and procedures of their department/organization. As can be seen in the frequency table below, almost 60% respondents agreed/strongly agreed to the statement. However, there are other 24% and 14% who remained neutral and disagreed to it.

Table 91. Frequency, Statement 16

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative
					Percent
	Disagree	15	13.8	13.8	13.8
	don't know	26	23.9	23.9	37.6
Valid	Agree	62	56.9	56.9	94.5
	strongly agree	6	5.5	5.5	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

The gender crosstab 92 reveals that the percentage of female participants who agreed/strongly agreed to statement is higher than those of males. However, in the experience cross tabulation it is mostly the novice teachers, having 1-5 years' experience, who agreed/strongly agreed to the statement.

Table 92. Gender Crosstab, Statement 16

	My professional development experience has had a great impact on the							
	climate and procedures of my department/organizations.							
		disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree			
gender	Male	13	16	42	2	73		
	female	2	10	20	4	36		
Total		15 26 62 6						

Table 93. Experience Crosstab, Statement 1

			My professional development experience has had a great impact on the climate and procedures of my department/organizations.					
		disagree						
					agree			
	1-5years	0	4	12	2	18		
teachingex	6-10years	10	14	24	2	50		
teachingex	11-15years	2	6	18	2	28		
	16+	3	2	8	0	13		
Total		15	26	62	6	109		

Statement 17 (*The teachers in my department have equitable access to professional development opportunities.*) asked teachers to rate the provision of professional development opportunities in their departments. While 66% teachers agreed/strongly agreed to the statement, among the remaining 34%, 16% remained neutral and 18% disagreed/strongly disagreed to it. Interviewees, when faced with a similar question, gave mixed answers. AS, for instance, suggests that the access is available, but teachers neither try to explore what opportunities are available, nor do they try to volunteer or apply for departmental activities or initiate anything in the department. KS, FR, and MS also believe equal access is available. However, around half of the interviewees, such as RM, RA, and JA, do not think it is so.

It has been observed by the researcher that the selection for such professional development programs tends to be more erratic in the departments which are either too big or too small i.e. in the big department housing a large number of faculty member fairness gets difficult to be

ensured due to lack of proper documentation and in the departments which are too small there are certain instances of cronyism. As Dayoub and Bashiruddin (2005), Westbrook et al. (2009), and others have noted, there does not seem to be a proper maintained method by which institutions manage their teachers' professional development, nor do faculties or colleagues work together on this.

Table 94. Frequency, Statement 17

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	6	5.5	5.5	5.5
	Disagree	14	12.8	12.8	18.3
	don't know	16	14.7	14.7	33.0
Valid	Agree	61	56.0	56.0	89.0
	strongly agree	12	11.0	11.0	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

As can be seen in the gender cross tabulation 95, a higher percentage (70%) of male respondents agreed/strongly agreed to the statement. The experience cross tabulation 96 depicts that most of the teachers, novice as well as experienced, agreed/strongly agreed to the statement.

Table 95. Gender Crosstab, Statement 17

		The teachers	The teachers in my department have equitable access to professional development opportunities.						
		strongly disagree	disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree			
	Male	4	6	10	45	8	73		
gender	female	2	8	6	16	4	36		
Total		6	14	16	61	12	109		

Table 96. Experience Crosstab, Statement 17

The teachers in my department have equitable access professional development opportunities.							Total
		strongly disagree	disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree	
	1-5years	0	2	2	10	4	18
<b></b>	6-10years	6	4	12	24	4	50
Teachingex	11-15years	0	6	2	16	4	28
	16+	0	2	0	11	0	13
Total		6	14	16	61	12	109

Statement 18 (*The teachers in my department are encouraged to plan and work collaboratively.*) asked teachers to rate the extent to which they plan and work collaboratively in their departments. The data in the frequency table 97 indicates that while the majority of the teachers (76%) agreed/strongly agreed to the statement, 14% respondents disagreed to it. This would overall be a positive thing, considering how a helpful environment can have positive effects on development, a fact that was elaborated by Rizvi (2008), Zimmerman and May (2003), and Dayoub and Bashiruddin (2012) with reference to the role of principals.

Table 97. Frequency, Statement 18

	,	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	Disagree	16	14.7	14.7	14.7
	don't know	10	9.2	9.2	23.9
	Agree	75	68.8	68.8	92.7
Valid	strongly agree	8	7.3	7.3	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

The gender crosstab below (table 98) reveals that while a great majority of both male and female teachers agreed/strongly agreed to the statement, there were a few who remained neutral and disagreed to it. In the experience cross tabulation 99, respondents with 1-5 and 16+ years' experience mostly agreed/strongly agreed to the statement. However, there were a few others,

with 6-10- and 11-15-years' experience, who remained neutral and disagreed to it. This pattern in the experience cross tabulation might indicate that people with less experience are easily satisfied while those with more experience are more lenient or realistic in their approach. Those in between, however, seem to be very idealistic and would like their departments/institutions to play a greater role.

Table 98. Gender Crosstab, Statement 18

		The teachers in my department are encouraged to plan and work collaboratively.					
	-	disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree		
gender	Male female	8	6	55 20	4	73 36	
Total	Temale	16	10	75	8	109	

Table 99. Experience Crosstab, Statement 18

		The teachers	The teachers in my department are encouraged to plan and work collaboratively.					
		disagree						
	1-5years	0	2	12	4	18		
T	6-10years	10	6	30	4	50		
Teachingex	11-15years	6	2	20	0	28		
	16+	0	0	13	0	13		
Total		16	10	75	8	109		

Statement 19 (In my department, teachers volunteer their classes for peer observation.) aimed to know if teachers in the federal capital universities of Pakistan volunteer their classes for peer observation. The results indicate that although 46% teachers agreed/strongly agreed to the statement, there are other 50% who either did not know about it or disagreed to it.

Table 100. Frequency, Statement 19

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	Disagree	33	30.3	30.8	30.8
	don't know	28	25.7	26.2	57.0
Valid	Agree	40	36.7	37.4	94.4
	strongly agree	6	5.5	5.6	100.0
	Total	. 107	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System		1.8		
Total		109	100.0		

The gender cross tabulation 101 reveals that while more males agreed/strongly agreed to the statement, a higher percentage of females disagreed to it. The experience cross tabulation 102, on the other hand, shows a mixed response. For example, whereas a greater number of novice teachers agreed/strongly agreed to the statement, a greater number of experienced teachers disagreed to it. Furthermore, while some 50% of the respondents, with 11-15 years' experience, responded to the statement positively, the other 50% responded negatively. Peer observation would thus seem to be something present in some places and missing in others.

Table 101. Gender Crosstab, Statement 19

		In my department, teachers volunteer their classes for peer observation.					
		Disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree		
gender	Male	15	24	28	4	71	
	female	18	4	12	2	36	
Total		33	28	40	6	107	

Table 102. Experience Crosstab, Statement 19

		ln my departi	In my department, teachers volunteer their classes for					
			peer observation.					
		Disagree don't know Agree strongly						
					agree			
	1-5years	2	4	6	4	16		
Tanahingay	6-10years	18	14	16	2	50		
Teachingex	11-15years	11	2	15	0	28		
	16+	2	8	3	0	13		
Total		33	28	40	6	107		

Statement 20 (*Teachers' evaluation in my department is developmental.*) asked teachers to rate teachers' evaluation in their departments. The data in the frequency table below depict that while the majority of the teachers (60%) agreed/strongly agreed to the statement; there were some 38% teachers who chose 'don't know' and 'disagree' as the answers. Driel et al (2001) have observed differently, saying that teachers are usually not practically trained and simply expected to "change," but it might be because of the specific cases that he consulted. After all, we ourselves have, in our own sample, a sizable amount that would agree with what they have said.

Table 103. Frequency, Statement 20

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	4	3.7	3.7	3.7
	Disagree	8	7.3	7.5	11.2
Valid	don't know	30	27.5	28.0	39.3
vand	Agree	57	52.3	53.3	92.5
	strongly agree	8	7.3	7.5	100.0
	Total	107	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	2	1.8		
Total		109	100.0		

The gender cross tabulation of the statement shows that more female teachers than males agreed/strongly agreed to the statement. As for males, about a half of them agreed/strongly agreed to the statement, there is the other half that either remained neutral or disagreed/strongly disagreed to it. According to the data in the experience cross tabulation105, while the majority of the teachers having 1-5, 11-15 and 16+ years' experience agreed/strongly agreed to the statement, teachers with 5-10 years' experience mostly chose 'don't know' as their answer. There were also a few teachers with 5-10 years' experience who disagreed to the statement.

Table 104. Gender Crosstab, Statement 20

		Teachers	Teachers' evaluation in my department is developmental.					
	_	strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree		
gender	Male	4	4	22	37	4	71	
	female	0	4	8	20	4	36	
Total		4	. 8	30	57	, 8	107	

Table 105. Experience Crosstab, Statement 20

		Teachers'	Teachers' evaluation in my department is developmental.					
	-	strongly disagree	disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree		
	1-5years	0	0	4	10	4	18	
Tanahinaan	6-10years	4	4	22	18	2	50	
Teachingex	11-15years	0	2	4	18	2	26	
	16+	0	2	0	11	0	13	
Total		4	8	_30	57	8	107	

Statement 21 (*Peer coaching/mentoring is encouraged in my department.*) asked teachers if peer coaching/mentoring was encouraged in their departments. The results reveal that while nearly 60% teachers agreed to this statement, 15% disagreed/strongly disagreed to it. The remaining 25% chose 'don't know' as their answer (see the frequency table 106 below).

Table 106. Frequency, Statement 21

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	6	5.5	5.5	5.5
	Disagree	12	11.0	11.0	16.5
Valid	don't know	26	23.9	23.9	40.4
	Agree	65	59.6	59.6	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

The gender cross tabulation below (table 107) indicates that the majority of female teachers agreed/strongly agreed to the statement. However, while about 50% per cent of the male participants agreed/strongly agreed to the statement, the other 50% disagreed/strongly disagreed to it. Whether or not this shows disunity and lack of cooperation among the males is a separate issue.

Table 107. Gender Crosstab, Statement 21

		Peer coaching	Total			
		strongly	Disagree	don't know	Agree	
		disagree				
gender	Male	6	4	24	39	73
	Female	0	8	2	26	36
Total8		6	12	26	65	109

The experience crosstab 108 shows that the variable 1-5 years (89%) is similar to the variable 11-15 years (78%) in that it has considerably a higher percentage of teachers who agreed to the statement. Nearly half of the teachers with 16+ years' experience agreed to the statement and the other half chose 'don't know' as their answer. However, the majority of teachers with 6-10 years' experience either remained neutral or disagreed/strongly disagreed to the statement.

Table 108. Experience Crosstab, Statement 21

		Peer coaching/mentoring is encouraged in my department.				
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	agree	
	1-5years	0	0	2	16	18
Tanahinaay	6-10years	6	10	14	20	50
Teachingex	11-15years	0	2	4	22	28
	16+	0	0	6	7	13
Total		6	12	26	65	109

Statement 22 (My department/organization gives incentives to teachers who grow themselves professionally.) asked teachers whether they were given incentives on developing themselves

professionally. It appears from the data in the frequency table below (table 109) that nearly the same number of teachers agreed/strongly agreed and disagreed/strongly disagreed to the statement. Furthermore, almost the same number chose 'don't know' as the answer. In fact, in certain cases the teachers confided to the researcher that those who grow professionally are burdened additional on this ground that now they are more capable. Some of the teachers discussed with the researcher how they got professional training about neuro-linguistics and computational linguistics and how their work load got increased as they were given these 'technical' courses to teach too which others could not teach. This is in line with the observations made by Zimmerman and May (2003), Doolittle et al (2008), Lester (2003), Dayoub and Bashiruddin (2012), etcetera, all of whom note that support, both institutionally in terms of money, time, and benefits, as well as good leadership and colleagues, are essential for good professional development, but are often not provided to the teachers, for whom PD, as a consequence, becomes an added burden. In the interviews, also, teachers said that they were given no incentives. In fact, some teachers even jokingly said that the only incentive was that they won't have to teach for a day or two, or, as RA put it, "the lunch!".

Table 109. Frequency, Statement 22

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	strongly disagree	12	11.0	11.0	11.0
	Disagree	25	22.9	22.9	33.9
	don't know	30	27.5	27.5	61.5
	Agree	36	33.0	33.0	94.5
	strongly agree	6	5.5	5.5	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

The gender and the experience cross tabulations 110 and 111 depict that a large number of male and female and novice and experienced teachers remained neutral or disagreed/strongly disagreed to this statement. Male teachers who did so had a slightly higher percentage (62%) than females (61%).

Table 110. Gender Crosstab, Statement 22

		My department/organization gives incentives to teachers who grow themselves professionally.					Total
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree	
gender	Male	8	13	24	26	2	73
	female	4	12	6	10	4	36
Total		12	. 25	30	36	6	109

Table 111. Experience Crosstab, Statement 22

My department/organization gives incentives to teachers who grow themselves professionally. strongly Disagree don't know agree strongly Total disagree agree 1-5years 6-10years **Teachingex** 11-15years 16+ Total 

Statement 23 (My department always funds for the professional development programs.) asked teachers if their departments funded them for the PD programs. As can be seen in the frequency table below, 40% of the teachers did not know whether they were funded for the professional development programs. Furthermore, while about 30% of the remaining teachers agreed/strongly agreed to the statement, the other 30% disagreed/strongly disagreed to it. The interviewees, however said that they are mostly not, though FR and RM said that some of them were partially funded.

Table 112. Frequency, Statement 23

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	Strongly disagree	2	1.8	1.8	1.8
	Disagree	28	25.7	25.7	27.5
	don't know	44	40.4	40.4	67.9
Valid	Agree	31	28.4	28.4	96.3
	strongly agree	4	3.7	3.7	100.0
•	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

The gender crosstab 113 shows that the male (68%) teachers are approximately the same as the female teachers (66%) in that they mostly chose 'don't know', 'disagree' and 'strongly disagree as their answers. However, the results of the experience cross tabulation are a bit different. As is evident in this crosstab, while teachers with 6-10 and 16+ years' experience chose don't know', 'disagree' or strongly disagree as the answers, teachers with 1-5 and 11-15 years' experience agreed/strongly agreed to the statement (please see the cross tabulations below).

Table 113. Gender Crosstab, Statement 23

		My d	epartment alv	ways funds for t	he PD progr	rams.	Total	
		strongly	Disagree	Disagree don't know A		strongly agree		
		disagree						
gender	Male	0	18	32	23	0	73	
	female	2	10	12	8	4	36	
Total		2	28	44	31	4	109	

Table 114 Experience Crosstab, Statement 23

		My de	epartment alv	ways funds for t	he PD progr	ams.	Total
		strongly disagree	disagree	don't know	адтее	strongly agree	
	1-5years	0	0	8	10	0	18
Teachingex	6-10years	2	12	30	4	2	50
reachingex	11-15years	0	11	2	13	2	28
	16+	0	5	4	4	0	13
Total		2	28	44	31	4	109

Statement 24 (My department encourages me to try innovative practices and strategies) aimed to know whether teachers were encouraged to try innovative practices and strategies. According to results in the frequency table below, more than 70% of the teachers agreed/strongly agreed to the statement. Westbrook et al (2009), would have sided, however, with the remaining teachers, who did not agree and suggest that a lack of institutional support is a major impediment in PD practices.

Table 115. Frequency, Statement 24

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	2	1.8	1.8	1.8
	Disagree	11	10.1	10.1	11.9
	don't know	18	16.5	16.5	28.4
Valid	Agree	70	64.2	64.2	92.7
	strongly agree	8	7.3	7.3	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

In the gender crosstab below, female and male teachers are different in that females have more percentage of teachers (77%) than males (68%) who agreed/strongly agreed to the statement.

Table 116. Gender Crosstab, Statement 24

		My departme	nt encourages n	ne to try innovat	ive practices an	d strategies.	Total
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree	
gender	Male	0	11	12	46	4	73
	female	2	0	6	24	4	36
Total		2	11	18	70	8	109

Like the gender cross tabulation 116, the experience crosstab 117 depicts that the majority of both novice and experienced teachers were of view that their departments encouraged them to try innovative practices and strategies in their language classrooms.

Table 117. Experience Crosstab, Statement 24

		My departmen	My department encourages me to try innovative practices and strategies.								
	•	strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree					
	1-5years	0	2	0	12	4	18				
m 1:	6-10years	2	2	14	30	2	50				
Teachingex	11-15years	0	4	4	18	2	28				
	16+	0	3	0	10	0	13				
Total		2	11	18	70	8	109				

Statements 24 to 27 try to gauge the benefit the new skills have brought to the teachers' life. They try to measure the extent to which the skills and knowledge gained benefitted the teachers and whether or not they were employed in practical life. They also try to find out whether the institutional environment, in terms of administration, colleagues, and resources is conducive to the application of this new knowledge.

Statement 25 (I am always encouraged to share my learning experiences with my colleagues.) aimed to know whether teachers of the federal capital universities were encouraged to share their learning experiences with their colleagues. The results in the frequency table 118 reveal that a great majority of teachers (85%) is encouraged to do so. This majority includes all the respondents, irrespective of their gender and experience.

Table 118. Frequency, Statement 25

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	Disagree	14	12.8	12.8	12.8
	don't know	10	9.2	9.2	22.0
37.11.3	Agree	79	72.5	72.5	94.5
Valid	strongly agree	6	5.5	5.5	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	<b>†</b> 00.0	

Table 119. Gender Crosstab, Statement 25

		I'm always enc	ouraged to share n	ny learning experie	ences with my	Total
			collea	gues.		
		disagree	don't know	agree	strongly agree	
	Male	12	10	49	2	73
gender	female	2	0	30	4	36
Total		14	10	79	6	109

Table 120. Experience Crosstab, Statement 25

		I'm always ence	I'm always encouraged to share my learning experiences with my colleagues.					
		disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree			
	1-5years	0	0	14	4	18		
Tanahinaay	6-10years	12	8	28	2	50		
Teachingex	11-15years	2	2	24	0	28		
	16+	0	0	13	0	13		
Total	14 10 79 6					109		

Statement 26 (*The technological resources required to implement innovative practices are available in my department.*) asked teachers about the availability of technological resources required to implement innovative practices. According to the results, whereas a half of the teachers chose 'don't know', 'disagree' and strongly disagree, the other half chose 'agree' and 'strongly agree' (pl see the frequency table below). Khattak and Abbasi (2010) have also highlighted this problem in their study related to one of the HEC's language teacher trainings. In this matter, AS, in his interview, strongly criticized the institutions for not introducing relevant technology.

Table 121. Frequency, Statement 26

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	8	7.3	7.3	7.3
	Disagree	26	23.9	23.9	31.2
V-1: J	don't know	20	18.3	18.3	49.5
Valid	Agree	47	- 43.1	43.1	92.7
	strongly agree	8	7.3	7.3	100.0
	Total -	109	100.0	100.0	

The result of the gender cross tabulation 122 is exactly the same as the result of the frequency table 121. As can be seen in the table below, 50% of both male and female teachers chose 'don't know', 'disagree' and 'strongly disagree', while the other 50% chose 'agree' and 'strongly agree'.

Table 122. Gender Crosstab, Statement 26

		The technolog	The technological resources required to implement innovative practices are available in my department.					
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree	_	
1_	Male	2	18	16	35	2	73	
gender	female	6	8	4	12	6	36	
Total_		8	26	20	47	8	109	

In the experience cross tabulation 123 below, the variables 1-5 and 11-15 are alike in that they have higher percentages of teachers who agreed/strongly agreed to the statement. However, the teachers with 6-10 (72%) and 16+ (68%) years' experience chose 'don't know', 'disagree' and 'strongly disagree'. Thus, it would seem that, in terms of resources, some institutions are better off than others.

Table 123. Experience Crosstab, Statement 26

			ogical resource ractices are ava	-	-		Total
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree	
	1-5years	0	2	0	12	4	18
Taaahimaay	6-10years	6	18	10	14	2	50
Teachingex	11-15years	2	4	2	18	2	28
	16+	0	2	8	3	0	13
Total		8	26	20	47	8	109

Statement 27 (*I incorporate the new knowledge and skills into practice*.) asked teachers if they incorporate new knowledge and skills into practice. The results show that the majority of teachers agreed/strongly agreed to the statement.

Table 124. Frequency, Statement 27

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	4	3.7	3.7	3.7
	Disagree	6	5.5	5.5	9.2
	don't know	6	5.5	5.5	14.7
Valid	Agree	89	81.7	81.7	96.3
	strongly agree	4	3.7	3.7	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

As for the cross tabulations of the statement, the results reveal that all male and female and novice and experienced teachers agreed to this statement (see cross tabulations below). Of course, we must not forget Curtis' (2001) statement about teachers possibly faking development when we consider this statement.

Table 125. Gender Crosstab, Statement 27

		I incorpor	I incorporate the new knowledge and skills into practice.						
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	agree	strongly			
					agree				
gandar	Male	4	4	6	59	0	73		
gender	Female	0	2	0	30	4	36		
Total		4	6	6	89	4	109		

Table 126. Experience Crosstab, Statement 27

		I incorp	I incorporate the new knowledge and skills into practice.					
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree		
	1-5years	0	0	2	16	0	18	
	6-10years	4	4	2	38	2	50	
Teachingex	11-15years	0	2	2	22	2	28	
	16+	0	0	0	13	0	13	
Total		4	6	6	89	4	109	

Statements 28 to 31 measure the impact of these activities on the students' progress. Thus, in terms of output, it measures the success of these programmes by seeing whether or not they are beneficial to the students, who are the people receiving the teachers' service. The statements try to find out whether or not the programmes considered the students' needs and whether or not the students' interest (and attendance) and their confidence and learning has improved after the teachers took part in these activities.

Statement 28 (*The professional development programs that I participated in were planned with explicit student learning outcomes.*) asked teachers whether their participation in PD programs was planned with explicit student learning outcomes. As can be seen in the frequency table 127, a great number of participants responded positively to the statement.

Table 127. Frequency, Statement 28

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	4	3.7	3.7	3.7
	Disagree	13	11.9	12.1	15.9
Valid	don't know	16	14.7	15.0	30.8
vand	Agree	66	60.6	61.7	92.5
	strongly agree	8	7.3	7.5	100.0
	Total	107	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	2	1.8		•
Total		109	100.0		

Regarding cross tabulations 128 and 129, the data reveal that a greater number of teachers, irrespective of their genders and experience, agreed/strongly agreed to the statement (see cross tabulations below). It would seem thus that development programmes try, at least, to be student centred and focused on getting positive results.

Table 128. Gender Crosstab, Statement 28

		The profession	The professional development programs that I participated in were planned with explicit student learning outcomes.						
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	Agree strongly agree	_			
1	Male	4	7	14	44 ,	4 73			
gender	female	0	6	2	22 ,	4 34			
Total		4	13	16	66	8 107			

Table 129. Experience Crosstab, Statement 28

		The profession	The professional development programs that I participated in were planned with explicit student learning outcomes.						
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	agree	strongly agree			
	1-5years	0	0	4	8	6	18		
Taaahinaay	6-10years	4	8	10	26	0	48		
Teachingex	11-15years	.0	2	2	22	2	28		
	16+	0	3	0	10	0	13		
Total		4	13	16	66	8	107		

Statement 29 (The PD programs that I participated in have helped me improve student attendance.) asked teachers if their participation in the professional development programs had helped them improve student attendance. The results reveal that although 57% teachers agreed/strongly agreed to the statement, there are still 42% teachers who chose 'don't know', 'disagree' and 'strongly disagree'. However, the teachers who chose 'don't know' outnumbered the ones who chose 'disagree' and 'strongly disagree'.

Table 130. Frequency, Statement 29

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	2	1.8	_1.8	1.8
	Disagree	11	10.1	10.1	11.9
. 7 - 1 ! - 1	don't know	33	30.3	30.3	42.2
/alid	Agree	53	48.6	48.6	90.8
	strongly agree	10	9.2	9.2	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

The gender crosstab below reveals that more females (71%) than males (50%) responded positively to the statement. According to the experience cross tabulation, teachers having 1-5, 11-15 and 16+ years' experience mostly agreed/strongly agreed to the statement. However, the response of the teachers with 5-10 years' experience was fifty-fifty. For the younger teachers and teachers with 5-10 years' experience, it might be possible that there is somewhat less positive outcome because they become over-enthusiastic to do too much, making the students stay away as a result.

Table 131. Gender Crosstab, Statement 29

		The PD pro	The PD programs or activities that I participated in have helped me improve							
				student attendance						
		strongly	Disagree	don't know	agree	strongly agree				
		disagree								
aam dan	Male	2	9	25	33	4	73			
gender	female	0	2	8	20	6	36			
Total		2	11	33	53	10	109			

Table 132. Experience Crosstab, Statement 29

			The PD programs or activities that I participated in have helped me improve student attendance.					
	-	strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	agree	strongly agree		
	1-5years	0	0	4	8	6	18	
Taaahimaay	6-10years	2	6	18	22	2	50	
Teachingex	11-15years	0	2	11	13	2	28	
	16+	_ 0	3	0	10	0	13	
Total		2	11	33	53	10	109	

Statement 30 (My professional development experience has helped me make my students more confident as learners.) aimed to know if teachers' professional development experience had helped them make their students more confident learners. The data in the frequency table 133 shows that a large number of respondents (almost 81%) loaded the statement as positive and there are hardly any teachers who disagreed to the statement.

Table 133. Frequency, Statement 30

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
	strongly disagree	2	1.8	1.8	1.8
	Disagree	. 2	1.8	1.8	3.7
	don't know	17	15.6	15.6	19.3
Valid	Agree	80	73.4	73.4	92.7
	strongly agree	8	7.3	7.3	100.0
	Total	109	100.0	100.0	

Cross tabulations below (gender and experience) reveal that both male and female teachers, irrespective of their teaching experience, agreed/strongly agreed to the statement. From this, it would seem that, despite there being some teachers who were a bit disappointed and despite what we learnt regarding most development plans being mainly institutional, the teachers are seeing results.

Table 134. Gender Crosstab, Statement 30

		My professiona	My professional development experience has helped me make my students more confident as learners.						
		strongly disagree	disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree			
gender	Male	2	0	17	52	2	73		
Total	female	0 2	2	0 17	28 80	6	36 109		

Table 135. Experience Crosstab, Statement 30

		My pro	ofession	-	ent experience re confident as		e make my	Total
		stroi		Disagree	don't know	agree	strongly agree	
•	1-5years		0	0	0	16	2	18
Teachingex	6-10years		2	2	10	32	4	50
,	11-15 years		0	0	7	19	2	28
•	16+		0	0	0	13	0	13
Total			2_	2	17	80_	8	109

Statement 31 (The programs or activities I participated in have enabled me to bring my students to higher levels of academic achievement.) asked teachers about the role of PD programs and activities in bringing students to higher level of achievement. The data in the frequency table 136 reveal that 75% of the teachers agreed/strongly agreed to the statement. In the interviews as well, the teachers all agreed that student performance has improved due to their activities, though the "sometimes" in KS's answer also shows that it is always not so. Furthermore, that in response to this question, the interviewees all started talking about personal feedback and discussions (which earlier most of them did not) and the fact that a few of them explicitly stated that individual work is more beneficial in this case also shows that personalized development is more beneficial than institutionalized workshops.

Table 136. Frequency, Statement 31

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent	
	strongly disagree	2	1.8	1.9	1.9	
Valid	Disagree	2	1.8	1.9	3.7	
	don't know	21	19.3	19.6	23.4	
	Agree	70	64.2	65.4	88.8	
	strongly agree	12	11.0	11.2	100.0	
	Total	107	98.2	100.0		
Missing	System	2	1.8			
Total		109	100.0			

As can be seen in cross the tabulations below (tables 137 and 138), almost all of the respondents think that their participation in the professional development programs and activities has enabled them to bring their students to higher level of achievement. This, again, might show that teachers do seem to have improved in their performance.

Table 137. Gender Crosstab, Statement 31

		The programs or activities that i participated in have enabled me to bring my students to higher levels of academic achievement.					
		strongly disagree	Disagree	don't know	Agree	strongly agree	
Gender	Male	2	0	17	48	6	73
	female	0	2	4	22	6	34
Total		2	2	21	70	12	107

Table 138. Experience Crosstab, Statement 31

		The prog	Total				
		strongly disagree	disagree	don't know	agree	strongly agree	
	1-5years	0	0	0	12	4	16
	6-10years	2	2	12	28	6	50
Teachingex	11- 15y <b>ea</b> rs	0	0	9	17	2	28
	16+	0	0	0	13	0	13
Total		2	2	21	70	12	107

From all of these statements, we can see that teachers seem to be satisfied with the overall process, its results, and with the situation of the organisations. It seems that the situation has started to change, for the majority of respondents believe that their institutions support them and encourage innovation. Also, teachers seem to think that their results and the interest and support of students have also increased, thanks to these programmes.

On the other hand, we can also see certain areas where the teachers are either unsure or where the number of people who are satisfied is equal to those who are not. Incentives, peer observation, resources, etc. seem to be areas which are still in need of improvement. Overall, however, the situation seems to have both positive and negative sides, improvements that have been made and places that are lacking, and also merits as well as demerits.

#### Conclusion

In this chapter, I have discussed the data that was gathered through the questionnaire and the interviews. I have tried to analyse them in a way that can help me answer my research questions. In the concluding chapter, I will use this data and analyses to formulate my answers regarding these questions. However, it would do me well if I cast a quick look over my analysis in a way that allows me to summarise my findings.

From the analysis, I have discovered that the English language teachers of the federal capital universities in Pakistan mostly do participate in developmental programmes, but most of these are activities at an institutional level and on the initiative of their departments. In fact, around half of the teachers participated because it was mandatory in their departments. The frequency of these activities, too, is not that encouraging. Membership in teacher associations also is rather low, considering that most of those who were members were part of the now inactive SPELT. Furthermore, the role which they played in their associations was mostly that of "participant" and active roles were not that common.

Regarding their subscriptions to journals, I found out that around half of the teachers or their departments were subscribed to educational journals. However, the cross-tabulations reveal that it was mostly the more experienced people who subscribed to these journals. Also, it was revealed in interviews that there were often large time-gaps before the teachers would receive a copy of these journals. Participation in forums and in co-curricular activities was also lacking.

Furthermore, most of the teachers felt there was no need to have a professional qualification for teaching English.

From this, we can say that the teachers' own developmental habits are mostly lacking, though it can be seen from the cross-tabulations that certain groupings or people are better off in some cases. The third section of the questionnaire attempted to analyse the effectiveness of the developmental activities themselves. I shall now try to summarise what this section revealed regarding the developmental programmes and activities that were opted for by the teachers.

Regarding the satisfaction of the teachers, it was revealed that most teachers found these activities to be sufficient and of high quality. However, the percentage of those who were disappointed or critical was not too small, nearing almost half of the total sample. Overall, it seems that the majority of teachers felt good in such programmes and found them relevant and effective. Some reservations were observed regarding the self-evaluation of programmes and the consent of teachers in their planning and execution, the majority seemed satisfied in most cases.

Apart from this matter, the majority of the teachers seem to feel that their knowledge-base has increased and also that these activities have benefitted them and brought changes into their practice. They also seem to think that the environment of their institution has improved and that their institutions are overall conducive to and accepting of change. There are some reservations, however, especially in matters like peer observation, but most teachers find their institutional environment to be cooperative and friendly.

Regarding the application and the impact of these activities, I find, once again, that most teachers are satisfied. Their departments mostly encourage the use of and the teaching of innovative practices, and around half of them also seem to have the required materials at their

disposal. The majority also claim to incorporate these activities in their practice and they believe that this has improved their classes. They claim, for example, that the activities were produced in accordance with the students' needs, that the students are showing more interest and their attendance has improved, and also that the students are more confident and are achieving better results. There are some reservations in some cases, but the majority seems to be satisfied.

Thus, we can see from this analysis that the teachers are mostly satisfied and the overall impact of these development programmes is positive. However, there are some reservations which could be consulted for further improving or adding to these activities. Despite this, however, the actual development habits of the teachers are lacking, and there is a strong need for them to develop themselves personally in this matter so that they can truly benefit from this practice.

#### CHAPTER FIVE

## Conclusion: Findings and Recommendations

Based on the present research, this concluding chapter will now try and gain some answers to the questions posed in the beginning of this study. The following questions were laiddown:

- 1. What professional development programs or activities do English language teachers of the federal capital universities take part in?
- 2. To what extent are these PD programs/activities effective?
- 3. What measures can be taken to improve future PD endeavours?

This chapter, therefore, deals with the answers to these questions in the light of data analysis that has been carried out.

#### Findings of the Study

# Professional Development Practices of English Language Teachers of the Federal Capital Universities in Pakistan

As I mentioned in chapters 3 and 4, the second section of the questionnaire and some interview questions were designed to elicit responses that could help us know about the current professional development practices of English language teachers working in the federal capital universities of Pakistan. The first question in the second section of the questionnaire, for example, asked teachers to choose from the list provided in the questionnaire the PD activities/programs they took part in. From their responses, it is learnt that they mostly take part in the activities/programs initiated by their institutions. Workshops, seminars, and conferences, for instance, are the only activities that have a participation percentage of more than 60% (with workshops having the highest score of 87%, and conferences and seminars following closely at 70% and 65%), while peer observation and self-monitoring are the only non-institutional activities to achieve a score of 30% or above (38% and 37% respectively). Other PD activities/programs on the list (in the questionnaire), though they have some

participation, do not even reach 25% participation (the highest amount achieved by any of these activities being 23%).

When asked about these activities in the interviews, the teachers revealed they were not quite aware of all of these activities, and in some cases (such as JA and MS) it was seen that they just have a vague idea of what development is and what it involves. In fact, apart from one or two teachers, all of them talked about just workshops and seminars and not of any personalized method or development plan. For most of them, the most they do is to attend workshops, talk to a few colleagues, and get feedback from students.

From these results, we can infer that the English language teachers of the federal capital universities in Pakistan are mostly uninformed of the full scope of professional development, and they only take part in the PD activities that are initiated by their institutions or which are simply part of their daily discussions with their friends. This runs counter to what we have discussed about development earlier; that professional development is supposed to be more of a continuous, flexible and an on-going practice which involves ones conscious effort and involvement (Guskey, 2000).

As for the frequency of conducting/arranging these professional development activities/programs either by the teachers themselves or their departments/institutions, we can see from the responses to question 3 that the idea of continuous development does not exist among most teachers and institutions. Only 9.3% of the teachers responded to the question by saying that they or their departments "always" take part in some developmental activity. One reassuring element, however, was that the number of people who responded by selecting the option "seldom" was also a very small percentage (17.4%), which means that the English language teachers or the English departments of the federal capital universities somehow engage in such activities. However, if we look at the rest of the options, we would see that the

highest score among the options is for "sometimes" (28.4%) and then for "seldom", while the more favourable options like "usually" and "often" do not even reach 25%. As such, it may be said that even though the teachers do engage in such activities, they only do so every now and then.

The same thing is also seen in the interviews, where the teachers reveal a shockingly low level of engagement in such activities. AI, for instance, revealed that she only engages with development issues when a workshop comes up or when she runs into a problematic class. FR and RA, on the other hand, revealed a personalized level of engagement, saying that development is a part of the teaching process. Most of the others, however, when asked how often they engage in development activities, talked about how frequently they attend workshops, again showing how narrow their definition of professional development actually is. And even there, there were only two who regularly went to workshops, otherwise the others only attended if and when they got nominated.

Furthermore, in response to question 2 in the same section, more than half (53%) of these teachers also responded that such activities were mandatory in their institutions, something that we find reflected in the interviews as well, where around half of the teachers stated that their consent is not taken when nominating them for workshops, while some of the other half said sometimes it is, and a small percentage said it always is. From this, it could be said that percentage among them may have participated only because of institutional demands.

This again leads to the issue that development ought to be continuous, intentional, and self-motivated (Guskey, 2000; Bailey et al., 2001), which, however, does not seem to be the case in the present study. As per the spirit of professional development, it should not be forced or simply imposed from the outside, or else the teachers might simply fake it while gaining nothing out of it (Curtis, 2001). That the percentage who participate despite it not being

mandatory is 47%, however, might indicate a possibility of the teachers' participating for genuine development interests, a question which we have also dealt with in other areas of the questionnaire, to which we shall presently turn.

From the responses to questions 4 and 5, we learn that although the teachers of the federal capital universities do not engage in professional development activities/programs quite often, they are aware of their purpose and benefit. 65% of the teachers, for example, claimed that they took part in such activities in order to gain more knowledge while 63% claimed they did it to become up-to-date with the developments in English language teaching. This necessarily implies that they participate in these activities in order to learn about the latest methods and ideas regarding language teaching/learning. And if we add to this the fact that very few teachers chose salary (23%) or avoiding isolation (14%) as their reasons for participating, it would seem at least that the teachers, though they do not initiate the process of development, do seem to participate for the right reasons.

The main aim of the teachers (Question 5), when taking part in these activities, also seems to be such goals as knowledge base (65%), pedagogical skills (63%), materials development (39%), a better understanding of their pupils (39%), and self-analysis (39%). Of course, career advancement was also chosen by many as a possible goal (29%), which, is in many ways inevitable since career benefits do come with professional development, and having them as a side goal does not hurt. A trend that was observed also in our analysis was that older and more experienced teachers have selected more reasons for attending, which might indicate that the teachers are themselves growing and learning as they teach and are thus gaining more insight into what they might gain from such activities. Overall, these questions reveal some level of maturity and the promise that things might improve over time.

This positive image of the teachers' practices, however, is contrasted by their actual effort. We have already seen that the English language teachers of the federal capital universities in Pakistan take negligible part in professional development activities/programs that are carried out or undertaken at the personal/individual level (the maximum scores were 38% and 37% for only two such activities, while others never reached beyond 23%); as most of them chose only those professional development activities that are carried out at the institutional level (with workshops, conferences, and seminars having the highest scores of 87%, 70%, and 65% respectively). Now if I add to this some of my other findings, we would learn that, even if the teachers' goals for attending such programs are positive, their efforts are not enough.

As per the results of this study, only around half (51.4%) of the English language teachers of the federal capital universities in Pakistan are part of any professional training body/forum. Slightly more than half of them claimed to be the members of one such body/forum, but an overwhelming majority (90%) of these were members of certain organizations/bodies considered dysfunctional by some of the participants. And even if we do suppose that around half or more than half were part of an organization, very few participated as organizers (6% of those who responded to the question) or presenters (2% of those who responded to the question), since most of them only attended the sessions of such organizations as "participants" (and 4% of the respondents did not even choose to answer the question). This is what makes most of them just 'sleeping partners'. Thus, we can see that the teachers show quite a low level of interest or motivation as they displayed no interest in actively contributing to such programs and were content with just "attending". This finding is further strengthened by our earlier observation that a very few of them took part in non-institutional and personal elements of development and some of them were not even aware of such personal activities.

This idea that the teachers' motivation or interest is lacking and that their efforts are not enough is further strengthened by some of our other findings as well. For example, only around half (57.8% of those who responded) of the English language teachers of the federal capital universities in Pakistan were subscribed to any professional development journal (with 1.8% respondents ignoring the question altogether), and even there, it was revealed in the interviews that they were mostly subscribed to the journal titled *English Teaching Forum* and that they would sometimes not even receive a copy of that. Some even said that their universities were not subscribed to any journals, while, upon inquiry, it was discovered that the universities had subscribed to a sufficient amount of journals but the teachers had not even bothered to find out. Had they shown a greater level of interest or motivation, they would necessarily have shown a wider reading and they would have at least visited their own library to see what material is available.

Another issue that can be identified is that very few (13%) of the English language teachers had a degree or diploma in TEF/SL or had joined any virtual forum for teachers (17.4%). And even though the teachers without TEF/SL degrees could have improved themselves or have become somewhat better qualified by taking part in other short or long term courses, many of them (78%) did not even consider it necessary to be trained for language teaching classes. In other words, many of the teachers see language teaching as an "easy job." They believe that language teaching does not require a specific qualification or any form of additional training and practice. And the fact that they see it as a less taxing or an "easy job" is proven further by the fact that many of them do not even engage in other co-curricular activities that could help them in maintaining their interest (only 36% participated in materials writing, 21% in writing items for public exams, 31% in organizing entertainment activities, and 38% running literary societies, sports-teams, or get-togethers, if we ignore the obvious overlaps that would occur in

these responses). Thus, we can see that they do not take any sorts of measure to make sure that their teaching practice does not turn into something mechanical and repetitive.

Yet another faulty area in the developmental activities of the teachers is that the majority (67.9%) of these teachers does not engage in peer observation and are also not required to do so in their institutions. And even if we consider the fact that they have participated in workshops, most (64.2%) of them have only participated in 1-5 such workshops, and only 18.3% have participated in 6-10 and only 4.6% in more than 11 workshops over their career. Of course, the factor of experience and age comes to play over here, but even among the more experienced teachers, only 5 out of 13 have participated in more than 11 and 4 have participated in 6-10 workshops, while 4 of these 13 have not participated in any workshop at all. This trend was also seen somewhat in the interviews, where only KS and AS said they regularly attend workshops and keep tabs on the various institutions for updates, and the others, it would seem, only went to workshops if and when nominated.

In the same vein, Around half (43.9%) of the teachers also do not even know whether or not there is any report generated by their institutions or by the HEC on what results and observations can be derived from the development sessions just held, something that is reflected in both their responses to the questionnaires as well as their interviews. Given this lack of awareness or interest, then, how could one expect the teachers to come up with their own practices or to generate their own personalised/customizable or locally situated development plans or to even develop in a way that is beneficial to them and their students?

Thus, we can see that the answer we get to our first question is not that satisfying. English language teachers of the federal capital universities do seem to know the benefits of professional development, but they do not actively engage in developmental activities. Most of the activities they do take part in are due to institutional demands, while they are lacking in

areas of other, more personal, efforts. The overall situation of the institutions and the teachers' awareness and interest in the matter also seem to be lacking. Furthermore, many of the teachers even take language teaching as a simple and easy task and do not consider training as a necessary prerequisite to it. Thus, we can say that, with regards to their developmental activities, the teachers are seriously lacking and they really need to engage themselves in professional development activities if they want to have greater success.

That being said, we must not forget that such a monolithic picture of teachers and their development activities does not represent the actual situation. Our analysis revealed in many areas that gender and experience, when taken into consideration, shows that teachers vary in their activities and in how they engage with the idea of development. For instance, it was noted in Questions 1 and 2 that females were more interested in personalized developmental activities (with the minimum being 24.4% among females and the maximum being 81.8%) and that professional development activities are not usually mandatory for the older and more experienced teachers (84.6%), while they are more often mandatory amongst women (66.7%) than in men (46%). This could reveal a number of issues. First of all, if less experienced teachers are more active, the more experienced ones are not, then either the development activities are not creative enough to maintain interest for long or else the teachers are only participating because of institutional demands.

This can also mean that the groups that have greater participation in developmental activities are either more enthusiastic or that they are feeling less competent and thus more pressured to participate in such activities. If it is the former, then it would seem that most of the males (not all, for that would be an incorrect conclusion, as is demonstrated by our data) are only interested in teaching as a job, and interest in development is more abundant amongst the women. In the case of the later, it would be that the institutions do not trust the less experienced and the female

teachers (and that is why they do not make development mandatory that often for the more experienced and male teachers while doing so for female and younger teachers) and they put more pressure on them and think they need to develop more often than the others.

Whether or not the more experienced and male teachers' greater exemption from the mandatory-ness of these activities has anything to do with the greater participation of the females and the less experienced ones or not, however, still has to be explored. Also, we must not be too quick to judge, for the elderly were also reported to participate in PD activities more frequently than the young, as is shown in the answers to Question 3, where all of the teachers with more than 16 years of experience said that they "usually" or "often" engage in professional development activities. Also, the fact that females have more personal reasons for development (Question 4, where 88% women chose acquiring new knowledge, 72% chose keeping up-todate with the developments ELT, 33.3% chose salary, 11.1% chose combating negativity, 16.7% chose overcoming isolation, and 61.1% chose understanding students) while men are more job-oriented (among the male participants, the corresponding percentages were 53.4%, 58.9%, 17.8%, 21.9%,12.3%, and 35.6%, where salary and isolation are the only areas where their results are reflecting a more positive image than the women's) would suggest that we have an equal reason to believe women are more enthusiastic as we have to believe they are more pressured than their male colleagues. Thus, it would seem that the situation is rather complex and individual cases might have to be considered to actually come up with solid conclusions. Nevertheless, the overall trend in these answers seems to tip the scales in favor of the women.

However, it ought to be mentioned that while women seem to be strong overall, there are also areas where the men seem to have the upper hand or where both of them are doing equally well in different ways. There are also areas where the elderly teachers are doing better than the younger ones or equally well. For instance, the goals of PD (Question 5) seem to proliferate

with experience (more goals are answered positively as experience is gained), and the teachers seem to develop a better outlook as they teach. Similarly, the overall participation in teacher associations (Questions 6) is higher amongst males (57.5%) than females (38.8%). However, among the teachers who take on more than just a "silent" role (6% teachers in organizing and 2% in presenting), the males are the only ones in organization while the females are the only persons who are taking part in presenting. It might be worthwhile, however, if the two sides would come out of their comfort zones and try each others' chosen roles as well so that they can benefit in their development in more than one way. The other questions reveal a similar trend.

Thus we may add to our conclusions the observation that women teachers are more often than not doing better than males and the elderly. Whether this is because of social and institutional expectation or because they are more enthusiastic cannot be determined, however, as our data shows chances of it being both ways. We have also seen that there are areas where one group is doing better than the other or where all gender or experience groups are doing equally well. This also indicates the complexity of the issue and reminds also that each case of PD would be somewhat unique, though certain patterns may develop due to similar situations, and each teacher would have their own unique path, obstacles, and techniques. That being said, the overall situation, we observed, is not that reassuring, for teachers generally are lacking in their practice and need to properly engage in developmental work.

#### The Effectiveness of these Activities

Some interview questions and the statements in the third and the final section of the survey questionnaire were formulated to see the effect and the effectiveness of the activities that the English language teachers of the federal capital universities do take part in. This section was based on Guskey's (2000) model of evaluation (see literature review and methodology for details), in which the evaluator judges the success of a process or procedure on five different

levels. These are Participant Reaction, Participant Learning, Organizational Support and Change, Use of Knowledge and Skills, and Student Learning Outcomes. The results of our study were mentioned and analyzed earlier in our analysis. Here, in this section, we willbring these results together to find out how successful these activities had been and whether or not the teachers had benefitted from the development activities they had taken part in (which, according to the previous section, are themselves lacking in nature).

### 1) Participant Reaction

The first level that Guskey (2000) suggested was that of Participant Reaction. This level of evaluation aims to see whether or not an activity was found satisfactory by the participants and how they had felt during the procedure. An activity that bores out the participants is not successful at all, for the participants would then have forced themselves through it and would not have gained much. Furthermore, if they do manage to survive the experience, they would be unlikely to come again or to be motivated towards development after their disappointing first experience. As such, it is necessary that our development programmes and attempts be carefully planned so that the participants do not feel burdened or forced.

According to the data we have collected, 60.6% of the teachers are satisfied with the professional development experience they have received and believe that they have gathered sufficient development experience in their careers. Of course, whether or not someone ever has 'sufficient' experience in development is itself debatable, but it would seem that the teachers are pretty much satisfied. Of course, the fact that the rest of the forty percent are either confused or dissatisfied tells us that the programmes are not all perfect and issues do arise sometimes.

Something similar is seen in the teachers' opinion regarding the quality of their experience, with 64.2% agreeing that it was of high quality and 3.7% strongly agreeing. In the same way, 85% teachers said they felt 'great' during the experience and 72.4% found it relevant to their

work. In the same way, the question of quality in the interviews was answered by a mixed sort of response, with some of them saying it was good and others saying it was not. Other areas, however, showed somewhat less encouraging results. Examples of such areas would include consent, where only a little more than half (54.1%) of the teachers felt their consent was involved, a sizable number nevertheless, and the question of being contacted often for development, where only 30.2% teachers responded in the positive. In some of these cases, like in consent and in being contacted for development, it might be said that it is a fault of the institutions. However, there are also areas, such as knowing about the resources at HEC or whether or not a report is produced for participants, where the teachers showed a lack of interest and awareness on their behalf (44% were unaware of the resources at HEC while 43.9% did not know if a report was produced and distributed amongst participants). Other questions show similar trends.

Thus, we may conclude that the teachers felt good during the development procedures they have experienced and are satisfied. There are some areas, however, such as consent and being contacted for development, where they feel a bit down, and there are also areas where they themselves show a lack of awareness or interest. Overall, however, they seem to be satisfied.

As for variations with gender and experience, it was seen that a majority of both female and male teachers were satisfied with their results (72.2% and 54.7%) and said it was of high quality (72.2% and 65.7%), though we can see that the percentage of satisfied individuals is higher amongst the women than in men. The females, however, had a smaller percentage of teachers who felt their consent was involved when their names were sent for participation (44.4%, as compared to 58.9% in males). An almost equal number among both genders, however, was unaware of how well the HEC was prepared for such programmes (43.8% women and 44.4% men), though more women than men were unaware if any report was produced (50%, as

compared to 39.7% in men). Thus, with relation to gender, we can say that more women are satisfied than men overall, though there are some areas (such as consent) where women feel they are not that much taken in consideration. This might indicate, again, that women are somewhat more pressurized or less trusted in institutions, though we can see that both males and females are not doing well in certain areas of their developmental life.

Some difference can also be seen in the case of experience. As teachers gain more experience, their level of satisfaction seems to drop. Teachers with 1-5 years experience, (66.7%), 6-10 years experience (60%), and 11-15 years experience (64.2%) are more satisfied as compared to those with more than 15 years of experience (46.1%). A similarly falling trend (88.9%, 68%, 64%, and 46.1% respectively) is found in the question of quality, though the majority felt 'great' in all of these groups (66.7%, 88%, 85.7%, and 100% respectively).

What is interesting, however, is that the elderly are not that satisfied with the proceedingseven if they enjoyed themselves, perhaps because they have attended so many that it is all familiar to them or perhaps because the activities are themselves so monotonous they bore them out after the years of repetitive study. Also interesting is how the elderly are not "contacted often" for such activities while the younger and less experienced teachers are (the percentages, from low to high experience, in this case being 77.8%, 24%, 25%, and 0% respectively). As you gain more experience, thus, it would seem you "outgrow" your need to develop, though development should actually be a continuous thing. There is not really much difference in the matters of awareness regarding the resources available, though the newest generation seems to be more aware of such matters (55.6% being aware in their case, both about the HEC's resources and the question of any report being produced).

Overall, thus, we can see that the teachers are mostly satisfied with the development they have received. They find it mostly to be of high quality and all of them seem to have felt 'great'

during the experience. Women and less experienced teachers, particularly, seem more satisfied, though the women do not feel their consent is really involved. Amongst the less experienced teachers, however, there is more awareness regarding certain aspects of development and the more experienced ones are not that satisfied with what they get. Thus, overall, we can say participants are satisfied, though there are some areas where the participants (or some groups among the participants) felt uncomfortable.

#### 2) Participant Learning

The second level of evaluation was that of Participant Learning. This level dealt with whether or not the participants had gained something during the process. For even if the participants had felt good and found the experience motivating, there is no point to it if they do not gain anything. Thus, the next part of this section of the questionnaire tried to find out whether the teachers had gained something from their experience, either in terms of skills or of knowledge. It was found, in this analysis, that around 83% teachers felt that their knowledge base had increased, 63% said that the experience had enabled them to perform better while teaching, around 80% agreed/strongly agreed to the statement that it has led to acquiring better overlearning strategies, and 72% said that the experience had brought a change to their teaching practices.

Thus, overall, it would seem from the teachers' statements that the learning goals have been achieved in the majority of cases. Of course, the other 20-40 percents that are not happy ought to be included in further discussions for improvement, but the majority cases seem to suggest that it is mostly going well. This goes hand-in-hand with the fact that most of the teachers were satisfied with the overall experience of the programme, even if they had complaints in certain specific areas; it was fine overall but it seems there were some flaws here and there.

With regards to gender, the question of knowledge-base yielded similar results, with 80.8% males and 88.9% females feeling they have learnt something, though in the case of being able to cope and also in improving one's own learning and over-learning abilities, it seems that it is 61.6% males and 94.4% of the females who have improved their abilities. In terms of having an experience that changed one's practice, too, we find that 65.7% of the men and 66.7% of the women responded in the positive. Thus, it would seem that the women have overall achieved better as compared to the males, especially in areas of coping better with problems. However, achievement is comparatively low in terms of having a major change-inducing experience and is high in terms of an increased knowledge base.

With regards to experience, we see that 66.7% teachers with 1-5 years of experience, 84%, teachers with 6-10 years of experience, 85% teachers with 11-15 years experience, and 100% of the teachers with 16+ years of experience felt their knowledge base has grown. This trend may seem strange at first, but it might be that the younger teachers' were initially expecting something else and that led them to not notice what they have gained in real, or it might be that since development itself is a new thing for them and they thus do not retain as much or notice as much as those who have more experience (or they are as yet unable to implement it properly and feel as if they did not gain much). Whatever the case, experience and learning seem to be directly proportional in this case. As for being able to cope better, the percentages in that case are 66.7%, 68%, 85.7%, and 100% respectively, again showing that experience and results are growing side-by-side. As for whether the experience brought any major change, the results are overall the same, the percentages being 77.8%, 50.2%, 71.4%, and 76.4%, with the teachers with 6-10 years of experience become a bit too confident or proud and need experience to become more receptive again is a researchable question.

Thus, overall, we can say that teachers learnt from the experience. Their knowledge base grew and their practices improved, though the fraction which feels they can now cope better is comparatively low. With regards to gender, there is not much difference, except that more women improved their abilities than men. In the case of experience, it would seem that more experience makes one more receptive to the development experience, but everyone seems to learn. The one odd case, however, is the question of having a change-inducing experience, where the teachers with a little bit of experience are less positively influenced than both the less and more experienced teachers. Thus, the overall effect of the activities is successful, with some areas which could be checked into for further improvement.

## 3) Organizational Support and Change

The third level of our evaluation deals with how the organization/institution which the teachers belong to supported or changed as a result of this development. A teacher's development cannot take place if the institution's policies and environment negates all they have acquired. It is not possible to learn if the institution does not encourage your development. Thus, it is necessary to gauge the institutional response and how the institutions have changed in order to see if the development experience was successful.

From our results, we see that 62.4% teachers felt that the development process had positively impacted their departments or institutions. That the remaining 37.6% are either neutral or not satisfied is something which needs to be looked into and the overall environment of institutions needs to be improved to make them more conducive to development. Similarly, when asked whether all teachers have received equitable access to such activities, 67% percent agreed while 33% did not. The interviews, however, gave the opposite result, with the majority not agreeing with this statement. However, those who did agree also hinted that the teachers themselves do not explore the possibilities available to them and as such are mistaken when they claim there

is no equal access. However, despite all that, it does seem that the majority (76.1%) of teachers are encouraged to work together and collaborate in their departments.

However, if there are areas that are faring well, there are also areas which are doing worse, such as peer observation, in which only 43% responded positively, and peer coaching, which received 59.6%. Even teacher evaluation, which, even out of a development context, might have been expected in institutions, received just 60.8% positive results. The most shocking revelation, however, is that only 32.1% teachers say their institutions have funds for development and only 38.5% give teachers incentives for participation, while they still demand that the teachers come up with innovative and effective practices (71.5%), something that we find mirrored in the interviewees' responses. That is, they expect a good performance but do not want to provide the required training, even if it is for their own benefit. Thus, we can see that the institutional situation is not that good. Slightly more than half were impacted positively by these activities, even though many of them encouraged collaboration. However, from the fact that such activities are rarely funded or incentives provided for participation, it would seem that universities do not see such activities as integral to education and expect teachers to engage in them in their "spare time".

As far as gender is concerned, an almost equal number (60.3% males and 66.7% women) felt there had been a major change in their department, and this number, as we can see, was not really that much. However, the percentage of men (72.6%) who felt they had equitable access was less than the women (55.6%), thus showing again that men might be treated more fairly or even that women might be more pressurized (as our earlier section indicates) than men. In collaboration, too, men (80.8%) have a higher percentage than women (66.7%), as well as in peer observation (43.8%, as compared to 38.9% in women, which are nevertheless extremely low in both genders). Overall, thus, we can see that perhaps women are not that satisfied with

their institutions. That might be because of cultural reasons or because they happened to be in the less favorable institutions. Whatever the case is, however, this reveals something which could lead to further research and which needs to be addressed properly.

As for experience, 77.8% teachers with 1-5 years experience felt their institutions have improved, as have 52% of those with 6-10 years experience, 71.4% of those with 11-15 years experience, and 61.5% of those with more than 16 years of experience. Though no clear trend can be drawn from this, as satisfaction seems to be rising and falling, this might be due to the location and policies of specific universities and not because of age. The score in matters of equitable access is 77.8%, 56%, 71.4%, and 84.6% respectively, again defying a single trend and revealing perhaps the actual complexity of the situation. The same pattern, with those in the 6-10 years experience range being least satisfied, can be spotted in collaboration (88.9%, 71.4%, and 100%) as well.

This would suggest that this seemingly unexpected trend is actually a pattern. It might be, in that case, that teachers who are starting out are happy with whatever concession is made by the institution and those with more experience are more realistic and thus can accept whatever could be done when it is done. Those with a just a little bit of experience, it is possible, developed a more idealistic hope which led to them expecting too much, and which, obviously, would not be fulfilled by any institution. However, the fact that those with the most experience fluctuate the most, being most satisfied in some matters and almost the least in others, would need further study, though it might be that more experience allows them to have a better picture of what is easily possible and achievable in their respective institutions. The pattern is similar in other areas as well.

Thus, we can say that the institutions, overall, are not that satisfying. They are not that conducive to development, though one or two areas, such as collaboration, fare better.

However, the institutions see development more as a side-job and an added bonus which is not a part of education (though they still expect teachers to do it). With regards to gender, it seems that men are better off than women, indicating a possible bias amongst institutions as well. Finally, it is difficult to spot one usual trend with regards to experience, but it seems that the highly experienced teachers have more wide ranging opinions and that the slightly experienced teachers are the least satisfied. The causes for these could be further studied to point out how development programmes could be improved.

## 4) Incorporating Knowledge and Skills

The next level of evaluation asks whether or not teachers have incorporated what they have learnt into their teaching practice. Learning new skills is of no benefit if a teacher does not implement these skills. Similarly, if the institution supports professional development (though in our case, very few of them do), that is of no benefit if the teachers themselves do not take any initiative. Thus, it is necessary to see if the teacher merely took part in the activities or if they tried to implement them as well. In this matter, 71.5% of the teacher said their departments encourage them to engage in new and innovative practices (which is ironic, considering they see development as a side-task and not as an integrative part of education), 85% said they are encouraged to share what they have learnt with their colleagues, and 85.4% claim they do incorporate the techniques in their own practice. The only impediment that is present is that almost half (49.5%) of the teachers either do not have the necessary technological resources available or are unsure of their presence. Thus, it might be said that, even though the institutions are lacking in resources and are in need of acquiring more assets, the teachers are, overall, doing their best to implement what they have learnt (it should be noted that there is a minority that does not implement as well).

With regards to gender, more females (77.8%) said their departments encourage them to attempt innovative practices than males (68.4%), and the same trend was found in the matter of sharing knowledge related to development (69.9% in males and 94.4% in women). However, they are equally lacking (50.6% in males and 50% of the women) with regards to resources and the majority in both cases (80.8% males and 83.3% of the women) implement what they have learnt. Though why women are encouraged more often than not cannot be explained that easily. However, it might be that the institutions do not trust the women to implement what they have learnt unless explicitly stated, which would mean that the same institutional bias is workingout over here. However, this cannot be confirmed until future studies look into this issue and find out what really caused this difference.

With regards to experience, we see that 88.9% of the teachers with 1-5 years of experience, 64% of those with 6-10 years of experience, 71.4% of those with 11-15 years of experience, and 76.9% of those with 16 or more years of experience said they are encouraged to implement what they have learnt. Again, we see here that those with 6-10 years of experience are the least satisfied with what they have got. The same trend is found in the question of being encouraged to share what they have learnt, the percentages, in this case, being 100%, 60%, 85%, and 100% respectively. However, a different trend is found in the issue of resources, where the more experienced teachers are also not satisfied (the results are 88.9%, 32%, 71.4%, and 23.1%), and in the question of implementing, where almost everyone says they implement what they have learnt (88.9%, 80%, 85.7%, and 100%).

Thus, we may conclude that the departments, overall, encourage the teachers to discuss and use new and innovative techniques and the teachers themselves implement what they have learnt. However, the departments are somewhat lacking in resources, which could prove to be an impediment in the long run (a further possibility as to why the more experienced teachers are

less satisfied in certain matters). With regards to gender, however, it seems that, even though both groups try to implement what they have learnt, women are more often told to do so. Whether this is because of some form of institutional or social distrust or bias towards women or not can be found out through further study. With regards to experience, the same pattern, baffling as it is, is seen, where the teachers with some experience are disappointed while others are mostly satisfied. To find out exactly what causes this unusual pattern, there would have to be further inquiries into what the teachers perceive.

## 5) Impact on Student Learning

The last level of evaluation we are concerned with is student-learning. The simple reason for this is that even if teachers implement what they have learnt, it cannot really be called a successful implementation if it does not have an effect. Thus, it is important to see if it positively impacted the result of their job and why it did not if it did not.

In this case, the first question was whether the projects were planned in a way that was geared towards student-learning. From our data, we see that 69.2% of the teachers felt it was so. That it was a majority that agreed might be a bit reassuring, but that the remaining 30.8% disagreed or were unsure is a bit unsettling, for what is the point of a development programme that does not consider the students? This gives us one problem area. Also, it was only 57.8% of the teachers who felt that student attendance had improved after their participation in such activities, though the number that thought their students had become more confident and were now achieving better grades were around 80.7% and 76.6% respectively. In the interviews also, all of the teachers said that their students' work had improved thanks to these development activities. Thus, we can say that the development programmes were neither completely successful, nor were they failures. Grades and confidence seem to have increased in the majority of the cases, while attendance has improved in only half of the cases. However, that

around 30% teachers (still a sizable amount!) think that programmes are not geared towards student-benefit shows that there might be a problem somewhere in the programmes and there is a need to critically revaluate their content.

With regards to gender, it seems that women have higher opinions of the programmes and they also seem to have achieved higher results. For instance, 65.7% males think the courses are geared towards student-result while 76.4% of the women think so. Attendance, on the other hand, has improved amongst 50.6% of the males and 72.2% of the women, while the students' confidence and grades have improved amongst 73.9% and 73.9% of the males and 94.5% and 82.3% of the females respectively. Why this is so is another question for inquiry, though it might be possible that it is women's more positive outlook that fuels their higher results. Whatever the case, and for whatever reason this perception varies among the two groups, the fact of the matter is that women view this element of these programmes more positively and achieve higher results as well.

In the same manner, we can find certain patterns within the experience factor. Among the people who feel that the programmes are geared towards student-achievement, there are 77.8% of the teachers with 1-5 years of experience, 75% of those with 6-10 years of experience, 85.7% of those with 11-15 years of experience, and 76.9% of those with 16 or more years of experience. That there is a high percentage within all of these groups shows that the unsatisfied teachers (30.8% of the total) do not belong to any one group and that it does not have to do with experience. This might have been caused because of a difference in the activities they participated in or for some other reason. As for student attendance, 77.8% of the teachers with 1-5 years experience felt it has improved, 48% of those with 6-10 years of experience, 53.8% of those with 11-15 years of experience, and 76.9% of those with 16 or more. A similar pattern is seen in the matter of student confidence, where the pattern is 100%, 72%, 75%, and 100%,

and student results, where the pattern is 100%, 68%, 67.8%, and 100%. As to why the two middle categories should have lower results is a pattern that is difficult to explain. The exact reason why this should be can be determined only after further studies are conducted that consider other factors as well. This serves to show just how complex individual development cases can be and why active participation and self-study is necessary to overcome the various obstacles and problems faced in a development programme.

Thus, we may conclude that, overall, the development processes have increased the confidence and results achieved by the students and are thus successful in these matters. However, the issue of student attendance has not improved in many cases, and there is still a sizable percentage thinks that the programmes are not geared towards student-benefit. Thus, it might be said they are somewhat successful in this matter, though not completely. With regards to women and the teachers with 1-5 or 16+ years of experience, they are achieving better results and have a better image of these programmes. As to why this is so with them and not with others, that question would require further studies, the result of which could be used to further improve the problem areas of various other studies. However, it cannot be under-stressed that each individual development case is in many ways unique, and while the results can be used comparatively or for reference, they cannot be generalised. Thus, these proposed studies can be used to deal with certain more general issues, but specific cases need to be addressed individually.

Thus, overall, we can say that the development programmes were somewhat successful, but they also had many issues in them. With regards to Participant Reaction, we can see that many of them are satisfied, but certain individual problems are there in which people have voiced their concerns. Similarly, teachers seem to have increased their knowledge- and skill-base, though not all of them feel they are now better able to cope with the problems. In matters related

to organisation, we observed the lowest score. The teachers' responses showed that even though most of the institutions demand and expect results, they see development as something additional and not as a part of education. Lastly, with regard to implementation and result, the majority seems satisfied overall, though the nature of the programmes and the attendance of students are areas where the results are lacking. Thus, we can see that the programmes have, according to our data, successfully achieved various elements of success, though there are many (sometimes very serious) issues that still remain to be addressed, individually and collectively. Thus, our evaluation of these programmes would be that they are not failures, but they still have a lot of work to do.

#### **Recommendations and Suggestions**

Having discussed all that, let us now consider what recommendations and suggestions can be derived from this discussion. My goal, in this section, is to use the information gathered to develop certain concrete suggestions/recommendations that can be considered for further improvement. These suggestions would derive from a combination of the literature I have reviewed and the information I have collected in the study. Of course, the ideas presented here will not be definitive and anyone having a slightly different background or who has read on and reflected on development from slightly different (or even the same) angle could easily come up with a different set of recommendations/suggestions. This, then, would be the limitation of these suggestions as well as its strength, that it is an interpretation of the results and as such, is subject to the influence of our reading and understanding. A different background could have yielded a different interpretation and different kind of suggestions from what I will discuss here.

First, let us consider the fact that most teachers only engaged in activities at the institutional level and had no or very little awareness of personal developmental programs. Also, we saw that most of the institutions treated development as an additional thing, with only 32.1% of

them funding such activities and 38.5% giving incentives. Thus, we can see that the teachers and institutions have a faulty understanding of what development is and should be. It is treated more like something to engage in addition to teaching and which comes once or twice an year.

Thus, the first thing we need is a more comprehensive understanding of what development is. An incomplete understanding or a vision that is too narrow would never yield the sort of constant and intentional development we have discussed. As such, both the workshop organisers and the institutions need to encourage their teachers to participate in a greater variety of developmental programs while also teaching them about the full scope and the possibilities of development. However, considering that it is often institutions that cause a hindrance (Westbrook et al., 2009), that the influence of the institution has great effect on the success of such activities (Dayoub&Bashiruddin, 2012), and that in our study the institutions were just as lacking as the teachers, with both of them not engaging with development properly, it is also necessary for organizations and teachers to engage with the institutions. Also, our study revealed that the programmes themselves might have certain flaws (like not being geared towards student-achievement) that need to be addressed. Furthermore, our discussion revealed that many teachers feel neglected when the programmes are planned, especially the women, who feel more than men that their consent is not involved, which reveals that institutions and organizations need to involve teachers at a personal level, especially women, and even include them in policy planning.

This might lead us to some problems, as institutions might be unwilling to take this risky step or might be discouraged by their procedural difficulties. In Ono and Ferreria's discussion (2010) on the lesson plan, we saw that the first implementation of this technique had been a failure and many institutions had abandoned the lesson plan technique. It was only later that a successful case came to the front. In such a situation, it would be worthwhile to conduct studies

on whether or not institutions become more successful after a successful transition, and, considering the results I saw in the review (see, for example, Retallick&Mithani, 2003; Rizvi& Elliot, 2005), these cases could be a major source of encouragement and can be held up to institutions as examples of why they should not revert too quickly. Also, a sort of on-the-spot mentoring as we found in the studies by Rarieya (2005) and Khamis and Sammons (2004) could be used to make this transition smoother and to make sure that the development activities are context grounded and are being conducted by experienced people who can deal with issues as they come. It should be remembered that we saw some unsuccessful cases of mentoring as well (Khamis& Sammons, 2007), but that risk is a part of development attempts or any endeavour undertaken in society. Also, we cannot forget the various unusual and complex patterns that we saw in the experience factor. This would further indicate the need to conduct studies and personalized individual analyses that consider various factors and aim towards improvement.

Thus, the first suggestion would be to have teachers and institutions learn of the full scope of these activities and to encourage teachers and administrators to implement development plans at an institutional as well as personal level. Also, we would suggest that further studies be conducted, dealing with general factors as well as with individual cases. This would not only allow teachers to deal with the problems at hand, but it would also help us understand what problems exist and why. Also, we can conduct studies on the various problem areas or confusing data that was revealed in our study. Thus, we can suggest not just a need to raise awareness, but also a need to conduct more research on these issues and to even incorporate informal research patterns into the teaching process.

What is needed, in other words, is not one or two workshops, but an environment that continually allows innovation and an institution that is willing to engage with the teachers at a

more personal level. Our teachers are only getting institutional development and seem to think that English Teaching does not require a degree or training, and it is only through development and study that they can come to appreciate the full nature of this issue. Techniques like the PDTs or the lesson plan which we have discussed could be used in this way to create a type of development culture which could enable the teachers to engage more fully in such activities. Peer observation or teachers get-togethers are also strategies which could be adopted in this case.

Also, the studies which I reviewed show that greater participation in institutional management, even if it is at the level of discussion and debate, greater receptiveness from the side of the policy makers, and participating in teacher forums, get-togethers, and co-curricular activities are bound to create a greater sense of direction and belonging. Our study, on the other hand, reveals that there are cases where development is mandatory and where teachers feel their consent is not involved or that their institutions do not fund or actively support in their development. Thus, there is a need for increased participation of teachers so that they can help in the policy planning of their respective institutions. This will not only improve the environment, but, if research and development activities are involved in the process, then it will also lead to a better and well-planned overall institutional policy. This, no doubt, would not be a one-day plan, but something universities would have to engage with actively and for a long period of time (continuously, in fact), and would have to become a part of the university culture. This, in the end, is a necessary consequence of the first suggestion. And these changes, as a result, would lead to greater participation in a continuous developmental process and in the school, and not just in some "programmes."

Along with this, it is suggested that each teacher may join a forum or a teachers' professional association. It is also suggested that the teachers may subscribe, personally if they can, to a

teaching related journal, and if they cannot, then they at least frequent a library where they know they can find the latest copies of these journals. All of these are areas where our teachers were seen to be lacking. For instance, a little more than half were subscribed to a journal and most of them had not even had a copy for more than two years. Some had not even bothered to check in the libraries. Also, in the review of the literature, I have discussed a whole bunch of activities, and teachers can even start with studying more about them and experimenting with them in their universities. Our teachers have already reported that they implement their activities and that it has improved their results. Thus, they should use that as an impetus to go forward and try even more.

Also, the teachers ought to take part in teacher associations as more than just participants. They ought to organise events and even participate as speakers/resource persons. Just opting to be a speaker will prompt them to do more research, reflect more, and to try and communicate better. Since the great majority of our teachers were simply participants, this is an area which is severely lacking. We also saw that speakers are mostly women and organizers are men. Thus, they can also try switching roles and coming out of their comfort zones. This will keep them actively involved and also force them to see things differently and to gain the various benefits each role brings. Doing such activities itself will initiate a process of learning that cannot be found in listening to others. Participating as speakers and organisers is a great way to spark the mind, engage in reflective practice, build team-work skills, and so on. One of the reasons why Rarieya (2005) suggested the role of a mentor is that it leads to discussion and critical engagement, and a similar effect can be achieved by performing the role of speaker/resource person. And even if one does not become a speaker, being an organiser would help one increase his/her knowledge and it will also allow him/her to participate in the development progress in a different way. He/she will not be just a participant and thus the development process will not become a repetition of workshops every few months. Also, the active engagement would allow

teachers to see development in a different manner, and it might also serve as a co-curricular activity which can relieve job-related stress. This could also enable them to conduct further activities in their own locales.

In the same way, engaging with virtual as well as offline teacher communities, would create a space to let loose, to discuss matters, vent frustrations, ask questions, and even to engage in critical dialogue. In one of the studies in our review (Koc, Peker, &Osmanoglu, 2009), the participants engaged in a virtual community and discussed an online video case. And, as we noticed, it was quite successful. Thus, the use of virtual space can be employed in improving the standards and quality of teaching. Online workshops, courses, and communities can help teachers in extending their professional community and in getting in touch with a vast array of ideas and opinions. By thus engaging in peer observation and video case studies, the teachers can spark a lot of discussion and can engage in reflective practices, making the process continuous and more enjoyable. Also, in an institution which has the required resources, the teachers can learn to use online and offline language learning games and programmes to greatly enhance their teaching practices, and thus develop and even greater repertoire of techniques and methodologies. Peer observations, forum participations, etc. are all areas which we saw were probable areas of lack among our teachers.

Another thing we need to consider is that the teachers in this study were mostly satisfied with the workshops they took part in. They believed that their performance is good, their students are doing well, and the activities are fun and full of benefit. However, we also know that older as well as female teachers are slightly more disappointed, and that the teachers do not know much about how the institutions distribute the results and their observations on the project (and whether they do that at all). In the same way, they do take part in activities, but they have no awareness of whether or not the facilities are up to the mark. Thus, it would benefit institutions

if they make their teachers a critical and creative community, wherein they can actually discuss these development programmes after they come back, so that there is a more critical engagement with such development processes. The teachers too need to take responsibility in this case, and also, the opinions of the more experienced and the female teachers need to be considered, since their share of disappointment is higher than that of others. Furthermore, this engagement in critical dialogue will also provide many with a motivation to seek and find out new information or to share ideas and experiences and discuss problems.

Graham (2007) tells us about a learning community and how such a project benefitted one institution. We can also implement something similar and allow our teachers to talk about their experiences. Also, if the teachers and their institutions cooperate, they can ask the organisations that are conducting these workshops to send them a report or they can even exchange ideas, cooperate in workshops for better performance, and give each other feedback. Universities can also engage in inter-university meetings or in inter-university peer observations to create a web of loosely connected learning communities. All of these methods could be used to create both a better institutional environment as well as make the development process more engaging, lively, and effective.

Also, this idea of critical communities can help us overcome the issue of monotonous activities which are geared more towards one group than another. By developing critical communities, teachers can create in their PD activities a sort of self-adapting ability which allows it to become relevant to the specific situation. Furthermore, it can spark much discussion and research since each case is unique and by studying various situations—even if the study is not published or is informal—teachers and institutions can develop the critical ability to respond to their problems creatively and as a team. Also, if the teachers are able to share these as anecdotes, blogs, vlogs, or even as magazine articles, their experiences can help others in facing their own problems as

well. One and Ferreria (2010) mentioned how textbooks and policies can be based on the results of various lesson plan sessions, and a similar approach could be adopted by organizers of PD activities, institutions, schools, and others. That is, the idea of a learning community could have a large amount of benefits for everyone involved.

Finally, we need to mention how various complex and complicated patterns had risen in our study. There is not just a need to observe and analyze these patterns further, but also to create actively involved teachers and institutions who can formally and informally analyse the situation during their development and thus engage properly with the situations they face. Furthermore, the various problem areas we saw need to be studied further and analysed to determine their causes and the more successful and satisfied cases need to analysed to see what makes them better than others. Also, there need to be individualized studies that are conducted as part of the development process or by the teachers in response to various issues and problems that they face during their teaching job. That will allow them to live a creative, constantly evolving, and intelligent career which is not stationary and also learn a lot as they go. Thus, from our study, we have not just been able to devise certain suggestions for development and research, but have also pointed out the need for informal mini-researches conducted as a group or individually and also areas—such as the various inexplicable patterns found in the experience factor or why women were more or less satisfied in certain matters—that could serve as further research zones for future studies.

All in all, we can summarise this in three simple observations. Firstly, teachers ought to engage with development in a personalised manner, taking interest in it, studying it, trying to improve it, trying to participate in it actively and learning how to make it both beneficial and enjoyable. Secondly, institutions need to try and develop into learning communities, by engaging their teachers in dialogue and giving them a greater role in management, and by cooperating with

different institutions and teacher associations to create a greater community. And finally, teachers and institutions need to engage with the concrete situations, and not with abstract ideas. There needs to be localised development plans which engage with actual situations and problems, and which deal with practical knowledge and experience and helps people develop on the job. Development can only be successful if it is practical and grounded in the classroom, abstract discussions without practicality are useless and forgotten very quickly. This also indicates to us areas of further study. As we mentioned earlier, formal and informal studies of specific cases, studies into women's PD and other areas need to be addressed and contextualized and grounded studies need to be produced that deal with real people and problems and not just abstractions.

Thus, by engaging with development at a greater scope, and not just in occasional workshops, teachers can create an environment of cooperation and learning. This would make their job more enjoyable, provide them with support and beneficial human contact, engage them in reflective dialogue, and also help them face their problems effectively. By thus engaging with development at a more personalised level, teachers can combine the institutional level of development to the personal, and thus engage with the practice in a more context-grounded and holistic way. Thus, they can create a better development and teaching environment. Many of the ideas and techniques discussed in the review—like the lesson plan, learning community, the mentor teachers, and reflective practices—can be used and adapted for this purpose. As such, the development practices of the teachers in Pakistani federal capital universities can be made a lot better and engaging and can serve to improve the teachers' practices, and they can employ their abilities in creative ways to work together towards constant self-development.

#### REFERENCES

- Abbas, S. (1993). The Power of English in Pakistan. World Englishes, 12(2), 147-156.
- Ali, M. A., Qasim, S. A., Jaffer, R., & Greenland, J. (1993). Teacher-center and school-based models of collegiality and professional development: Case studies of the teachers' resource center and the Aga Khan school system in Karachi, Pakistan. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 19(8), 735-754. https://doi.org/10.1016/0883-0355(93)90012-9.
- Ali, S. Communities of practice and teacher development lessons learnt from an educational innovation in Pakistan. *Journal of Research and Reflections in Education*, 5(2), 70-82.
- Allwright, D. & A. Waters (eds.) (1994). Language in aid project—towards the year 2000: Colloquium proceedings. Lancaster University: Centre for Research in Language Education.
- Ashraf, H., & Rarieya, J. F. A. (2008). Teacher development through reflective conversations

   possibilities and tensions: a Pakistan case. *Reflective Practice*, 9(3), 269-279. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14623940802207055
- Bailey, K. M., Curtis, A., &Nunan, D. (2001) Pursuing Professional Development: The Self as Source. Massachusetts, Mass: Heinle&Heinle.
- Best, J., & Kahn, J. (1998). Research in education (8th ed.): Allyn and Bacon.
- Brandon, P. R. & Sam, A. L. Ah. Program evaluation. In P. Leavy (Ed.) (2014). *The Oxford Handbook of Qualitative Research*. London & New York: Oxford University Press.
- Brock-Utne, B. (2000). Whose Education For All?: The Recolonization of the African Mind. London: Falmer Press.

- Brown, J. D. (2001). *Using surveys in language programs*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Chambers, R. (2007). Words, power and the personal development. In H.Coleman (Ed.), Language and Development: Africa and Beyond: Proceedings of the 7th International Language and Development Conference (pp. 155-168). Addis Ababa: The British Council.
- Chowdhury, Md. R. (2003). International TESOL Training and EFL Contexts: The Cultural Disillusionment Factor. *Australian Journal of Education*, 47(3), 283-302.
- Craft, A. (2000). Continuing Professional Development: A Practical Guide for Teachers and Schools. (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (4th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Davies, L., &Iqbal, Z. (1997). Tensions in Teacher Training for School Effectiveness: The Case of Pakistan. School Effectiveness and School Improvement, 8(2), 254-266. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/0924345970080205
- Dayoub, R. &Bashiruddin, A. (2012).Exploring English-language teachers' professional development in developing countries: cases from Syria and Pakistan.Professional.Developmentin Education, 38(4), 589-611. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2011.649986
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (Eds.). (2000). *Handbook of qualitative research* (2nd edition ed.). Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Dilshad, R. M. (2010). Assessing Quality of Teacher Education: A Student Perspective.Pakistan. *Journal of Social Sciences*, 30(1), 85-97. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/0a6f/3bd87fc28842a55e688243a220adc2998d7b.pdf

- Doolittle, G., Sudeck, M., & Rattigan, P. (2008). Creating Professional Learning Communities:

  The Work of Professional Development Schools. *TheoryInto Practice*, 47(4), 303-310.

  Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/40071559
- Driel, J. H. V., Beijaard, D., &Veloop, N. (2001). The Role of Teachers' Practical Knowledge: The Role of Teachers' Practical Knowledge. JOURNAL OF RESEARCH IN SCIENCE TEACHING, 38(2), 137-158.
- Fernandez, C. (2002). Learning from Japanese Approaches to Professional Development: The Case of Lesson Study. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 53(5), 393-405.
- Freeman, D. & J. C. Richards (eds.) (1996). *Teacher learning in language teaching*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Graddol, D. (2006) English Next. London: British Council.
- Graham, P. (2007). Improving Teacher Effectiveness through Structured Collaboration: A Case Study of a Professional Learning Community. Research in Middle Level Education, 31(1), 1-17. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19404476.2007.11462044.
- Groom, N. & Littlemore, J. (2011). Doing Applied Linguistics. New York: Routledge.
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1994). Competing paradigms in qualitative research. In N. K. Denzin& Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The handbook of qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Guskey, T. R. (2000). Evaluating Professional Development. London: Corwin Press, Inc.
- Halai, A. (2001). On becoming a "professional development teacher": A case from Pakistan. Mathematics Education Review, 14, 31-43. Retrieved from https://www.ametonline.org.uk/app/download/3857410/Number%2B14.pdf
- Harmer, J. (2001). The Practice of English Language Teaching. (3rd ed.). Essex: Pearson Education Limited.

- Hayes, D. A. (ed.) (1997).In-service teacher development: International perspectives.Hemel Hempstead: Prentice Hall.
- Hennissen, P., Crasborn, F., Brouwer, N., Korthagen, F., & Bergen, T. (2010). Uncovering contents of mentor teachers' interactive cognitions during mentoring dialogues *Teaching* and *Teacher Education*, 26(2), 207-214.
- Jalal, Z. (2004). Language policy in Pakistan. In S. Mansoor, S. Méraj and A. Tahir (eds), Language Planning, Policy and Practice: A South-Asian Perspective. Karachi: Aga Khan University and Oxford University Press.
- Johnson, A. (2009) The Rise of English: The Language of Globalization in China and the European Union, *Macalester International*, 22(1), 131-168.
- Khamis, A., & Sammons, P. (2004). Development of a cadre of teacher educators: some lessons from Pakistan. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 24(3), 255-268.
- Khamis, A., & Sammons, P. (2007). Investigating educational change: The Aga Khan University Institute for educational development teacher education for school improvement model. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 27(5), 572-580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2006.12.006
- Kirkgoz, Y. (2008). A case study of teachers' implementation of curriculum innovation in English language teaching in Turkish primary education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24(7), 1859-1875. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2008.02.007
- Khattak, Z. I., & Abbasi, M. G. (2010). Evaluation of the effectiveness of in-service teacher training courses of the CALL sub-committee of the ELTR project in Pakistan. *Procedia: Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 2(2), 4911-4917.
- Khattak, Z. I., Abbasi, G., & Ahmad, A. (2011). Impact analysis of the in-service teacher training programmes of the Testing and Evaluation sub-committee of the ELTR Project in Pakistan. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 15, 1479-1483.

- Koc, Y., Peker, D., &Osmanoglu, A. (2009). Supporting teacher professional development through online video case study discussions: An assemblage of preservice and inservice teachers and the case teacher. Teaching and Teacher Education, 25(8), 1158-1168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2009.02.020
- Lange, Dale E. (1990). A Blueprint for Teacher Development. In Jack C. Richards and David Nunan (eds.), Second Language Teacher Education. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Lester, J. (2003). Planning Effective Secondary Professional Development Programs. *American Secondary Education*, 32(1), 49-61. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/41064504
- Li, D., & Edwards, V. (2014). English language teaching and educational reform in Western China: A knowledge management perspective. System, 47, 88-101.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2014.09.019
- Lincoln, Y. S., &Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Beverly Hills, Calif: Sage Publications.
- MacDonald, M., Badger, R., & White, G. (2001). Changing values: what use are theories of language learning and teaching? Teaching & Teacher Education, 17(8), 949-963.
- Mansoor, S., Sikandar, A., & Hussain, N. Emerging Issues in TEFL: Challenges for South Asia. Karachi: Oxford University Press.
- Mohamed, N. (2006). An Exploratory Study of the Interplay between Teachers' Beliefs, Instructional Practices and Professional Development.unpublished *PhD Thesis*, p.63.
- Ono, Y., & Ferreira, J. (2010). A case study of continuing teacher professional development through lesson study in South Africa South African Journal of Education, 30(1), 59-74.

  Retrieved from http://www.scielo.org.za/scielo.php?script=sci\_arttext&pid=S0256-01002010000100005&lng=en&tlng=pt.

- Peterson, P., &Comeaux, M. (1990). Evaluating the Systems: Teachers' Perspectives on Teacher Evaluation. Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 12(1), 3-24. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/1163584
- Rarieya, J. F. A. (2005). Reflective dialogue: what's in it for teachers? a Pakistan case. *Journal of In-Service Education*, 31(2), 313-336.
- Retallick, J., &Mithani, S. (2003). The Impact of a Professional Development Program: A Study from Pakistan. *Journal of In-Service Education*, 29(3), 405-422.
- Richards, J. C. & D. Nunan. (eds.) (1990). Second language teacher education. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Richards, J. C., & Farrell, T. S. C. (2005). Professional Development for Language Teachers: Strategies for Teacher Learning. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Rizvi, M., & Elliot, B. (2005). Teachers' perceptions of their professionalism in government primary schools in Karachi, Pakistan *Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 33(1), 35-52.
- Rizvi, M. (2008). The role of school principals in enhancing teacher professionalism: Lessons from Pakistan. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 36(1), 85-100.
- Seliger, H. W., &Shohamy, E. (1989). Second Language Research Methods. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Shamim, F. (2009). English as the language for development in Pakistan: Issues, challenges, and possible solutions, in H. Coleman (ed.). (2011). *Dreams and Realities: Developing countries and the English language*. Karachi: British Council.
- Wallace, M. J. (1991). Training foreign language teachers: A reflective approach. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Weiss, C. H. (1998). Evaluation: methods for studying programmes and policies. Upper Saddle River, N.J.: Prentice Hall.
- Westbrook, J., Shah, N., Durrani, N., Tikly, C., Khan, W., & Dunne, M. (2009). Becoming a Teacher: Transitions from Training to Classroom in NWFP, Pakistan *International Journal of Educational Development*, 29(4), 437-444.
- Widdowson, H. G. (2014). Stylistics and the Teaching of Literature. New York: Routledge.
- Zimmerman, J., & May, J. (2003). Providing Effective Professional Development: What's Holding Us Back? *American Secondary Education*, 31(2), 37-48. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/41064485

# Appendix A

# Questionnaire for University Teachers of English language SECTION 1: Personal Information

(	Gender:	Male	_ Female					
A	Age:	25-35	36-45	46-55	56+			
(	Qualificat	tion: BS	MA _	MPhil/MS		$PhD_{-}$		
7	<b>Feaching</b>	experience:	1-5 years	46-55 MPhil/MS 6-10 years	11-15	years _	16+	
J	Jniversity	y: Public Se	ector	Private Sector _				
				s' Professional De				
							ou. You may have to	
				me of the items/qu			do you take part in?	
1	i.	Workshop		sionar development	(1 D) a	Ctivities	do you take part iii:	
	ii.	Conference						
	iii.	Seminars	<b>C</b> S					
		Webinars						
	v.		Self-monitoring (monitoring one's own teaching to collect information about					
		teaching behavior and practices objectively and systematically and to use this information as a basis for making decisions about whether there is anything that						
				or making decisions	about	whether	there is anything that	
		should be	• /					
	vi.		pport groups					
	vii.		eeping a teaching journal (an ongoing written account of observations,					
				oughts about teach	ing)			
	viii.	Peer observ	vation					
	ix.	Teaching p	oortfolios(a o	collection of docur	nents a	and othe	er items that provide	
		information	n about differ	rent aspects of a tea	cher's	work)		
	х.	Analyzing	critical in	cidents (critical	incide	nt ana	llysis involves the	
		documenta	tion and ana	lysis of teaching in	cidents	in orde	er to learn from them	
		and improv	e the teachin	g practice)				
	xi.	Case analys	sis					
	xii.	Peer coach	ing					
	xiii.	Team teach	ning (co-teach	hing, i.e., teaching	a certa	in aspec	ct of language with a	
		peer)						
	xiv.	Action rese	arch					
	xv.	Any other (	Please specia	fy)				
2.	. Is part	icipation in	the PD pro	grams/activities m	entione	ed above	e mandatory at your	
	2. Is participation in the PD programs/activities mentioned above mandatory at you department?							
	i.	Yes						
	ii.	No						
	iii.		ents					
3.		•			ies con	ducted/s	arranged by you and	
٥.		epartment?	- mese 1D	Acgrains of activity	.03 0011	Guotou/	and of you and	
	) - u.	L						

i. Always ii. Usually iii. Often Sometimes iv. Seldom v. vi. Never 4. Which of the following reasons do you pursue professional development for? i. For acquiring new knowledge and skills ii. For keeping up with the change in ELT iii. For getting promotion and raise in salary For helpingyourselfcombatnegativity(i.e. burnout, frustration etc.) in the iv. teaching context For helpingyourself overcome the sense of isolation/leftout v. For improvements in student learning vi. 5. Which area(s) remain(s) your main focus during professional development programs/activities? i. subject-matter knowledge ii. pedagogical expertise iii. self-awareness iv. understanding the psychology of learners understanding of curriculum and materials ٧. vi. career advancement 6. Which of the following associations for teachers of English language are you a member of? i. IATEFL (International Association of Teachers of English as a foreign language) ii. TESOL (Teachers of English to Speakers of Other Languages) iii. SPELT (Society of Pakistani English Language Teachers) iv. JALT (Japan Association for Language Teaching) FAAPI (Federacion Argentina de Asociaciones de Profesoros de Ingles) ٧. vi. ELICOS (English Language Intensive Courses for Overseas Students) vii. BELTA (Bornemouth English Language Teaching Association) viii. Any other (Please specify) ix. None (not a member of any such association) Note: Please skip item(question) 7 if you are not a member of any such association. 7. If you are a member of any of the associations mentioned above, which of the following

Any other (Please specify)

is your current role?

a participant

an organizer

a presenter

i.

ii.

iii.

iv.

0	33.71- : -1-	of the following journals for teachers of English language are you or your					
ð.							
		tion subscribed to?					
	i. 	TESOL Quarterly					
	ii. 	English for Specific Purposes					
	iii.	English for Academic Purposes					
	iv.	English Language Teaching Journal					
	v.	English Teaching Forum					
		Modern English Teacher					
	vii.	English Teaching Professional					
	viii.	Any other (Please specify)					
	ix.	None (not subscribed to any such journal)					
9.		of the following was your academic qualification when you got appointed for					
	your c	our current job?					
	i.	Degree in English language and literature					
	ii.	Degree in English literature					
	iii.	Degree in linguistics					
	iv.	Degree in TEF/SL					
	v.	Any other (Please specify)					
10.	Are yo	u subscribed to any virtual teacher community?					
	i.	Yes					
	ii.	No _					
	iii.	Any comments					
11.	To ma	intain interest in teaching, which of the following co-curricular activities do you					
	engage	yourself in?					
	i.	Materials writing					
	ii.	Writing items for public exams					
	iii.	Organizing entertainments for students and teachers					
	iv.	Running literary societies, sports teams, or conversation get-togethers.					
	v.	Any other (Please specify)					
	vi.	None (do not involve myself in any such task)					
12.	Is som	e kind of certification in ELT (e.g. TEFL, CELTA, etc.) mandatory in your					
	institu	tion to teach English as a language?					
	i.	Yes					
	ii.	No					
	iii.	Any comments					
13.	Were y	you made to observe the class of your seniors in the beginning of your teaching					
	career						
	i.	Yes					
	ii.	No					
	iii.	Any comments					
14.	How m	any professional development courses/workshops arranged by HEC and/or other					
_	organizations have you attended? (If your answer to this question is option i, or ii, or						
	iii belo	ow, please do write your name as I might contact you for a short interview)					

- i. 1-5
- ii. 6-10
- iii. 11+
- iv. None

# SECTION 3: Evaluating Teachers' Professional Development Practices

#### 3.1. Teachers' reactions to the PD practices

Please circle an appropriate option in response to each of the statements below.

- 15. I believe that I have had sufficient professional development experience at my credit.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 16. The professional development experience that I have had is of a high quality.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 17. I feel great taking professional development programs and activities.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 18. The professional development workshops and seminars that I attended were very much relevant to my professional responsibilities.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 19. My consent/choice is considered while nominating me for professional development workshops and seminars.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 20. I am often asked/contacted for my professional development needs.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know

- iv. Agree
- v. Strongly agree
- 21. The present improvement in my teaching practice is largely due to the PD programs and activities that I have attended and taken.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 22. The Faculty Development Institution (FDI) of HECis well-equipped in terms of staff, resources and curriculum.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 23. The Faculty Development Institution evaluates its PD programs and activities in order to gain directions for improvement.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 24. The results of these evaluations are documented and distributed among the participants and institutions.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 25. The other institutions offering teacher training in Islamabad are also well-equipped in terms of staff, resources and curriculum.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree

#### 3.2. Teachers' learning from the PD practices

- 26. My professional development experience has helped me increase my knowledge base.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree

- v. Strongly agree
- 27. Having had some professional development experience, now I am able to cope with the emerging challenges of the profession.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Stronglyagree
- 28. The evaluations of individually guided PD activities (such as self-monitoring, journal writing, portfolio writing, action research etc.) have helped me improve my own learning strategies.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 29. The professional development programs have really changed my teaching practices.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree

#### 1.3. Organizational support and change

- 30. My professional development experience has had a great impact on the climate and procedures of my department/organization.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 31. The teachers in my department have equitable access to professional development opportunities.
  - vi. Strongly disagree
  - vii. Disagree
  - viii. Don't know
    - ix. Agree
    - x. Strongly agree
- 32. The teachers in my department are encouraged to plan and work collaboratively.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 33. In my department, teachers volunteer their classes for peer observation.

- i. Strongly disagree
- ii. Disagree
- iii. Don't know
- iv. Agree
- v. Strongly agree
- 34. Teachers' evaluation in my department is developmental.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 35. Peer coaching/mentoring is encouraged in my department.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 36. My department/organization gives incentives to teachers who grow themselves professionally.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 37. My department always funds for the PD programs.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree

#### 3.4.Implementation of new knowledge and skills

- 38. My department encourages me to try innovative practices and strategies.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 39. I'm always encouraged to share my learning experiences with my colleagues.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree

- v. Strongly agree
- 40. The technological resources required to implement innovative practices are available in my department.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 41. I incorporate the new knowledge and skills into practice.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree

#### 3.5.Impact of PD experience on students' learning

- 42. The professional development programs that I participated in were planned with explicit student learning outcomes.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 43. The PD programs or activities that I participated in have helped me improve student attendance.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 44. My professional development experience has helped me make my students more confident as learners.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree
- 45. The programs or activities that I participated in have enabled me to bring students to higher levels of academic achievement.
  - i. Strongly disagree
  - ii. Disagree
  - iii. Don't know
  - iv. Agree
  - v. Strongly agree

# Appendix B

## **Interview Questions**

- 1. Were you familiar with all the methods and approaches to language teacher development before reading the questionnaire used for this study?
- 2. What do you do for your professional development?
- 3. How frequently do you take these methods and approaches?
- 4. Are you or your department/institution subscribed to any journals for teachers of English language?
- 5. How many issues of this/these journal(s) do you get in a year?
- 6. Have you attended any courses/workshops arranged by HEC (Higher Education Commission, Pakistan)?
- 7. Are you satisfied with the quality/standard of these courses/workshops?
- 8. Are you asked/contacted for your professional development needs?
- 9. Does HEC evaluate its professional development programs/activities to gain directions for improvement?
- 10. Are the results of these evaluations documented and distributed among the participants/institutions?
- 11. Do you also evaluate the individually-guided activities (e.g. self-monitoring, keeping a teaching journal/portfolio, etc.) that you take part in?
- 12. Do teachers in your department have equitable access to professional development opportunities?
- 13. Have you been able to improve your students' performance because of your professional development?
- 14. Is your consent/willingness sought while nominating you for professional development programs?
- 15. Are you given any incentives for taking the professional development methods and courses?
- 16. Does your department fund your professional development?

# Appendix C

### **Sample Interview Scripts**

#### Interview with JA

- I: We've got a couple of questions for a PhD study into the development, professional development practices of teachers. So, we have around sixteen questions and one or two might be added for clarification.
  - all, umm, we would like to ask you whether you were familiar with the various techniques and methodologies that are used for teacher development before reading the questionnaire?
- JA: 1ch, I mean we all know that there is something called professional development and we have [a] vague idea that there are different courses, mid-career courses and intraining... umm, in service... for in-service teachers and things like that... but to be very honest, I was not quite aware of these courses and these options for teachers.

I: ally minimal?

JA:

I: / minimal?

JA:

- I: , overall, however... umm, what do you normally do, yourself, to improve yourself and for your development?
- JA: ... I once wrote an article on reflective teaching... reflective teaching, reflective thinking... And since that, I have been conducting this practice that I teach... (Phone interruption)... The reflection on that teaching means that for example if I teach a subject in that semester, then by the end of that semester I take feedback from the students—anonymous feedback!—and then I reflect, uh, myself, on my teaching. And in the next semester, I try to introduce [a] slightly different technique and see whether there is any difference in performance or not. So this is, honest... personally speaking, this is my method, that which I use.
  - I: low frequently do you do that?
- JA: gularly, I mean, this is my practice which is semester based. So in one semester for example if I teach, umm, sociolinguistics and, in the next semester I would adopt some different technique in which I would change my previous technique or something like that. So I frequently, continuously I do that.
  - I: 1, since you talked about reflective teaching, if you don't mind, could you like tell us one or two ways in which you try to identify things in your methods. Like, do you ask from students or do you, like, record yourself or something?
- JA: I take anonymous feedback from them on a questionnaire, regarding the content and regarding the teaching method and their interest in the lecture and he material provided to them. And then I also ask them to write freely anything about me, whatever they feel like, that is, just candid opinion. And that is what they do, on their part... But then, my own method is also, my own method also counts... I would, sometimes I would change the textbook. For example, if the course outline has provided two [or] three core text[s], so I will not go by the same core text every

time, next time I will change the core text and I would see whether there is any difference or not. it think reflective means both reflective on the part of students as well as on my part.

I: 1, so, is your department or the institution subscribed to any journal or magazine related to teacher development and teaching techniques?

JA: epartment itself, but our library has subscribed to various ELT journals which are quite, you know, quite prestigious, like [English Teaching] Forum is [a] very famous journal for ELT, and there are [a] couple of other journals also... Whenever I visit [the] library, I do have a quick look on those journals, like for example, one is TESOL journal and another is Second Language Teaching. I think these are very established journals...

I: mm, how many issues come in an year normally?... overall, let's say, or individually if you want to focus on...

JA: ny issues of the journals?

I: ;) Journals...

JA: [uite sure, I don't know... but Forum might frequently [be] seen, even in my own office they send an honorary copy to me, in head's office, in dean's office. Other journals, I think some of them are quarterly, and maybe one or two is annual... something like that...

I: ally, whenever you just go to the library, you...

JA:

I: part from that, have you like attended any workshops or courses from HEC or any other institution?

JA: ite a few!

I: you're satisfied with them?

JA: . no! (smiles)

*I*: .. (laughs)

JA: fied...

I: fied... umm... and, umm... uh, so, do these institutions, or even your own institution, like, contact you or talk to you regarding your needs in developing yourself as a teacher?

JA: No!... These are nominations done randomly...

*I*:

JA: 'ou are free? Ok, you go! (laughs)

I: .. They just need someone?

JA: actly, because we have to send nominations. [At the] eleventh hour, they will just nominate somebody—"Ok, you can go!"

I: Il your plans and get out!

JA: solutely...

- I: imm, from your experience, do you think that HEC evaluates its programme and tries to improve it?
- JA: They do evaluate... but the second part of your question is doubtful, whether they improve or not. But they have... I mean, the system is very foolproof, I mean, feedback questionnaire[s] and all these things are in place! But I don't see any effect of those... Cuz some of those resource persons I gave very poor feedback, but to my surprise they were again in the next workshop. So I don't think so, that they are improving...
  - I: 1't suppose I'll have to ask the next one, but let's ask it anyways! Umm, when HEC does this evaluation, do they discuss the results with you or...
- JA: is, they just distribute the questionnaires, feedback questionnaires that they collect back...
  - I: en they vanish?
- JA: knows later on... I think that the participants should be told in some form that this was the cumulative feedback of your session. It is good for the participant as well as for the resource person.
  - I: mm, that would be, like, an institutional thing, right? So, do you have some individual or pair activities which you take part in?
- JA: ctured, I mean not systematic, but one thing that is very good here, that is peers, colleagues, we do discuss things on our own... We are not compelled by the institution, but we like that thing, intellectually, we are always you can say brainstorming and discussing things.
  - I: s nice!... So, do you think the teachers have equal access to development, you know, opportunities?
- JA: things are nominated by, sometimes by registrar, sometimes by director acad[emics], sometimes by head. So I doubt there is equal access... because they too have their own "criterion", and I don't want to... comment on that...
  - I: go to your experience through these activities so far... Do you feel that it has helped you improve the performance of students?
- JA: You are talking of workshops which we attended?
  - I: ike you went to workshops, and also the individual activities you did...
- JA: 1y individual activities, they had great impact, which I can feel... Umm, yes [a] couple of workshops were good, some of the sessions were good, but umm, I didn't get much from workshops, to be very honest...
  - I: 'hen you're... well, you've already pretty much answered it, but, basically when... the question is that when you are nominated for some sort of workshop, do they ask for your consent?... But, like you said...
- JA: nean, in certain cases they did ask, but in certain cases I was just nominated. So both the examples are there...
  - I: 1... so like, do they... like, does the department or the institution give you some sort of incentive for taking part in development activities, like, is there some benefit, or something?

- JA: benefit is that they will relieve me... "Ok, you can go and attend"... so if you call it benefit, it's the only benefit...
  - I: do they fund such activites?
- JA: )... not in my knowledge...
  - 1: that's pretty much it! (laughs)
- JA: .. it is almost same the case everywhere, as far as I know...
  - I: hank you!
- *JA*: e...

#### Interview with KS

- I: , we have a couple of questions for a PhD study into the Professional Development practices of English Language teachers. And we have in total sixteen questions, and one or two might be added if clarification is needed in any one of them...
  - 1, let's begin. The first question is that before reading the questionnaire, were you aware of the various professional development techniques that can be used by teachers?
- KS: :e I have been teaching in this university for ten year[s], so we do have different programmes which sometimes HEC or sometimes our university... it, you know, conducts. So I know that sometimes they... they conduct workshops and sometimes our own university, it... it asks different teachers over here who are the experienced ones that they should conduct some seminars or workshops for the new arrivals, for the teachers who have just joined us. So I have the knowledge about the conferences and workshops and the webinars that are very good for the development of a teacher.
  - I: mm, personally what do you usually do for your development as a teacher?
- KS: ther, I try that I should read some of the new research articles which are coming in my field. So I should be in contact with those articles, I should know what the people are doing, how they are doing it, and what we can do in Pakistan, for our Pakistani students... So I like to read books, ok? And research articles. And I also at least try that once in a six month[s], I should go and sit in [a] workshop and see what the people are talking about, the new developments which are coming in my field...

I: mm, how frequently do you engage with these?

KS: 1, I always try that at least once in six months...

I:

KS: s enough!

*I*:

KS: g the workshop, I mean to say, but, whenever I get time, I read research articles.

I: it's basically quite frequent and workshops are, like, every now and then?

KS:

- I: a department or the institution subscribed to any form of journal related to teaching and teacher development?
- KS: do have some journals... they quite often come to us... Umm, one of them is I think [English Teaching] Forum... And [the] university has given subscription to it and it comes to us. We also have two of the research journals in this university, one is Critical Inquiry and the other is Social Sciences. So whenever a new issue is coming, they do send a copy of these journals to us.

I: mm, how many issues per year, normally?

KS: y twice a year...

- I: have you attended any workshop or course by HEC or any other institution... umm, regarding teaching and development?
- KS: to three times I have... I have attended the workshops. One was about the Computer Assisted Language Learning, Ok? Then we also have a teacher, she is interested in this Computer Assisted Language Learning, and she quite often managed, organises, you know, such type of workshops. And recently, I think two months ago, I attended the workshop.
  - I: 'e you satisfied with these workshops?
- KS: . yes, sometimes. Sometimes I feel that the material that is being disseminated or shared with us is the same old material, but sometimes, some of the speakers, they do bring some novel ideas and novels things in the workshops.
  - I: do they contact you for your development needs or ask you about them, talk to you about them?
- KS: we have a system here, our HOD [Head of the Department], he nominates the people. So... sometimes when an office circular, it reaches us, so we contact the HOD and request him that my name, or anyone who is interested, his name or her name should be there.
  - I: , umm, from your, umm, experience, do you think HEC or the other institutions evaluate their workshop or, umm, their course?
- KS: have a form which they share with the participants at the end, and where they want that the participant[s], they should evaluate. So I have given always my, you know, opinion. Whenever something old was discussed or if there was a problem, I did point out those problems to them.
  - I: results of these evaluations, are they shared with the participants afterwards?
- KS: 1k... no...
  - I: nd, do you feel it's... that it's improving?
- KS: ry day, every day we are improving, no doubt...
  - I: courses? also? Or... are they comparatively less... active?
- KS: think here we need to be very agentive. Right now, we are not very much active, but change comes and it comes slowly!
  - I: umm, ok! So... apart from those institutional activities, do you also engage in individual or peer activities?
- KS: ive, by the grace of God Almighty, very good colleague[s], so we do share, and we believe in exploratory practice where we share our experiences with our colleagues and sometimes we do cooperate and try to produce research articles together. So I am working with my colleague, with one of my colleagues. So we do share.
  - I: oming back to your experience, do you think that teachers have equal access to development opportunities?
- KS: equal, but if you are not interested, then nobody can force you.
  - I: basically, it's fair?

KS: ir!

*I*: is your experience of personal development and professional development helped you improve student performance?

KS: retimes we do. We, when we learn something new, we try to share those things with our students.

I: 1d so, the students are benefitting as well?

KS:

I: so when you are nominated for any activity or a workshop or a course, is your consent taken?

KS:

*I*: and...

KS: es it is, sometimes it is not!

I: , umm, are incentives offered for it?

KS: ) incentives...

I: tere any funding for such activities?

KS:

I: , that's it basically. Umm, thank you very much!

KS: ou!

#### Interview with RI

- I: Ok, so these are a couple of Questions for a PhD research into professional development. There'll be primarily 16 questions, and there might be one or two additional questions if clarity is needed...
- RA: Ok.
  - *I*: Ok.
  - I: So the first is, were you familiar to all the methods and approaches to language teacher development before reading the questionnaire used for this study?
- RA: Uh, yes. Yes, I was well familiar with those methods and approaches, yeah.
  - I: So, umm... Where you just, like, only familiar, or also practically...
- RA: To some extent, yeah, but... means to say, uh... yes, I'm familiar with all the methods and approaches—if I'm to say or use the word "all"—but, yes... Practical applying, certainly. Some selective methods that we can apply over here...
  - I: Umm, so, what do you usually do for your professional development?
- RA: Usually, umm, it's the interaction with other faculty members at times and sitting with some senior faculty members and taking their insights on how do they teach in the language classroom. And also, since I've got some one-or-two different trainings from HEC—relevant exercises on, I mean, how to teach... language teaching exercises or workshops that I have, I mean, attended. So, a bit I am doing for my professional development, yes...
  - I: Ok, so, how frequently do you take on these methods, approaches, techniques, etcetera?
- RA: In the classroom?
  - I: ... Umm, ok, in the classroom, and then, let's say, in general as well.
- RA: Hmm, as it's, uh... certainly, when you know something, so you're very much conscious upon that approach that how to apply that one... But, we also cannot forget the environment, overall environment, of the university and classroom or what level I'm teaching and if I am teaching a literature or focusing on a language class. So, certainly, I am using specific methods, but this does not mean I am using all the methods, but with specific... umm, method[s] that I use that can suit them... So, this is what we decide with the help of senior faculty members...
  - I: So, basically, quite frequent?
- RA: Uh, yes!
  - *I*: Ok.
  - I: So, is the department sort of subscribed to journals related to teaching, and specifically language teaching techniques?
- RA: Umm, not really.

- I: Okay!
- RA: (Laughs) We get one journal that is English [Teaching] Forum... So that is, I mean printed... I guess... trice a month?... That's, I mean, not at all...
  - I: So then...
- RA: A big no...
  - I: (laughs) Then I guess I don't have to ask you how often you get the journal...
- RA: (laughs) Yeah... If they get a free copy then we get a copy, otherwise no...
  - I: So it depends on if it's free?
- RA: Yeah!
  - I: Ok... So, if let's say you do get a copy, how many copies would you normally get per year?
- RA: Quite surprising[ly], just sometimes one copy a year or at times just two copies... if they are readily available to the department, that's why we get that...
  - İ: Okay...
  - I: So, umm, have you attended any courses, workshops, activities arranged by... HEC?
- RA: Yes, I attended (unclear) masters training workshop, faculty development programme, so that was two months long. So yes, basically, I have attended those.
  - *I*: So, you're satisfied with them?
- RA: Not really... Certainly, there are always rooms for improvement and... cuz it was [a] general training programme for, I mean, meant for faculty belonging to different disciplines and different universities so that's why they made [it] just a bit more general...
  - I: Ok, so it wasn't specific to language...
- RA: (nodding) To language teaching, yes, it wasn't.
  - I: Are you, like, or does the department or other institutions, like, contact you are ask you about development... every once in a while, or...
- RA: A big no again...
  - I: Ok... (laughs)... So, in your experience, have you seen that HEC sort of gets advice or, sort of, evaluates its own activities, programmes of development, or asks your or others about how they could improve them, or something?
- RA: Umm, once they did, and I gave them feedback... cuz... it was actually a feedback, when I attended that faculty development programme, Master trainers faculty development programme... They gave us a questionnaire and I then gave them my feedback, but... I don't know it ended up where...

- *I*: Ok.
- RA: But once...
  - I: So you're saying you don't really know if it benefitted or not?
- RA: (Nods and Smiles)
  - I: Ok... So, I was actually gonna ask next whether the results of these feedbacks were all sort of summarised and distributed amongst you, but I guess I don't have to ask...
- RA: (Nods and Laughs)
  - I: Since you also do some individual activities regarding development, do you, sort of, perform some sort of self evaluation of those activities to see how you could do better next time?
- RA: Actually, it's really difficult as to, I mean, self-evaluating—yes, at times I can think over on the way I am teaching in the classroom. At times, yes, I take my, I mean, dismiss my lesson plan with some of my senior faculty members, with my colleagues, AND, to some extent, yes... "what is the success of my lesson today?" or lesson plan today? So, to some extent, yes, I'm going to say I go for self-evaluation, but, usually we go for, we have, specific objectives, and we try, I try my level best, to achieve those objectives.
  - I: Ok, this one's a bit related that... Umm, like, is there a trend of peer observation in the department?
- RA: (small pause) Not really...
  - *I*: Ok...
- RA: But... Not a trend, but yes, they have a sense of developing, but actually, I haven't seen, in the department, since I'm here.
  - I: Okay...
- RA: So... peer observation, yes, I mean, it must be a part... a very integral part for professional development, but, it is not...
  - I: Okay... So, uh... So do you think, based on your time in the department, that the teachers have good access to professional development activities?
- RA: A big no again, with CAPS ON this time...
  - I: Okay (laughs)
- RA: (laughs)
  - I: Okay, so it's like, it's just what you do?
- RA: Yeas! It means, no teacher training programmes organised by the department, no discussion of what—means—what sort of feedback we are going to get from the students' side—means students' evaluation of the teacher, of the teacher's way of teaching. So if they're not being discussed, how can there be a professional development programme?

- I: So, like, it's not even being discussed in, like, faculty meetings?
- RA: Yes!
  - I: Okay...
- RA: I mean, it's within inverted commas, "secret and confidential"!
  - I: Okay...
- RA: So, umm, confidential to such an extent that even the teacher whose evaluation is going on cannot access that! So that's really, I mean, quite surprising.
  - I: Alright, so... Ok, so, whatever professional development activities you have done, or if in any case some institution like the HEC or the department has provided some benefit, do you feel that it has helped you improve the performance of students—their attendance, their performance, their overall performance, etcetera?
- RA: Yes... yes!
  - *I*: Ok...
- RA: Cuz, I think, whenever you are there in, I mean, a faculty development programme or any sort of training that you are in, certainly you get something... And if you get a chance to implement in the classroom—and yes, here in this department, I get a lot of chance to implement what I learn, what I acquire from different... umm...
  - I: The department doesn't mind you trying new things...
- RA: Yes, experimentation is still going on...
  - I: Alright... even though development though is not actively there...
- RA: Yeah... (laughs)
  - I: So we have one part of it!
- RA: Yeah...
  - I: Ok... So, umm, let's say when HEC or, even if sometimes, the department does do a little bit, or if for example your colleagues discuss it or your seniors ask about it—so whenever such things are discussed regarding professional development, if and when they are, is your consent involved in, for example, nominating your for some activity, or something?
- RA: Sorry?
  - I: Like, for a programme, if your name is nominated for, like, "you should go there." Is your consent taken?
- RA: At times, but uh... they've been forced upon us...
  - I: Alright... So it's like you're just thrown in...

- RA: Yes, cuz, means, if we have to go to, means, a conference or a workshop, so just a day before we are informed that you have, you HAVE to attend...
  - I: "Get over there, or else!"
- RA: Yes, and it's mandatory...
  - I: Okay...
- RA: Cuz I attended one of the workshops over here organised by IPD... whole of campus... So I was just informed that you have to attend this before a week, and I just, then I went "Ok"... So, I was there! Though it was not, it was highly irrelevant...
  - *I*: Ah, so...
- RA: That's really, umm, surprising...
  - I: So it's like, just a workshop and you gotta be there! Doesn't matter whatever it is...
- RA: Yeah! Just to get the books and get the certificate and...
  - I: Any incentives, or anything?
- RA: No, umm... the lunch!
  - I: The lunch? Ok, so... it's only, the benefit of the lunch?
- RA: Yes!
  - I: Alright... So, let's say you're opting for some development activities and umm, so on... Does the department, sort of, fund for it, or give some sort of, like... "we'll cover the expenses, you do the thing"?
- RA: No... A big not again with CAPS ON again...
  - I: Alright... So it's all on your own...
- RA: On your own, I mean, if you want to professionally groom yourselves, it means you're on your own... That's why, I mean, I try my best to take some trainings online, just like mock tests, and one of the programmes I attended, organised by American Embassy, so that was for e-teachers, business teachers' English course... So that I applied, I got selected for that programme, so then I got the certificate for that...
  - I: So it's a lot of online work...
- RA: Yeah!
  - I: Alright... Otherwise, it's just a dog-eat-dog world...
- RA: Yes (laughs)
  - I: (laughs) So, I think that covers everything... So, thank you very much, sir!
- RA: Thank you!

#### Interview with RM

- I: So we have a couple of Questions for a PhD thesis, and, umm, the interview will primarily be 16 questions, but, you know, one or two might be added for clarification.
- RM: Ok.
  - I: Ok, so, umm, let's start. The first one is that before seeing the questionnaire, were you familiar with all the techniques and methods, the various techniques and methods of professional development mentioned there?
- RM: Umm, no, I was not aware of all those things...
  - I: Ok, umm, some of them?
- RM: Maybe some of them, yes...
  - I: Ok. Umm, so, normally, what do you do for your professional development?
- RM: Normally, I work, and wait for the development...
  - I: Ok, umm, just like... nothing, like, planned or specific?
- RM: نئين, planned I can do in the classroom, but other plan[s] in our society don't work, like me, who only sits on his chair and does not leave it, like a throne, ن, there is issue for development... I mean, if we are talking about financial development or promotion, ن, people like us, like me, never attain that higher pedestal. If you meant that by development.
  - I: So, regarding teaching practices and developing your skills. So, do you have anything specific that you normally do for that?
- RM: אָלט, I try to read, and then I try to talk to a very few good people, then I use it practically in the class.
  - I: So, like, is "very few" like emphasised or is it...
- RM: It is more that emphasised.
  - I: Ok, so very few...
- RM: (nodding) Very few.
  - I: So, umm, the development techniques for upgrading your skills, how often do you engage with them?
- RM: It depends. If, for example, if some new course is given, is assigned to me in any semester, sof course I try to read it, discuss with, again, those few people, and try to get material, so that my knowledge or my communication to the class becomes better, instead of telling them to bring the material or come with practice, etcetera. I do it myself...
  - I: Ok, so regarding that, like... Is the department, like, subscribed to some journals or are you subscribed to some journals regarding teacher training or teaching skills, etcetera?
- RM: Ah, I have subscribed to [English Teaching] Forum.
  - I: Ok... But, like, what about, as... What about the department? Is the department also subscribed or is it, like, an individual thing?

- RM: بان نئين, department is also subscribed, but at times that copy of [English Teaching]

  Forum does not reach us, we prefer to have direct link with them, otherwise department has been subscribing it for so many years now... Even when we were not in this campus!
  - I: If, like you said, sometimes you don't get it, so this is why you prefer to do it yourself... Umm, does the department inquire why is it not there or is it just...?
- RM: نئيں نئيں, actually the people who are at the helm of affairs, they give it hell to ask personally everybody whether he has got his copy or not, so it is better... Because, in the beginning I said I keep my throne, المواقق don't mix up with people for some reasons, personal and otherwise, so therefore, I thought it better to get a copy...
  - I: So it would just, that would basically mean that we should stay away from those reasons...
- RM: باں, of course...
  - I: Ok, so... how many issues do you get in an year?
- RM: Umm, four, normally four.
  - I: Normally four... Ok... And, umm, have you, like, gone to any workshop, or something, from HEC or some other...
- RM: Yes, yes, I have.
  - I: Ok, so are you satisfied with them?
- RM: With the workshops? Yes, of course, they try... because at a workshop, there are people, at times they are from different fields, not from same, English Language and Literature... They are from administration, and they are even from outside the university! So the HEC people have to cater to everybody's needs. For course, I am satisfied.
  - I: Ok, so umm, related to that, like... do you get nominated or contacted, or something, for workshops and things on development?
- RM: Yes, at times...
  - I: At sometime, just, like, by yourself?
- RM: Sometimes, I'm not contacted.
  - *I*: Ok.
- RM: I mean, some other people because we have many people in the department, Fmany people go...
  - I: Umhmm... So does HEC try to evaluate its programmes, so like, let's say they did a workshop, so do they try to evaluate it, get feedback or something?
- RM: Yes, actually... I have attended three four workshops, and every time there is their own representative present there, from HEC... Some officer, يعنى who is also related to [the] academic wing of HEC, if found he or she, two times she, if they are always there themselves to evaluate or to see how things are going, and sometimes they participate themselves, have a lecture, or , you know, a question-answer session with the participants, so they are there.

- I: Ok, so do they, like, just evaluate it, or do they also take feedback for that evaluation?
- RM: بالى, they take feedback, especially in the last... the last workshop I attended was HEC sponsored at our old campus... regarding [the] development of the teachers and their capability as administrator, so therefore other administration people were also there, even from outside the university... Umm, is director, a level of director, I remember, his name was Jameel something... So he was there and it was a full week workshop. So in the end, [on] the last day, he was there and he asked himself about our feedback, is some of the representatives we had chosen, including myself, so we gave our feedback, so... And then he tried to sort out from the organiser's why this was not done or why... But with the contents, everybody was happy... everybody was satisfied...
  - I: Ok, so let's say they have evaluated something or done a workshop, like do they distribute the results of these evaluations among participants or does is stay with them?
- RM: بان, they distribute on email, they upload on their email...
  - *I*: Ok, so is it...
- RM: Or, sorry, or maybe if there is some remedial measure, so they suggest that these are the options you can tell us which way we can improve ourselves.
  - I: So, like, even then they are contacting you...
- RM: باں, yes, they are. One of them is still in contact with me.
  - I: Ok.
- RM: يعنى we have some mail exchange.
  - 1: Ok, so, that was [at] an institutional level. Let's say, we come to an individual thing, so, things like, you know, keeping journals, etcetera... As far as they are concerned, do you, like, try to evaluate those of your activities as well?
- RM: كر ,the best thing is the students themselves. They give their feedback الجها, we are judged, as we are judging [them] so we are also judged by them. And it is, umm, communicated to us. we learn from them... Of course, sometime there is a hassle, there is a problem of communication or maybe the level of our students is not same for everybody, they come from so many parts of Pakistan or even abroad, especially in language class also. Umm, so at times it becomes difficult that everybody understands at the same level, somebody gets maybe a hundred percent, others get fifty percent, very few even get ten percent of whatever we are communicating, so of course they have problems. And if they suggest that this should be done like this, maybe some of them for example say sthe thing that the teacher is communicating only in English or Literature and giving examples from Literature so he can use some other language which we can understand, jat times they also give suggestions we try to incorporate some of the things that we can in the classroom. Otherwise, there are sessions [in which] individual students come and we have time for consultancy hours, so they come and then they understand in their own language.
  - I: So, using all of this, you try to basically also evaluate your own classroom practices?
- RM: باں, of course, at times I do.

I: Ok, so... I mean, you've spent quite a lot of time inside the department, so... Umm, do you feel all the teachers have an equal opportunity for professional development, for honing their skills, and going to different workshops, etcetera?

RM: ... (Laughing) Is this being recorded?

I: ... (Also laughing) Yup!

RM: ... And, should I comment?

*I*: ... Umm...

RM: Honestly? (Laughs again) Or talk indirectly? ... Umm, I am here since 1997. Before that, I was at Bahria College. Umm, so I have observed so many things! And if you remember, I have told you a few minutes ago that I prefer to sit "on my throne" and very seldom go out for some very serious business, otherwise I just sit here... such people get less chance... because we have to be present all the time at somebody's office and, you know, try to tell him things which he never possesses and which not even his family possesses, and umm, that we can't do, so therefore... I think I've answered... (Smiles)

I: Ok (laughs) ... so let's leave it there...

(Nods) Less said the better... for me!

Ok, umm... So, umm, doing all of these, you know, doing all these things for development and for honing skills, etcetera, do you think the performance of students has improved?

RM: Umm, I think. (nods) Umm, because we have opportunity to teach in other faculties as well, language... umm, levels, according to the levels 1, 2, and 3... Uh, so there, from time to time, I keep on changing their recommended book... which everybody could understand or if there is something new on the net so I try to search for it... So I think with this and with involving the students to participate in the form of presentations or, you know, quiz sessions at times we have... every month, we have two such sessions... when I listen to them or when I give them topics and they prepare and then come and deliver, if think they are doing better... I am delivering and then they are doing better, if this shows that I'm... ok!

*I*: Ok...

RM: Maybe not to a hundred percent, but at least fifty to... umm, fifty-six percent it is improved.

I: So basically things are getting better?

RM: Umm, yeah!

I: Ok, so let's say that the department or some institution calls you for or nominates your for a workshop or some sort of activity regarding professional development, is usually, in such cases, your consent taken, or do they just, like, say, go and do it?

M. Umph, again, difficult question... (laughs)... it depends that who is organising that workshop or where it is. If it is in the country or in some smaller village, ithen people would take consent, umm... it depends! On where, and who is organising... if GC is organising, or NUML, ithen some other people would always go... even against their consent, they would go...

I: I see, so it... depends...

RM: باں ہاں, depends...

I\* So let's say, umm, that there are some development activities which the department expects you to... go for... do they, like, give incentives for going on development activities or...

RM: (Slowly shakes his head)

*I*: ... no incentives?

RM: ... No! There is no such incentive... بال , if it is organised by HEC, so HEC people give certain incentives... Umm, but there is no incentive on part of the department... for all and sundry, there is no, but for a few, of course there are always, everywhere... there is an incentive or a package of incentives...

I: بَو, in other words, normally, it's, like, your own choice?

RM: Yes!

I: Ok... Like, does the department fund such activities?

RM: Umm, fund means here on the campus or somewhere else?

I: Like, uh... let's say on the campus as well as when they would like you to go for some workshop or something somewhere else... Do they, like, also provide funds for it, or do they just tell you to do it, and that's it?

RM: اجها, it depends... For example, if, umm, I am [a] resource person, iof course they would fund... but at the end of the year... at the end of your two three years... Otherwise if you are only going to participate, other people are resource persons and you are only participant, ithen there is no incentive, no departmental help... Only that we have to go!

I: Ok, so they, like, only fund if you are the resource person?

RM: Yes... and [even] then, it is also not fully...

I: Ok... Partially...

RM: Yes, partially funded... resource personality... (laughs)

I: Ahan! (also laughs)... Ok, so... thank-you sir... that's... umm, all of it!

RM: Thank-you so much... but I would like to delete some of the portions... because... they are so sensitive... (laughs)

I: Ok... (laughs)

RM: Ok, thank-you...